# COMMISSION FOR THE CONSERVATION OF ANTARCTIC MARINE LIVING RESOURCES

# REPORT OF THE THIRTY-NINTH MEETING OF THE COMMISSION

VIRTUAL MEETING 27 – 30 OCTOBER 2020

CCAMLR PO Box 213 North Hobart 7002 Tasmania AUSTRALIA

Telephone: 61 3 6210 1111
Facsimile: 61 3 6224 8744
Email: ccamlr@ccamlr.org
Website: www.ccamlr.org

Chair of the Commission November 2020

This document is produced in the official languages of the Commission: English, French, Russian and Spanish.

#### **Abstract**

This document is the adopted record of the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources held online, from 27 to 30 October 2020. Major topics discussed at this meeting included: the Report of the Thirty-ninth meeting of CCAMLR's Scientific Committee; illegal, unreported and unregulated fishing in the Convention Area; compliance with conservation measures in force; the management of toothfish, icefish and krill fisheries; fisheries research proposals; the impact fishing activities on non-target species; budget and administrative matters; implementation of the objectives of the Convention; spatial management; climate change; and cooperation with other international organisations, including within the Antarctic Treaty System.

# Contents

Opening of meeting
Organisation of meeting
Adoption of agenda
Status of the Convention
Implementation and compliance
Illegal, unreported and unregulated (IUU) fishing in the Convention Area
Administration and Finance
Report from the informal virtual meeting of SCAF
Report of the Secretariat – Executive Secretary's Report
Capacity building
Review of the 2020 budget, 2021 budget and forecast budget for 2022
Management of marine resources
Advice from the Scientific Committee
Harvested species
Notifications
Scientific research under CM 24-01
Exploratory fisheries
Krill resources
Fish resources
Icefish
Non-target species
Fish and invertebrates
Seabirds and marine mammals
Bottom fishing and vulnerable marine ecosystems
Conservation measures
Review of existing measures
Measures on general fishery matters
Measures on fishery regulation
Toothfish catch limits
Icefish catch limits
Impacts of COVID-19 on the 2020/21 fishing season.
Other fishery matters
Administrative matters
Election of officers
Appointment of the Executive Secretary
Invitation of observers
Next meeting

	ness	28
	entation of objectives of the Convention	28
	nanagement	35
Gener	ral issues related to spatial management	37
Revie	w of proposals for new MPAs	39
Impacts	of climate change on the conservation of Antarctic	
marine	living resources	45
Coopera	on with the Antarctic Treaty System and international organisations tion with the Antarctic Treaty System	50 50
Coopera	tion with international organisations	50
Report of t	he Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission	51
Close of the	e meeting	51
Table		52
Annex 1:	List of Registered Participants	53
Annex 2:	List of Documents	89
Annex 3:	Agenda	95
Annex 4:	Guidelines for the Administration of the General Capacity Building Fund	99
Annex 5:	Updated 2020, 2021 and 2022 Budgets	125
Annex 6:	Revised budget for the year ended 31 December 2020, draft budget for year ending 31 December 2021 and forward estimate for year ending 31 December 2022 – Equity and Special Funds	129
Annex 7:	Members' Contributions 2020, 2021, 2022	135

# **Report of the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission**

(Virtual meeting, 27 to 30 October 2020)

#### **Opening of meeting**

- 1.1 The Thirty-ninth Annual Meeting of the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources (CCAMLR-39) met online from 27 to 30 October 2020. It was chaired by Mr F. Curcio Ruigómez (Spain) who welcomed all participants to the meeting.
- 1.2 The following Members of the Commission were represented: Argentina, Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Chile, People's Republic of China (China), European Union (EU), France, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Republic of Korea (Korea), the Kingdom of the Netherlands (Netherlands), New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Russian Federation (Russia), South Africa, Spain, Sweden, Ukraine, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (UK), United States of America (USA) and Uruguay.
- 1.3 Other Contracting Parties were invited to attend the meeting as Observers. Finland, Mauritius and Peru attended.
- 1.4 In accordance with the Commission's decisions (CCAMLR-38, paragraphs 13.5 to 13.8) and responses received from Members in reply to COMM CIRC 20/81, the following non-Contracting Parties (NCPs) were invited to attend CCAMLR-39 as Observers: The Republic of Angola (Angola), Antigua and Barbuda, Bahamas, Bolivia, Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Cape Verde, Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Republic of Ecuador (Ecuador), Gambia, Indonesia, Islamic Republic of Iran, Lebanon, Luxembourg, Malaysia, Republic of the Maldives, Mexico, Myanmar, Nigeria, Philippines, Singapore, St Kitts and Nevis, St Vincent and the Grenadines, Tanzania, Thailand, Togo, Trinidad and Tobago, Turkey, United Arab Emirates and Viet Nam. Luxembourg, Ecuador, Singapore, Thailand and Trinidad and Tobago attended.
- 1.5 The following were invited as Observers: The Agreement on the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP), the Association of Responsible Krill harvesting companies (ARK), the Antarctic and Southern Ocean Coalition (ASOC), the Antarctic Treaty Secretariat, the Commission for the Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna (CCSBT), the Committee for Environmental Protection (CEP), the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES), the Coalition of Legal Toothfish Operators (COLTO), the Council of Managers of National Antarctic Programs (COMNAP), the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), the International Association of Antarctica Tour Operators (IAATO), the Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission (IATTC), the International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT), INTERPOL, the Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission (IOC), the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN), the International Whaling Commission (IWC), Oceanites Inc., the Secretariat of the Regional Plan of Action to Promote Responsible Fishing Practices Including Combating IUU Fishing in South East Asia (RPOA-IUU), the Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research (SCAR), the Scientific Committee on Oceanic Research (SCOR), the South East Atlantic Fisheries Organisation (SEAFO), the Southern Indian Ocean Fisheries Agreement (SIOFA), Southern Ocean Observing System (SOOS), the South Pacific Regional Fisheries Management Organisation (SPRFMO), the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP) and the Western and Central

Pacific Fisheries Commission(WCPFC). ACAP, ARK, ASOC, the Antarctic Treaty Secretariat, CCSBT CEP, COLTO, IAATO, INTERPOL, IUCN, Oceanites Inc., SCAR and SIOFA were represented. COMNAP and FAO sent apologies.

- 1.6 The List of Participants is given in Annex 1. The List of Documents presented to the meeting is given in Annex 2.
- 1.7 The Commission noted that Brazil was more than two years in arrears in respect of its budgetary contributions to the organisation. While Brazil was welcome to participate in discussions at CCAMLR-39, the Commission agreed it would not be entitled to block a consensus decision of other Members.

#### **Organisation of meeting**

# Adoption of agenda

- 2.1 The Commission noted that it had decided to hold CCAMLR-39 as a formal virtual meeting through a decision under Rule 7 of the Commission's Rules of Procedure (COMM CIRCs 20/104 and 20/143). The Commission noted that the Standing Committee on Implementation and Compliance (SCIC) and the Standing Committee on Administration and Finance (SCAF) had informal virtual meetings and did not adopt a report, however, the Chair (SCIC) and Acting Chair (SCAF) presented a summary of the e-group discussions to the Commission for consideration.
- 2.2 The agenda for the meeting was adopted (Annex 3).

# Status of the Convention

- 2.3 Australia, as the Depositary State, reported that on 7 May 2020, the People's Republic of China (PRC) effected the following declaration in relation to the Convention on the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resource (CCAMLR): In accordance with the Basic Law of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC, the Government of the PRC decides that the Convention will apply to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC from 1 July 2020. The Government of Australia, in its capacity as the depository for CCAMLR, communicated this declaration to all contracting parties under a depository notification dated 13 May 2020.
- 2.4 China informed the Commission that the relevant legislation of Hong Kong SAR, the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources Ordinance (Chapter 635) and its subsidiary regulations for implementation, also came into effect on 1 July 2020. The measures taken include, inter alia, control of the import/export or re-export of toothfish, and regulation of the entry of fishing vessels carrying Antarctic marine living resources into Hong Kong SAR.
- 2.5 The Commission remembered Professor Denzil Miller who died on 30 November 2019. Professor Miller played a central role in Antarctic affairs for over forty years made major contributions to CCAMLR as Convener of WG-Krill, representing South Africa at both the Scientific Committee and Commission, as Chair of the Scientific Committee and as Executive Secretary from 2002 to 2010.

2.6 The Chair introduced his proposal for the conduct of the formal virtual meeting, including arrangements for report preparation and adoption. The Commission noted that in the meeting's virtual format closed captions are provided to facilitate engagement in the meeting and do not represent the official record of the meeting.

#### Implementation and compliance

3.1 The Chair of SCIC, Ms J. Kim (Korea), provided a SCIC Chair's Summary Report of the informal virtual SCIC meeting (CCAMLR-39/BG/15 Rev. 1). Due to temporary technical difficulty that the Chair of SCIC had, the report was presented to the Commission by the Vice-Chair of SCIC, Ms M. Engelke-Ros (USA), who thanked Members for their constructive and cooperative engagement that made it possible for SCIC to have productive discussions through the informal e-group process.

Illegal, unreported and unregulated (IUU) fishing in the Convention Area

- 3.2 The Commission noted there had been no additions to the NCP-IUU Vessel List and agreed that the existing NCP-IUU Vessel List would be adopted for 2020/21.
- 3.3 The Commission noted the recommendation from Panama to include the Panamanian-flagged vessel *Nika* on the CP-IUU Vessel List on the basis that the *Nika* had fished without a licence in Subarea 48.3. The Commission thanked Panama for its actions in relation to this vessel, and other Members and organisations who had contributed information and supported the detaining of the vessel. The Commission agreed on the inclusion of the *Nika* on the CP-IUU Vessel List for 2020/21.
- 3.4 The Commission noted the recommendation from New Zealand to include the Russian-flagged vessel *Palmer* on the CP-IUU Vessel List and recalled the information circulated to Members in COMM CIRCs 20/47, 20/76, 20/130, 20/135 and 20/149 and in CCAMLR-39/11 Rev. 1.
- 3.5 Information provided by New Zealand in these documents included that a New Zealand aerial patrol on 19 January 2020 identified the *Palmer* in Subarea 88.1 in a closed fishery, nearly 800 n miles from where its vessel monitoring system (VMS) data reported it to be, on a productive fishing feature, with an ice cage deployed, travelling at slow speed.
- 3.6 New Zealand recalled its conclusion that the *Palmer* falsified its VMS data and its entry and exit notifications so that it could fish in Subarea 88.1 (Ross Sea region north of 70°S) which was closed to fishing. New Zealand stated that the situation was extremely clear, compelling and concerning, and set out its expectation that the *Palmer* would be included on the CP-IUU Vessel List accordingly. New Zealand expressed its readiness to continue to support Russia in its investigation and taking action against the *Palmer* and expressed its concern that Russia had not attended to its obligations to provide further information to support the issue to be resolved.
- 3.7 New Zealand reiterated that: it conducts aerial surveillance in the CAMLR Convention Area in accordance with CCAMLR's rules and procedures; images taken during patrols have metadata automatically embedded to the file, which confirm the time and position of the

*Palmer*. It noted that full-resolution images have been provided to Russia via the Secretariat. In response to Russia's statement that the *Palmer* left the Convention Area after receiving information from New Zealand on 4 February 2020, New Zealand noted that the *Palmer* notified its exit from Subarea 88.2 on 23 January 2020, and publicly available information shows that the *Palmer* was in Fiji on 5 February 2020.

- 3.8 On the issue of the proposed listing of the *Palmer* on the CP-IUU Vessel List, the USA viewed the illegal activities during the 2019/20 season as egregious and noted that they appear to be part of a pattern of illegal activity by this vessel. The USA also noted that the response of Russia appears a part of a pattern of not taking such reports seriously, not conducting full investigations, not granting SCIC and the Commission access to relevant data to support compliance evaluation, and not holding its vessels, including the *Palmer*, accountable for illegal activity.
- 3.9 The USA stated that it found that Russia's response in respect to the 2017/18 pre-season activities did not adequately address the request of SCIC in 2019 (SCIC-2019, paragraph 119) and additional information was still needed to resolve the question involving the Russian vessels, including the *Palmer*, that were in the area. Given the outstanding questions related to the *Palmer*'s compliance with several conservation measures over multiple seasons, the USA believed the *Palmer* should not participate in CCAMLR fisheries during the coming season.
- 3.10 The EU noted that although Russia had taken some action by calling the vessel to port and inspecting the VMS equipment, it had not shared all the information requested repeatedly by Members, in particular VMS data. Under these circumstances, the EU supported the inclusion of the *Palmer* on the CP-IUU Vessel List.
- 3.11 Many Members urged Russia to share further information in relation to the activities of the *Palmer* in January 2020, including verifiable VMS data, C2 catch and effort data and observer report data.
- Russia stated that in accordance with paragraph 7 of Conservation Measure (CM) 10-06, comments were submitted by Russia to the Secretariat on 16 June 2020 (COMM CIRC 20/76), including verifiable VMS data of the vessel at the time of the so-called patrol of the New Zealand aircraft on 19 January 2020. Russia's conclusions were confirmed, among other things, by reports of scientific observers, which is also indicated in COMM CIRC 20/76. The inspection of the vessel in Busan Port during the investigation did not reveal any evidence of non-compliance with CM 10-04. Russia raised a number of issues in the information provided to them from New Zealand, requesting further clarification on photographic metadata and use of aerial surveillance photography equipment. In particular, Russia emphasised that it found in the history of operations with metadata of photographs submitted by New Zealand, traces of changes made on 20 January 2020, the duration and nature of which does not allow to attribute them to the automatic transfer of the file from a camera to a computer, which is detailed in COMM CIRC 20/135. Russia expressed concern that this example of aerial patrolling does not correlate with the principles laid down in the CCAMLR System of Inspection, and the assessment statements about the presence of evidence of fishing in the report based on the results of the 19 January 2020 overflights directly contradict the definition of fishing activity in paragraph X of the Text of the CCAMLR System of Inspection.
- 3.13 The UK expressed disappointment at how this matter had been addressed by Russia and recalled the duty of CCAMLR Members to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Convention. The UK noted that Russia had not provided to the Commission the information

required under CM 10-06, paragraph 7, and that instead, Russia's response to the information presented by New Zealand had been to question the validity of the New Zealand patrol and to accuse New Zealand of falsifying evidence. The UK agreed with the comments expressed by other Members that such behaviour undermined the spirit of cooperation under the Antarctic Treaty System (ATS). The UK recalled a similar case in 2006 where Russia had also blocked the IUU listing of one of its vessels, and also noted that Russia was the only Flag State to decline to release VMS data, also in relation to the *Palmer*, in relation to the investigation of pre-season gear setting in 2018.

- 3.14 China expressed appreciation to New Zealand in combating IUU activities in the Convention Area and noted the disagreement over the *Palmer* highlighted the lack of CCAMLR rules and procedures on air surveillance. Although CM 10-04 makes reference to 'active surveillance operations' in paragraphs 17(i) and (ii), no specific provisions in CM 10-04 prescribe how such active surveillance operations shall be carried out. By contrast, paragraphs 17(i) and (ii) also make reference to inspections which China understands refers to inspections at sea and port inspections. CCAMLR has in place CM 10-03 for port inspections and the CCAMLR System of Inspection for inspection at sea. Had CCAMLR had such a system for active surveillance operations, it would provide some guidance for this issue. In addition, China recalled the CCAMLR discussion on automatic identification system (AIS) information in 2016 by reference to CCAMLR-XXXV/01, which specified the limitations of the AIS system.
- 3.15 Other Members considered that the System of Inspection was robust and Argentina and the EU encouraged Members that considered existing procedures needing improvement to bring forward proposals or refinements. The EU further noted that the aerial surveillance activities carried out by Members in the Convention Area were fully in accordance with CCAMLR's rules and procedures.
- 3.16 Australia supported the statements of other Members and noted its strong belief that the CCAMLR System of Inspection is robust, providing a strong framework for assisting the Commission in its work to achieve the objective of the Convention.
- 3.17 ASOC thanked New Zealand for conducting an inspection that provided information to the Commission and supported the request of Members for the release of further information. Based on the information available, ASOC supported the inclusion of the *Palmer* on the CP-IUU Vessel List.
- 3.18 COLTO strongly supported the listing of the *Palmer* on the CP-IUU Vessel List and offered its expertise to the Commission on matters such as ice and weather conditions in the area of the position of the *Palmer* as reported by Russia, or its tracks. COLTO added that its members could be quickly approached to ascertain where visual or radio sightings were made if the Secretariat released a list of authorised vessels within 30 n miles of the *Palmer*'s tracks south of 70°S.
- 3.19 The Commission did not reach consensus on including the *Palmer* on the CP-IUU Vessel List in 2020.
- 3.20 Spain recalled a report from Australia on an inspection of the IUU-listed vessel *Cobija* (CCAMLR-39/BG/15 Rev. 1) noting that the crew of the *Cobija* included nationals from Spain. Australia and Spain agreed to work bilaterally in the intersessional period in respect of the involvement of Spanish nationals on the *Cobija*.

3.21 The Commission adopted the CP-IUU Vessel List for 2020/21 with the inclusion of the fishing vessel *Nika*.

### **CCAMLR Compliance Report**

- 3.22 The Commission considered the work of the e-group in resolving the compliance status for many of the issues in the Summary Compliance Report (CCAMLR-39/10 Rev. 2) and noted an updated table provided as Appendix 1 of the SCIC Chair's summary report (CCAMLR-39/BG/15 Rev. 1).
- 3.23 Of the 45 potential compliance incidents in the Summary Compliance Report (CCAMLR 39/10 Rev. 2), the Commission noted that there was no disagreement raised by e-group participants regarding the final compliance status for some of the incidents. In the remaining incidents, agreement was not reached amongst the SCIC e-group participants and no final compliance status could be assigned for those incidents.
- 3.24 Some Members noted that the use of the category of 'Multiple Contracting Parties' which was utilised in the Summary Compliance Report made it difficult to assess the implementation of conservation measures by Contracting Parties and requested that future compliance reports include details for each identified compliance issue individually.
- 3.25 Considering five issues in relation to CM 10-02, China highlighted the importance of compliance with the conservation measure. China is of the view that CM 10-02 provides for the general requirements for fishing in the Convention Area and is the basis for other conservation measures, for instance CM 10-06.
- 3.26 China noted that a large number of minor incidents in a single season involving many vessels suggest that some improvements need to be made to the newly revised CM 10-09. China suggested that when amending a conservation measure, more consideration should be paid to the potential consequences of those changes on implementation of the conservation measure. Recognising these factors, China recommended that CM 10-09 be reviewed in the future.
- 3.27 With regard to the Scientific Committee advice sought by SCIC, China noted that stock assessment and catch limit estimation rely strongly on adequate and proper tagging and subsequent recapture. In the krill fishery, apart from collecting the scientific data required by relevant conservation measures, several krill fishing vessels are also collecting extra scientific data, including acoustic surveys at various spatial scales, to support the conservation of the krill-centric ecosystem and the management of krill fishery. While several of the toothfish fishing vessels are still not able to achieve the requirement of essential scientific data collection, this may seriously undermine the scientific capability of CCAMLR, and therefore the low tagging rate incident is a serious issue that needs to be dealt with in a serious manner.
- 3.28 The Commission considered the implementation of CM 41-08 by Australia in regard to fishing activities conducted by the vessels *Corinthian Bay* and *Isla Eden*. The Commission noted that fishing operations were undertaken by both vessels with one international observer instead of two observers as required by CM 41-08. Several Members acknowledged that Australia took responsibility for the situation and accepted a Level 3 compliance status.

- 3.29 Some Members raised concerns related to the international trade of toothfish from these two vessels. These Members expressed concern that the catches of both vessels were exported contrary to CM 10-05 as those Catch Documentation Scheme for *Dissostichus* spp. (CDS) documents should not have been issued.
- 3.30 The USA requested information from China and Japan on the disposition of the toothfish product, noting that there was insufficient time in the e-group to discuss this issue. The USA raised CM 10-05, paragraph 13, which prohibits the importation of toothfish following a determination the fish were not harvested in a manner consistent with CCAMLR conservation measures, in respect of the countries that received the fish and their decisions to take the imports, given the notice that Australia provided in COMM CIRC 20/35. The USA also asked the Secretariat to provide additional relevant trade information.
- 3.31 The EU supported the USA and requested the Secretariat to notify CDS users of the status of this toothfish product to avoid importation or re-exportation.
- 3.32 Russia stated that in the case of vessels flying the Australian flag, the *Isla Eden* and *Corinthian Bay*, there is in fact an intentional violation of CMs 10-05 and 41-08. Russia noted that such activities fall within the definition of IUU fishing set out in paragraph 5 of CM 10-06, namely, engaging in fishing activities contrary to any other conservation measures in a manner that undermines the attainment of the objectives of the Convention according to Article XXII of the Convention. Russia also noted that alternative mechanisms existed to avoid violating conservation measures, including the CCAMLR procedure for intersessional decision-making. In this regard, Russia invited the Commission to consider the possibility of adding these vessels to the CP-IUU Vessel List in accordance with CM 10-06.
- 3.33 Several Members acknowledged the serious nature of these incidents but disagreed that the actions should be considered IUU fishing under CM 10-06 given that the vessels acted within their license conditions, that the incidents were self-reported by Australia via COMM CIRC 20/35, and that Australia had put protocols in place to avoid future non-compliance. The EU noted that all instances of non-compliance with conservation measures were inconsistent with the CAMLR Convention but that not all such instances constituted IUU fishing.
- 3.34 China noted that if the activities by the *Isla Eden* were considered legal, then the CDS should be considered valid and there will be no basis for prohibiting the country importing the catch of the *Isla Eden* from re-exporting; otherwise, the Commission has to make a finding that the CDS is invalid or the fishing was conducted inconsistent with CCAMLR conservation measures in accordance with CM 10-05.
- 3.35 Australia thanked Members for their constructive engagement on the issue and explained that the decision for the two vessels to proceed with fishing with one observer, rather than the two required under CM 41-08 for the month of April, was based on a response to the extraordinary spread of COVID-19, including, but not limited to, restricted domestic travel, restricted international travel, determining what is meant by essential travel, mandatory quarantine periods and limitations on port access. Australia noted that the range of actions it has taken since April included to adopt fisheries-specific protocols to minimise the spread of COVID-19 which cover priority areas for observer deployment and targeted field operations by fisheries officers. Australia noted that while it hoped these arrangements were temporary in nature, the protocols put in place and the lessons learned significantly mitigate the risk of this situation occurring again. Australia highlighted the importance it had placed on being

transparent with the Commission on its situation. Australia strongly rejected the suggestion that this compliance issue constituted IUU fishing. Australia reinforced its commitment to prioritising compliance with CCAMLR conservation measures and to ensuring the CDS is appropriately upheld.

- 3.36 The USA thanked Ukraine for its information on the *Simeiz* regarding its non-compliance with CM 41-02 and voluntary, responsive actions by the company, but also asked what action was taken by Ukraine against the vessel, its owner or its master and how it will implement the suggested buffer of 10 n miles as a safeguard against this issue from occurring in the future.
- 3.37 Some Members stated that since SCIC had not met formally and adopted a Provisional Compliance Report, as required by CM 10-10, paragraph 3, the Commission lacked the procedural basis to adopt a Compliance Report. Other Members disagreed and stated that the Commission had the authority to act on the Summary Compliance Report with input from the informal meeting of SCIC via e-groups. The USA noted that while the informal meeting of SCIC, convened over e-groups, was not on the record, the Chair's report of that meeting is part of the official proceedings of CCAMLR-39 and as such available to the Commission in taking its decisions.
- 3.38 The Commission agreed that time constraints resulting from the pandemic and divergence of views on compliance status of several cases mean that any further discussion on the specific issues in the CCEP this year would be very challenging. It concluded reluctantly that it was not possible to adopt the 2020 Compliance Report.
- 3.39 There was broad support amongst Members, but not agreement, to progress to finalise and adopt the Compliance Report.
- 3.40 Some Members supported deferring all of the Compliance Report until next year.
- 3.41 The Commission noted that the draft compliance table is contained as Appendix 1 in the Chair's report of the informal virtual meeting of SCIC (CCAMLR-39/BG/15 Rev. 1).
- 3.42 The Commission underscored the importance of following the procedures set out in CM 10-10 to adopt a 2021 Compliance Report next year.

#### **Administration and Finance**

4.1 This year, SCAF conducted its business through electronic discussion groups (e-groups). The report of the Acting Chair of SCAF (Ms S. Langerock, Belgium) of the informal virtual meeting of SCAF is contained in CCAMLR-39/BG/16.

Report from the informal virtual meeting of SCAF

4.2 The Commission thanked the Acting Chair of SCAF for the presentation of the activities undertaken by the informal virtual meeting of SCAF (CCAMLR-39/BG/16).

4.3 The Commission noted that the informal report by SCAF has no formal status within the Commission and that all decisions must be adopted independently by the Commission.

Report of the Secretariat – Executive Secretary's Report

- 4.4 The report of the Secretariat was presented in CCAMLR-39/05.
- 4.5 Members acknowledged and thanked the Executive Secretary for his report. He and the Secretariat were also commended for the excellent work provided during the year in supporting the Commission, despite the difficult and challenging circumstances brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic.
- 4.6 The Commission approved the staffing proposals contained in the report and approved the addition of Annex C to the CCAMLR Job Classification System.

#### Capacity building

- 4.7 Reports on the activities of the General Capacity Building Fund (GCBF) Panel were presented in CCAMLR-39/13 Rev. 2 and CCAMLR-39/01 Rev. 1.
- 4.8 The Commission approved the recommendations of the Panel regarding the applications received for the general component of the GCBF:
  - (i) the funding of the Ukrainian application for A\$21 457, which does not include a financial contribution towards the cost imposed by COVID-19 restrictions, as this request was made after the closing date for applications
  - (ii) the approval of the Uruguayan application for two years and a total of A\$150 000, including the funding of salaries and the requirement for an independent audit of the funding.
- 4.9 The Commission noted the applications received for the travel component of the GCBF which could not proceed and that this round's successful applicants are encouraged to submit a new application next year should their travel need remain.
- 4.10 The Commission noted the recommendations of the Panel (CCAMLR-39/13 Rev. 2) and:
  - (i) approved the revised GCBF guidelines (Annex 4)
  - (ii) accepted that well-justified salaries can be a component of the budget for applications to the general component of the GCBF and will be decided on a case-by-case basis as this kind of expenditure should be minimised
  - (iii) accepted that increased costs, due to the impact of COVID-19 on an applicant's budget calculations, may be approved if it is integral to the project going ahead

- (iv) approved that the GCBF Panel may approach other CCAMLR Special Funds for funding assistance where the application to the GCBF has components that could be funded through other Special Funds.
- 4.11 The Commission welcomed a voluntary contribution from New Zealand of NZ\$30 000 (approx. A\$28 100) to the GCBF.
- 4.12 The Commission noted that a joint e-group with participants from SCAF and the Scientific Committee will be established to finalise the terms of reference for the General Science Capacity Fund (GSCF) for presentation in 2021.
- 4.13 The Commission noted the postponement from 2020 to 2021 of the request made by the Scientific Committee in 2019 (SCAF-2019, paragraphs 46 to 48) of a further A\$200 000 from the General Fund to the GSCF.

Review of the 2020 budget, 2021 budget and forecast budget for 2022

- 4.14 The EU expressed concern regarding Members not maintaining compliance with financial obligations and invited Brazil to address its situation of arrears. The Brazilian Delegation took note and stated that administrative efforts are being made to resolve this issue.
- 4.15 The Commission requested the Secretariat to write to Brazil requesting it promptly remedy this situation.
- 4.16 Brazil acknowledged the importance of financial compliance and apologised for its current position. It also noted that it was hopeful of solving this issue soon.
- 4.17 Consistent with Financial Regulation 11.1, a full audit of the 2019 Financial Statements was completed in 2020 (CCAMLR-39/03 Rev. 1). The audit had identified no incidents of noncompliance with Financial Regulations or International Accounting Standards. The Commission accepted the audit.
- 4.18 The Commission appointed the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO) as the auditor for 2021 and 2022.
- 4.19 The Commission noted the revised 2020 budget, including a projected surplus for 2020 of A\$132 468 from an originally forecast deficit of A\$198 814 (CCAMLR-39/04 Rev. 1). As a result of the revised expenditure for the budget, the Commission approved the return of A\$2 791 from the Working Capital Fund (WCF) to the General Fund.
- 4.20 The Commission noted the advice from the Secretariat, contained in CCAMLR-39/BG/16 regarding the potential impacts of COVID-19 on the Commission's budget and the measures that the Secretariat has adopted to combat these.
- 4.21 The Commission approved the expenditure from the GCBF (paragraph 4.8) and also a transfer of A\$150 000 in 2021 from the General Fund to the GCBF to continue the work of this Fund.
- 4.22 The Commission approved the Revised 2020 Budget, the 2021 Draft Budget and the Forecast Budget for 2022, attached as Annex 5, Annex 6 and Annex 7 respectively.

#### **Management of marine resources**

Advice from the Scientific Committee

- 5.1 The Chair of the Scientific Committee, Dr D. Welsford (Australia), presented the report of the Scientific Committee (SC-CAMLR-39). He thanked the Secretariat for facilitating the discussions and producing the report in a very compressed timeframe, as well as the participants and conveners for their intersessional engagement in the very successful online discussion meetings that had greatly contributed to the priorities of the Scientific Committee.
- 5.2 The Commission noted that a complete report adoption was precluded by the very short time allocated to the Scientific Committee's deliberations, as well as the occurrence of technical constraints for some Members in the late stage of report adoption. It, however, noted that progress on some issues had been made as indicated by the number of adopted paragraphs in the Scientific Committee's report.
- 5.3 Some Members drew the attention of the Commission to the fact that the difficulties encountered by the Scientific Committee were in part due to the lack of formal deliberations from the working groups and the Scientific Committee, which had been replaced by informal online discussions due to the view of one Member.
- 5.4 Russia stated that due to the lack of official working group meetings in 2020, formal advice to the Scientific Committee had not been developed, therefore, it considered that the Scientific Committee report should be considered an unagreed document as Members could not achieve consensus on providing a full list of recommendations to the Commission.
- 5.5 The Chair of the Scientific Committee made the following statement:

'I would like to make a few comments in response to the interventions made yesterday in respect of the intersessional work of the Scientific Committee and the status of its report from its meeting on Monday.

The planned face-to-face intersessional meetings of the working groups were cancelled due to the pandemic. Recognising the important work being conducted by CCAMLR scientists during the intersessional period, we sought to move these meetings online. These meetings had an unprecedented level of engagement by Member representatives, with well over 100 delegates attending some sessions, many dozens of papers tabled, and significant progress has been made on critical areas that will support CCAMLR to achieve its objective. However, it was the view of one Member that it could not accept these meetings having any formal status, and hence no reports were formally adopted. Similarly, it was the view of one Member that led to the constrained format of the Scientific Committee meeting, which led to the situation where we did not have sufficient time to adopt all of our report.

The report tabled to this meeting was developed in accordance with the rules of procedure for the Scientific Committee. In instances where we could not achieve consensus, the views of individual representatives are shown. For example, the view of Russia on catch limit advice is clearly reflected in SC-CAMLR-39, paragraph 4.18.

The Scientific Committee report contains paragraphs that are indicated in square brackets. As shown in SC-CAMLR-39, paragraph 1.6, these paragraphs in many cases contain advice that the Scientific Committee had consensus on during plenary, however,

we did not have sufficient time to adopt them. It would be disappointing if this fact meant, for example, there was uncertainty cast by the Commission on important Scientific Committee matters such as the awarding of new scholarships and the extension of existing scholarships.

The Scientific Committee is separately and independently constituted under the Convention. There is no rule of procedure that I am aware of, in either the rules of the Commission or the Scientific Committee, that states that the report of the Scientific Committee must be adopted by consensus of the Commission for it to exist as a formal report. The Commission can choose to use the advice contained therein or not as per its rules and practices. But it is not for individual Members to diminish its status or deny its existence.

If this position is sustained, it places me and the Scientific Committee in an invidious position. I would ask that the Commission make every effort to support the Scientific Committee in its intersessional work next year, particularly for priority matters such as the provision of updated advice on management of the krill fishery. Next year, if we are unable to conduct this work and spend the time to formally develop advice, I am deeply concerned that there will be a rapidly increasing risk that CCAMLR will not achieve its objective.

Scientific endeavour is at the heart of the Antarctic Treaty. This is not due to any romantic notion. While it is not perfect, peer-reviewed science is still the best way humanity has of understanding and predicting the natural world. Antarctic marine living resources are dynamic, and therefore, the advice developed last year may not necessarily be the best reflection of their status this year. I therefore exhort the Commission to use the best available science, reflected in the Scientific Committee's report, in developing its conservation measures.'

- 5.6 Many Members thanked the Scientific Committee Chair for all his endeavours and supported the Chair's statement, noting its unprecedented nature, as it was in response to one Member taking a pre-determined fixed position on the outcomes of CCAMLR-39 and therefore stifling the scientific process. Many Members called for full and active collaboration and engagement through the Scientific Committee and its working groups by scientists, and with a focus on developing scientific advice to underpin the work of the Commission. These Members also recalled Article IX of the Convention, which requires decisions to be taken on the basis of the best scientific advice evidence available and noted that there had been considerable work undertaken by the Scientific Committee through the informal working groups during 2020 and the Scientific Committee itself. In the view of these Members, the conclusions of these deliberations constituted the best science available to the Commission for use in making its decisions this year.
- 5.7 The Commission noted that where best available science was provided by the Scientific Committee, it was a requirement for the Commission to consider that advice as is set out in Article IX of the Convention.
- 5.8 The Commission expressed its concern that there had been insufficient opportunity this year for the Scientific Committee to formulate clear advice on some issues, particularly when considering the significant deliberations expected to occur next year regarding the revised krill management strategy, stock assessments, marine protected areas (MPAs), climate change and many other deferred matters.

- 5.9 The Commission expressed its concern regarding the lack of clear consensus advice from the Scientific Committee on some issues, particularly when considering the significant deliberations expected to occur next year regarding the anticipated advice on the revised krill management strategy, stock assessments, MPAs, climate change and many other deferred matters.
- 5.10 China recalled with great appreciation the active engagement and considerable achievements of the work presented by all Members of the Scientific Committee, especially in relation to the ecosystem-based conservation of Antarctic krill resources, and a new approach that will lead to sound science-based krill fishery management.
- 5.11 Some Members recalled the technical difficulties that may occur using this new approach of online meetings, noting the connectivity-associated problems as one example, and there was general agreement to develop a full set of mechanisms to holding such online meetings.
- 5.12 The EU supported the advice put forward by the scientists as it is based on CCAMLR's approach to data-limited fisheries. This approved methodology, in use in previous years to provide information on setting and/or changing catch limits, is based on latest validated data, therefore reducing the uncertainty associated to other potential management options.
- 5.13 Russia expressed its regret at the technical difficulties preventing the discussion and adoption of the Scientific Committee report. Russia recalled the connectivity problems and the lack of interpretation into official languages and closed captions during the official Scientific Committee meeting.
- 5.14 The Commission thanked Dr Welsford for his guidance of the Scientific Committee in such difficult circumstances and thanked the Scientific Committee for its work. The Commission noted the considerations of the Scientific Committee regarding the conduct of its work during 2021 in SC-CAMLR-39, paragraphs 3.2 to 3.10, and welcomed the offer by the Chair of the Scientific Committee to lead intersessional work to develop agreed rules of procedure for conducting formal online meetings, given the possibility that the COVID-19 pandemic will impact the ability of Members to conduct in-person meetings in 2021.

# Harvested species

#### **Notifications**

- 5.15 The Commission noted the summary of fishery notifications provided in CCAMLR-39/BG/05, including the indication that Russia had submitted a research proposal for the special research zone (SRZ) within the Ross Sea region MPA (RSRMPA), but the required fee had not been received by the Secretariat as required by CM 24-01, paragraph 6, and that the proposal was therefore considered withdrawn.
- 5.16 The Commission noted issues raised by the Chair of SCIC, Ms Kim, regarding fisheries notifications and tagging performance raised during the online discussion of SCIC (CCAMLR-39/BG/15 Rev. 1).

- 5.17 The Commission noted COMM CIRC 20/78 regarding the late notification from France of its vessels. France outlined that this was due to the complications arising from the COVID-19 pandemic as outlined in COMM CIRC 20/78 and took full responsibility for the late notification, noting that payment of the notification fees has been forwarded to the Secretariat in due course, and requested the understanding of the Commission.
- 5.18 Russia stated its view that under the provisions of CM 21-02 the Commission was unable to consider late notifications, and that while all Members had been impacted by COVID-19, only one Member was late to submit a vessel notification.
- 5.19 Members invited Russia to consider a withdrawal of the notification for the vessel *Palmer* for Subareas 88.1 and 88.2 given the discussions in paragraphs 3.2 to 3.18.
- 5.20 Russia noted that it had fully demonstrated the results of its investigation of the *Palmer* and that any investigation should be carried out within the provisions of CM 10-02. Russia further noted that some vessels had submitted research notifications while not having reached acceptable tagging rates, and that such issues should be formally considered by the Commission.
- 5.21 Many Members reiterated the request for the *Palmer*'s verifiable VMS data to be provided by Russia to the Commission in respect of the *Palmer*'s activities throughout the 2019/20 season (paragraph 3.4).
- 5.22 New Zealand noted that Russia had provided unsatisfactory investigations regarding the activities of the *Palmer* for several years in a row, had blocked consensus to include that vessel on the CP-IUU Vessel List at this meeting, and had also refused to withdraw its notifications in the Subarea 88.1 and 88.2 exploratory toothfish fisheries despite the request of Members to do so. Several Members asked Russia what assurances it could provide that if the *Palmer* were notified, that it would comply with conservation measures, that Russia will follow up on the two outstanding investigations (pre-season gear in Subarea 88.1 from 2017/18 and the issues that gave rise to placing that vessel on the provisional CP-IUU Vessel List in 2019/20), take effective action, share verifiable VMS tracks, and use electronic monitoring or other effective means to ensure compliance.
- Russia expressed its concern in respect of allegations suggested by New Zealand and 5.23 indicated that Russia continuously takes efforts to fight IUU fishing, including by joining relevant international treaties and concluding bilateral agreements. IUU fishing is a criminal offence under Russian legislation and more stringent steps are undertaken. Concerning the alleged case, it was noted that it was investigated in good faith. The vessel was thoroughly inspected by the independent technical experts in the presence of the State officials. It was stressed that there were several contacts with New Zealand, including via diplomatic channels, when specific questions were asked. It was underlined that answers were not received. This undermines the investigation. At the same time Russia reiterated its request for the receipt of the aforementioned information and expressed its readiness to act upon it. Doubts were raised as to the status of the aerial patrols conducted by New Zealand for inspection purposes as they are in no way regulated by the CCAMLR rules. It was suggested to elaborate such rules and come back to this issue at the next meeting. Moreover, it was noted that allegations of New Zealand and criteria suggested by it to qualify the *Palmer* case as IUU fishing do not conform to any provisions of the CCAMLR System of Inspection. Russia also called for assurances that all delegations and vessels will be treated indiscriminately and double standards will not be

applied. In this regard, Russia indicated the example of the situation with Australian-flagged vessels which were in breach of the conservation measure but some Members decided not to notice the fact.

- 5.24 New Zealand noted that it had replied to Russia's questions and that it was clear that it was a clear and compelling case. New Zealand further noted that it and other Members have undertaken aerial surveillance for many years in the Convention Area for which the Commission has consistently expressed its thanks and that aerial surveillance plays a vital role.
- On the issue of notifications for exploratory fisheries, the USA asked for the removal of Russia from paragraph 1 of CMs 41-09 and 41-10 because of concerns about the activities of the Palmer that led to the recommendation that it be listed on the CP-IUU Vessel List. The USA noted that, despite some comments from the Russian Delegation, numerous Members had raised concerns and that Russia is isolated concerning issues related to the Palmer. Many Members had requested repeatedly that Russia release the VMS data for the *Palmer* during the 2019/20 season, consistent with CM 10-06, paragraph 7, which calls for providing verifiable VMS data and other supporting information showing that this vessel had not engaged in IUU fishing activities. Without this VMS data and with the low confidence that the vessel will abide by the conservation measures, the USA suggested that Russia provide its consent for the Secretariat to release the fishing vessel Palmer's VMS data to any Member upon request, at any time during the 2020/21 season, as this would allow for transparency of the vessel's activities and may be of particular value to Members or others in implementing the CDS. An alternative that the USA suggested was for Russia to replace the *Palmer* with another vessel. The USA called on the Russian Delegation to find a resolution that addressed these concerns to allow for consensus on this element of CMs 41-09 and 41-10.
- 5.26 Russia indicated that there was no consensus not on a separate element of a conservation measure, but on a conservation measure in general. It was also noted that replies on this topic were already presented on several occasions and that Russia was ready to further investigate this matter after the receipt of the requested information. It was mentioned that this issue was included in the Compliance Report. Moreover, Russia indicated that any statement on IUU fishing should be based in fact, as well as on the CCAMLR System of Inspection, including information enumerated in its paragraph X. It was stated that with regard to a *Palmer* case, no such evidence founded on this CCAMLR System of Inspection provision was presented, thus precluding reviewing it under CM 10-06.
- 5.27 Korea noted that in relation to tagging rates in Subarea 88.1, small-scale research unit (SSRU) H, it appreciated the importance of tagging for scientific studies, and that this issue had been sufficiently covered by SCIC and by the Scientific Committee when assessing research proposals. Korea further noted that the overall Subarea 88.1 tagging rate had been achieved, and so the use of a more spatially constrained measure of tagging rate did not reflect a vessel's ability to conduct scientific research.

#### Scientific research under CM 24-01

5.28 The Commission noted the advice from the Scientific Committee that, as there were no formal meetings of the working groups this year, no review had been possible at those working groups for the new research proposals submitted under CM 24-01.

- 5.29 The Commission noted that the two proposals under CM 24-01 that were for continuing research (in Division 58.4.4b and the Ross Sea shelf survey) had been reviewed by WG-FSA in 2019 and there had been no recommendations for changes to be made at that time and the current proposals had not changed substantively since the last review.
- 5.30 The Commission considered the Ukrainian proposal to conduct a toothfish survey in Subarea 48.1, which had not completed its objectives the previous two years due to poor ice conditions and a high by-catch rate, and agreed that this research should be finalised in the 2020/21 season, noting that the same catch limits as in the 2019/20 season should be applied.
- 5.31 The Commission welcomed the undertaking by Chile to continue to develop its research proposal on *Dissostichus* spp. in Subarea 48.2 and noted the withdrawal of the current plan to fish in 2020/21.
- 5.32 The Commission noted the discussion of the Scientific Committee on the proposed research fishery in Subarea 88.3 for Antarctic toothfish (*Dissostichus mawsoni*) (SC-CAMLR-39, paragraph 4.15). The Commission was unable to reach consensus on the research.
- 5.33 Korea and Ukraine expressed their disappointment on the fact that the Commission had not reached a consensus on the issue of continuation of toothfish research in Subarea 88.3, noting that this research is very important to get a better understanding of biological and ecological processes in this marine area to provide valuable data needed for a better management of Antarctic marine living resources. They noted strong time limitation in the circumstances of the current online CCAMLR meeting to organise needed consultations to harmonise the position of the CCAMLR parties on this issue. Korea and Ukraine expressed their gratitude to New Zealand and other CCAMLR parties, who provided technical help and support to realise this research plan. It was noted that Korea and Ukraine will continue work on improvement of this research proposal to discuss it at CCAMLR meetings in 2021, seeking for understanding and agreement of all CCAMLR parties.

# Exploratory fisheries

- 5.34 The Commission noted the discussion of the Scientific Committee regarding the proposed catch limits for 2020/21 presented in SC-CAMLR-39, Tables 3 to 5. The Commission noted that many Members of the Scientific Committee considered that the proposed updated catch limits in the tables constituted best available science derived from statistical procedures agreed upon by the Scientific Committee.
- 5.35 Russia stated that since working groups of the Scientific Committee were unable to formally meet this year, it was not able to endorse any changes to catch limits that had been discussed during informal meetings or online discussions, and considered that catch limits remain unchanged from last year's advice that was agreed by the Commission.
- 5.36 The Chair of the Scientific Committee clarified that not all the science advice last year was based on long-term projections. For example, the trend analysis rule is designed to be updated every year due to the uncertainty that exists in data-limited fisheries. Similarly, for species like icefish, those analyses are updated regularly because their population dynamics are such that long-term projections are not appropriate.

- 5.37 The EU supported the trend analysis, updated to take into account the latest available validated data and scientific information, as the basis for setting the catch limits.
- 5.38 The Commission agreed, on a case-by-case basis for each subarea, division, and research block, to use the lesser of catch limits proposed for 2020/21 in SC-CAMLR-39, Table 5, or those previously adopted by the Commission for 2019/20, for the 2020/21 season, while noting that this practice should not become a precedent.
- 5.39 The Commission considered the alternative methods for allocating the precautionary catch limit for Subareas 88.1 and SSRUs 882A–B as presented in SC-CAMLR-39, Table 4. Some Members expressed their preference for method 3 as this approach is consistent with the requirements for 2020/21 in CM 91-05, paragraph 8. One Member expressed a preference for method 2. The Commission agreed to use method 2 for the 2020/21 season on the basis that it would review the methodology next year.
- 5.40 Australia recalled SC-CAMLR-39/BG/10 describing a research plan by the co-proponents Australia, France, Japan, Korea and Spain, for the exploratory toothfish fishery in Divisions 58.4.1 and 58.4.2. Australia noted that all co-proponents were fully committed to the success of this research plan which has been recognised by the Scientific Committee since the first multi-Member plan was established in 2016. The research had now progressed to a preliminary integrated stock assessment. Australia noted that the resumption of fishing in Division 58.4.1 was very important to collect further data and actually achieve the goal of a stock assessment for this area which can be used for management advice. Australia, therefore, recommended that the Commission support this multi-Member research program so that fishing could resume in this area.
- 5.41 The Commission noted the discussion of the Scientific Committee on exploratory fisheries in Divisions 58.4.1 and 58.4.2 (SC-CAMLR-39, paragraphs 4.10 to 4.13). The Commission was unable to reach consensus on the research plan for the exploratory fishery in Division 58.4.1 for 2020/21. The Commission agreed to use the catch limits for Division 58.4.2, contained in SC-CAMLR-39, Table 5, to set catch limits for Division 58.4.2 in 2020/21.
- 5.42 The EU noted that it was unfortunate that there would be no exploratory fishing in Division 58.4.1, despite the consistently achieved milestones and robust scientific information available.
- 5.43 France shared the views of the Delegations of Australia and the EU, further underlining that during the meeting of the Scientific Committee it was considered to create an e-group on this issue.
- 5.44 Australia noted that it would reluctantly accept the lower of the catch limits either from last year or estimated by the trend analysis this year in Division 58.4.2. However, Australia stressed that this is an arbitrary approach, not based on the best available science, and should not be seen as an enduring principle on which to make decisions for setting catch limits. Australia reiterated that where updated catch advice was available, such as from the trend analysis, it should be used by the Commission for its decisions.
- 5.45 The Commission requested the Scientific Committee to explore ways to solve the issue of appropriate research methods of developing data-limited stock assessments in Division 58.4.1, including the development of an e-group to facilitate discussions between Members who hold alternate views on the methodology of the research plan.

#### Krill resources

- 5.46 Some Members noted the discussion by the Scientific Committee on krill resources and noted that the catch of krill (446 783 tonnes, SC-CAMLR-39/BG/57) in the 2019/20 season was the largest catch ever reported in Area 48 (amounting to 72% of the overall interim trigger level/catch limit). In Subarea 48.1, the duration from the date on which 5% of the catch was taken to the date on which 95% of the catch was taken was 69 days, compared to an average of 130 days over the previous five years (SC-CAMLR-39/BG/57).
- 5.47 The Commission noted that the Scientific Committee noted that the voluntary closures enacted by ARK members were partially responsible for the shortened period of fishing operations (SC-CAMLR-39, paragraph 2.1).
- 5.48 Argentina and Chile highlighted CCAMLR-39/09, which re-emphasised the importance of the Domain 1 MPA (D1MPA) proposal, in particular within the context of the development of a revised krill fishery management strategy. They argued that evidence that variations in the environmental conditions in the Antarctic Peninsula and in krill catch distribution, which have effects on penguin population dynamics (WG-EMM-2019, paragraph 4.41) suggests that CM 51-07 might not be precautionary enough, and that, while the management strategy is developed, the D1MPA was an effective conservation tool which includes rational use as required by Article II of the Convention. They further recalled that establishing a representative network of MPAs by 2012 had been determined as a priority for the Commission.
- 5.49 Russia noted that CCAMLR-39/09 does not provide evidence of scientifically based information for suggesting that CM 51-07 might not be precautionary enough. Russia emphasised that such a conclusion should be based on scientifically grounded criteria and accompanied by diagnostics, allowing to separate the potential impact of fishing from the impact of environmental conditions, penguin population processes and competition relationships between predators for krill resources. Russia also noted that the papers and baseline data referred by authors should be available for the Scientific Committee and its working groups.
- 5.50 Russia noted that when discussing the high catch obtained in the 2019/20 season, it should be taken into account that, in accordance with CM 51-01, the total available krill catch limit in Area 48 is 5.61 million tonnes in any fishing season, and the catch limit is limited to the trigger level of 620 000 tonnes. The trigger level value is not scientifically justified and is not related to the state of krill resources or dependent predators. Russia recalled that since 2007, the total available krill catch limit in Area 48 has changed from 3.47 million tonnes to 5.61 million tonnes, with the trigger level of 620 000 tonnes remaining unchanged. Russia also noted that the value of 150 000 tonnes achieved in 60 days in Subarea 48.1 is comparably less than the available data on the needs of predators, underlining that at present it only can be stated the spatial overlapping between the foraging areas and the fishing areas without scientifically based indicators of the ecosystem impact of krill fishery. Russia noted that recent scientific evidence indicated the occurrence of high, localised krill densities in coastal areas at depths less than 500 m that did not overlap with fishing areas, and that the consideration of fisheries impacts on higher predators required further research.
- 5.51 The USA and Argentina noted that peer-reviewed literature, which had previously been submitted to WG-EMM, demonstrates krill fishing can negatively impact krill-dependent predators.

- 5.52 Ukraine noted SC-CAMLR-39/BG/56, which discussed the feasibility of establishing specific limitations on the use of the continuous krill fishing system in the Area 48, and considered that it was important for the Commission to evaluate this proposal during the revision of CM 51-07 next year.
- 5.53 The Commission welcomed the significant amount of focussed work that has been undertaken by the Scientific Committee and its working groups in 2020 on developing the revised krill management strategy, and looked forward to receiving the advice of the Scientific Committee in 2021.
- 5.54 Many Members recalled previous scientific advice about the importance of having a precautionary approach, of spreading out the krill catch in space and time, and the urgent need to make progress next year on the revised management of the krill fishery the very reason why this Convention came into being. These Members noted that there should be no possibility to delay further decisions on krill management, recognising that management should be precautionary and based on sound science.

#### Fish resources

#### Icefish

- 5.55 The Commission noted the assessment by Australia of mackerel icefish (*Champsocephalus gunnari*) in Division 58.5.2 (SC-CAMLR-39/01 Rev. 1). Australia noted that this assessment followed standard methodology using the generalised yield model with data from a standardised random trawl survey, and is based on the decision rule recommended by WG-FSA in 1997 (SC-CAMLR-XVI, Annex 5, paragraph 4.181). The paper recommended that the catch limit for *C. gunnari* should be set at 1 276 tonnes in the 2020/21 season and 1 047 tonnes in the 2021/22 season in Division 58.5.2.
- 5.56 Australia noted that whenever updated catch advice is available based on rules adopted by CCAMLR, it should be utilised to uphold CCAMLR's practice and obligations under Article IX of the Convention to use the best available science. Australia noted that there had been insufficient time to adopt the report by the Scientific Committee for this assessment. However, Australia considered there was no impediment to the Commission making a decision on the basis of the paper presented to the Scientific Committee.
- 5.57 Russia did not support the increased catch limit for CM 42-02, noting the lack of advice developed by the Scientific Committee for this fishery, and stated that it did not see any scientific basis to allow a catch limit of nearly double of last year's limit. Russia considered that there needed to be consistency in catch limits approved by the Commission in 2020/21, and by using the catch limit from the 2019/20 season this was a precautionary approach.
- 5.58 Australia expressed strong disappointment that Russia arbitrarily blocked consensus on this issue despite the proposed revisions being based on the best available science following a thoroughly tested rule applied by CCAMLR consistent with the precautionary approach. Australia further noted that the catch limits in this fishery over the last 15 years have fluctuated between 0 tonnes and over 2 000 tonnes which is common for a short-lived fish species. Australia expressed its hope for better scientific cooperation in the future.

#### Non-target species

#### Fish and invertebrates

5.59 The Commission noted the discussions of the Scientific Committee on fish by-catch in SC-CAMLR-39, paragraphs 2.3 to 2.5.

#### Seabirds and marine mammals

- 5.60 The Commission noted the Scientific Committee's discussion on the report submitted by Norway on seabird interactions with net monitoring cables (SC-CAMLR-39/BG/59), and that it was unclear to the Scientific Committee to what extent the conditions of the trial outlined in SC-CAMLR-38, paragraph 5.14, had been addressed.
- 5.61 China thanked Norway for presenting the preliminary results of the net monitoring cable trial to the Scientific Committee and noted that there was general agreement for the continuation of the net monitoring trial amongst Members of the Scientific Committee. However, it also noted that there was not enough time to fully adopt the relevant section of the Scientific Committee's report. China further noted that one of its krill fishing vessels, the *Shen Lan*, which is equipped with conventional stern trawl as well as continuous trawling system using a net monitoring cable, was not able to enter the fishery in the 2019/20 fishing season due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the vessel had also been notified for the 2020/21 fishing season, and this vessel used a net monitoring cable system. China proposed that a net monitoring cable trial should continue in 2020/21 and undertook to participate in the trial and work together with Norway on improving mitigation measures to prevent seabird cable strikes.
- 5.62 The Commission agreed that the derogation in footnote 2 of CM 25-03 be extended to the 2020/21 season to enable the net monitoring cable trial to continue for another year. It noted the need to determine the requirements of the net monitoring cable trial in 2020/21 including the need for further analyses, and a complete report of the data collected during the 2019/20 season at the next meeting of WG-FSA.
- 5.63 The Commission noted that, in addition to the specifications set out in footnote 2 of CM 25-03, a dedicated e-group shall be organised in the 2020/21 intersessional period to address issues regarding strikes on net monitoring cables and warps, bird abundance around vessels, higher level of observer coverage, use of spotlights and options for more effective mitigation.

# Bottom fishing and vulnerable marine ecosystems

5.64 The Commission noted the Scientific Committee's deliberations regarding bottom fishing and vulnerable marine ecosystems (VMEs). The Commission noted that a focus topic on non-target species that would include VMEs, was due to be held at WG-FSA-2020, however, due to the unprecedented circumstances of the meeting this year, this was postponed. The Commission encouraged further work on progressing the VME workplan.

#### **Conservation measures**

- 6.1 The Commission's consideration of revised and new conservation measures and resolutions, and related matters, is reported in this section. Conservation measures and resolutions adopted at CCAMLR-39 will be published in the *Schedule of Conservation Measures in Force* 2020/21.
- 6.2 The Commission agreed that the following conservation measures and resolutions will remain in force in 2020/21:

# Measures on compliance

10-01 (2014), 10-02 (2016), 10-03 (2019), 10-04 (2018), 10-05 (2018), 10-06 (2016), 10-07 (2016), 10-08 (2017), 10-09 (2019) and 10-10 (2019).

#### Measures on general fishery matters

21-01 (2019), 21-02 (2019), 21-03 (2019), 22-01 (1986), 22-02 (1984), 22-03 (1990), 22-04 (2010), 22-05 (2008), 22-06 (2019), 22-07 (2013), 22-08 (2009), 22-09 (2012), 23-01 (2016), 23-02 (2016), 23-03 (2016), 23-04 (2016), 23-05 (2000), 23-06 (2019), 23-07 (2016), 24-01 (2019), 24-02 (2014), 24-04 (2017), 25-02 (2018) and 26-01 (2019).

#### Measures on fishery regulation

31-01 (1986), 31-02 (2007), 32-01 (2001), 32-02 (2017), 32-18 (2006), 33-01 (1995), 41-02 (2019), 41-08 (2019), 42-01 (2019), 42-02 (2019), 51-01 (2010), 51-02 (2008), 51-03 (2008), 51-06 (2019) and 51-07 (2016).

### Measures on protected areas

91-01 (2004), 91-02 (2012), 91-03 (2009), 91-04 (2011) and 91-05 (2016).

#### Resolutions

7/IX, 10/XII, 14/XIX, 15/XXII, 16/XIX, 17/XX, 18/XXI, 19/XXI, 20/XXII, 22/XXV, 23/XXIII, 25/XXV, 27/XXVII, 28/XXVII, 29/XXVIII, 30/XXVIII, 31/XXVIII, 32/XXIX, 33/XXX, 34/XXXI and 35/XXXIV.

6.3 The Commission adopted the following revised conservation measures:

#### Revised measures on general fishery matters

24-05 (2020) and 25-03 (2020).

#### Revised measures on fishery regulation

32-09 (2020), 33-02 (2020), 33-03 (2020), 41-01 (2020), 41-03 (2020), 41-04 (2020), 41-05 (2020), 41-06 (2020), 41-07 (2020), 41-09 (2020), 41-10 (2020), 41-11 (2020) and 51-04 (2020).

#### Review of existing measures

- 6.4 The Scientific Committee Chair provided summaries of the catch limits as presented in SC-CAMLR-39, Table 5, and recommended that this could be used as the basis for the decisions by the Commission on updating the catch limits for fisheries in 2020/21 in the Convention Area. Many Members stated that catch limits should to be set using the most current information as the best available science as presented in the proposed catch limits for 2020/21 in SC-CAMLR-39, Table 5. One Member believed that the catch limits for 2019/20 should be used for 2020/21 as this reflected the most precautionary approach.
- 6.5 The Commission agreed, on a case-by-case basis for each subarea, division, and research block, to use the lesser of the catch limits proposed for 2020/21 in SC-CAMLR-39, Table 5, or those previously adopted by the Commission for 2019/20, for the 2020/21 season, while noting that this practice should not become a precedent. It noted that this was a response to the particular circumstances of this year's meeting, and recalled that the Commission should use best available science consistent with Article IX of the Convention.

#### Measures on general fishery matters

- 6.6 The Commission noted the discussion of research notifications under CM 24-01 (see paragraphs 5.28 to 5.31) and adopted CM 24-05 (2020).
- 6.7 The Commission agreed that the derogation in footnote 2 of CM 25-03 be revised to apply to the 2020/21 season and adopted CM 25-03 (paragraphs 5.62 and 5.63).
- 6.8 The EU presented a proposal for amending CM 26-01 (CCAMLR-39/02). Some Members expressed concerns about the proposed amendments and invited the EU to engage in discussions during the intersessional period to address these. The EU looked forward to further discussions to move this proposal forward at CCAMLR-40.

# Measures on fishery regulation

6.9 The Commission welcomed the advice from France that it would not licence any vessels to participate in the exploratory fishery in Division 58.4.2 in 2020/21 and agreed to include a footnote in CM 41-05 to that effect.

#### Toothfish catch limits

- 6.10 The Commission noted that CMs 41-02 (2019) and 41-08 (2019) for the fisheries for Patagonian toothfish (*Dissostichus eleginoides*) in Subarea 48.3 and Division 58.5.2 respectively remain in force. The Commission also adopted CM 41-03 (2020) for the fishery targeting *D. mawsoni* and *D. eleginoides* in Subarea 48.4.
- 6.11 The Commission agreed to adopt CMs 41-09 and 41-10 and establish an e-group in the intersessional period which is provided with relevant information to allow for ample information

exchange between Members to facilitate a thorough investigation process regarding the issue of allegations against the vessel *Palmer*, so as to address in a satisfactory manner the specific requests raised by Members during CCAMLR-39. Russia undertook to prepare a report, in cooperation with all interested Members on the outcomes of such work, and present it to SCIC-2021.

6.12 The Commission considered the arrangements for exploratory fisheries for *D. mawsoni* in Subareas 48.6, 88.1 and 88.2 and Divisions 58.4.1 and 58.4.2 and for *D. eleginoides* in Division 58.4.3a in 2019/20 and adopted the following conservation measures for fisheries targeting *D. mawsoni* and/or *D. eleginoides*:

```
CM 41-04 – exploratory fishery for D. mawsoni in Subarea 48.6 CM 41-05 – exploratory fishery for D. mawsoni in Division 58.4.2 CM 41-06 – exploratory fishery for D. eleginoides in Division 58.4.3a CM 41-07 – exploratory fishery for D. mawsoni in Division 58.4.3b CM 41-09 – exploratory fishery for D. mawsoni in Subarea 88.1 CM 41-10 – exploratory fishery for D. mawsoni in Subarea 88.2 CM 41-11 – exploratory fishery for D. mawsoni in Division 58.4.1.
```

- 6.13 Having agreed the catch limits referred to in paragraph 6.12, the Commission agreed to the revised by-catch limits for exploratory fisheries for *D. mawsoni* in Subareas 48.6 and 88.2 and Divisions 58.4.1 and 58.4.2 and for *D. eleginoides* in Division 58.4.3a in 2020/21 in CM 33-03 (2020).
- 6.14 The Commission agreed that directed fishing for *Dissostichus* spp. shall not take place in 2020/21 in Divisions 58.4.3a and 58.4.3b.
- 6.15 There was no consensus that directed fishing for *D. mawsoni* shall take place in 2020/21 in Division 58.4.1. Accordingly, the Commission adopted CM 41-11, which provides that directed fishing for *D. mawsoni* shall not take place in 2020/21 in Division 58.4.1.

#### Icefish catch limits

- 6.16 The Commission noted that CM 42-01 for the fishery for *C. gunnari* in Subarea 48.3 remains in force.
- 6.17 The Commission noted that there was no consensus on updating the catch limits for the fishery for *C. gunnari* in Division 58.5.2 (paragraphs 5.55 to 5.58) and therefore that CM 42-02 remains in force.

#### Impacts of COVID-19 on the 2020/21 fishing season

6.18 The USA introduced a proposal related to potential issues with the deployment of international scientific observers that may be associated with travel or other restrictions arising from the COVID-19 pandemic (CCAMLR-39/12). The USA stated that conservation measures in force should be followed and this proposal seeks to have the Commission decide a policy related to deployment of international scientific observers during the COVID-19 pandemic and not leave it to individual Members to apply force majeure or derogate from conservation measure rules.

- 6.19 China, Japan and Korea supported the proposal and indicated the need for maintaining scientific data collection as well as the need for flexibility to ensure safety of vessel crew and observers during the pandemic. Russia did not support the proposal and stated that changes have occurred since the proposal was made and that there is the ability to deploy international scientific observers without this proposal.
- 6.20 The USA thanked Members that supported the proposal and in the absence of consensus the proposal was withdrawn.
- 6.21 China stated more international cooperation is needed to protect crew members of fishing vessels as well as related nationals of inspecting States and Port States. Firstly, as to high-seas boarding and inspection and port inspection, the inspectors shall take necessary preventive health measures and take the medical examination before embarking. Secondly, the Flag Members could make some guidance to require or instruct the related vessel owners to implement the preventive arrangement. Thirdly, the suspected case showing symptoms shall be isolated and offered the necessary medical assistance and treatment as soon as possible.

#### Other fishery matters

Australia advised the Commission that any fishing or fisheries research activities in that part of Divisions 58.4.3a, 58.4.3b and 58.5.2 that constitutes the Australian exclusive economic zone (EEZ) around the Australian Territory of Heard Island and McDonald Islands must have the prior approval of Australian authorities. The Australian EEZ extends up to 200 n miles from the Territory. Unauthorised or illegal fishing in these waters is a serious offence under Australian law. Australia seeks the assistance of other CCAMLR Members in ensuring their nationals and vessels are aware of the limits of the Australian EEZ and the need for prior permission to fish there. Australia has implemented strict controls to ensure that fishing in its EEZ occurs only on a sustainable basis. Presently, fishing concessions are fully subscribed and no further concessions for legal fishing in the EEZ are available. Australian legislation provides for large penalties for illegal fishing in Australia's EEZ, including the immediate forfeiture of foreign vessels found engaged in such activities. Any enquiries about fishing in the Australian EEZ should be made initially to the Australian Fisheries Management Authority.

#### **Administrative matters**

#### Election of officers

- 7.1 The Commission thanked Spain (Mr F. Curcio Ruigómez) for its dedication and excellent and steady execution as Chair of the Commission for the 2019 and 2020 meetings.
- 7.2 The Commission elected Sweden to the position of Chair of the Commission for the 2021 and 2022 meetings. In accepting the appointment, Sweden advised that Dr Jakob Granit, Director General at the Swedish Agency for Marine and Water Management (SwAM) would assume this role. Dr Granit thanked the Commission Members in his introductory remarks and informed the meeting that he was looking forward to the opportunity to work with the

Commission Members in this important role. All Members congratulated Dr Granit on his appointment as Chair of the Commission and welcomed the opportunity to work with him to advance CCAMLR's work.

### 7.3 Dr Granit made the following statement:

'I am honoured to serve as the Swedish Chair to the Commission for the next two-year period. I am grateful to Chair Ambassador Ruigómez for his dedicated work together with the Secretariat to keep the Commission running, also during the ongoing pandemic. The pandemic has changed daily life and led to heartfelt losses amongst many of us. Indeed, it has also put a major strain on the work of the Commission. Unfortunately, we do not know how long these extraordinary circumstances will continue and influence the way we work in the Commission.

The objective of this unique Commission is the conservation of Antarctic marine living resources. Conservation in this regard also entails the rational use of the living resources in the Southern Ocean from an ecosystem-based management perspective. The Convention that was adopted in 1980 pioneered the concept of ecosystem-based management and developed the concept, as we know it today. This includes the different conservation measures such as fisheries regulation, fisheries control and area-based management tools. Most importantly, all management decisions should rely on best available science.

The Convention on the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources is an integral part of the Antarctic Treaty System with its key objective that Antarctica should be used for peaceful purposes only. This system with the Convention on the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources therefore make up a whole in which collective action can make a real impact for the Antarctic ecosystem, the sustainable management of fisheries resources and for the earth system as a whole.

Excellencies, Sweden has been a Member of the Convention since 1984 and carried out research in the region since the turn of the last century. Our support for water and ocean management is well recognised. We will ensure respect for international law and science-based decision-making and bring it to the forefront during our Chairmanship. Issues that we see of particular importance during the next coming period is climate change and its impact on the marine ecosystems, how to deploy area-based management tools as a respected ecosystem-based conservation measure, the combat of marine debris, sustainable fishing practices and digitalisation.

Dear Colleagues, we very much look forward to working with you over the next two years during the Swedish Chairmanship and we look forward to being able to meet you soon face-to-face.

We live in extraordinary times. I will ensure you that I will do my best, together with all of you, to find ways to work during the pandemic and beyond that are acceptable to all. I am planning to reach out to all delegations during 2021.

With these words I thank all of you and wish you a successful close of the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission.'

- 7.4 The Commission expressed its gratitude to Ms Kim for chairing SCIC over the last four years and noted the nomination of Ms Engelke-Ros as Chair for 2021 and 2022.
- 7.5 The Commission noted the nomination of Ms Langerock as Chair of SCAF for 2021 and expressed its gratitude to Ms Langerock for her excellent work as Acting Chair of SCAF during these difficult moments.
- 7.6 The Commission accepted the nominations and congratulated the Chairs of SCIC and SCAF.

#### Appointment of the Executive Secretary

- 7.7 The Commission recognised that the initial contract of the Executive Secretary is due to expire on 9 April 2022. Expressing its satisfaction with Dr Agnew's work, in accordance with Rule 14(a) of the Rules of Procedure, the Commission agreed that his office shall be extended for a second four-year term to April 2026.
- 7.8 Many Members expressed their appreciation of, and confidence in, Dr Agnew's work as Executive Secretary, particularly during this challenging year. Russia expressed its expectation that the Executive Secretary should act in an objective way in the interests of all Members of the Commission. The Chair declared that without the work and support of the Secretariat and the Executive Secretary, including the Executive Secretary's professionalism and wisdom, it would not have been possible to conduct the 39th meeting of the Commission.

# Invitation of observers

- 7.9 The Commission will invite the following to attend the Fortieth Meeting of the Commission as Observers:
  - Non-Member Contracting Parties Bulgaria, Canada, Cook Islands, Finland, Greece, Mauritius, Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Republic of Panama, Peru and Vanuatu.
  - Other States in dialogue with CCAMLR Cambodia, Indonesia, Luxembourg.
  - NCPs cooperating with CCAMLR through participation in the Catch Documentation Scheme (CDS) Republic of Ecuador.
  - NCPs trading in re-exported *Dissostichus* spp. that has not been previously landed in the port of a Contracting Party or NCPs cooperating with CCAMLR by participating in the CDS, who are cooperating with CCAMLR through limited access to the e-CDS Singapore.
  - NCPs not participating in the CDS but possibly involved in harvesting, landing and/or trade of toothfish in accordance with the NCP Engagement Strategy Bolivia, Brunei Darussalam, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Lebanon, Malaysia, Republic of the Maldives, Mexico, Myanmar, Philippines, Switzerland, Thailand, Trinidad and Tobago, Turkey, United Arab Emirates and Viet Nam.

- NCP Flag States of vessels listed on CCAMLR NCP-IUU Vessel List Republic of Angola, Gambia, Islamic Republic of Iran, Nigeria, St. Vincent and the Grenadines, Tanzania and Togo.
- 7.10 The Executive Secretary advised the Commission that a list of NCPs to be invited to CCAMLR-40 will be circulated to Members for comment prior to meeting invitations being issued in July 2021.
- 7.11 The following intergovernmental organisations will be invited to attend CCAMLR-40 as Observers: ACAP, the Antarctic Treaty Secretariat, CCSBT, CEP, CITES, COMNAP, FAO, IATTC, ICCAT, IOC, INTERPOL, IUCN, IWC, RPOA-IUU, SCAR, SCOR, SEAFO, SIOFA, SOOS, SPRFMO, UNEP and WCPFC.
- 7.12 The following non-governmental organisations will be invited: ARK, ASOC, COLTO, IAATO and Oceanites.

## Next meeting

- 7.13 The Commission agreed that the Fortieth Meeting of the Commission will be held at the CCAMLR Headquarters building (181 Macquarie Street) in Hobart, Australia, from 18 to 29 October 2021, unless the Commission decides otherwise.
- 7.14 The Commission noted that the Fortieth Meeting of the Scientific Committee will be held in Hobart from 18 to 22 October 2021, unless the Scientific Committee decides otherwise. It also encouraged the Scientific Committee Bureau to develop a detailed intersessional working plan as soon as possible to cope with its markedly increased work load and to facilitate the participation of Member delegates.
- 7.15 The Commission also requested the Executive Secretary and the Secretariat begin planning for CCAMLR-40 as soon as possible and, given the uncertainty that the pandemic has created, plan for all eventualities. This should include planning for formal meetings of SCIC and SCAF.
- 7.16 The Commission requested the Secretariat to update the report on the practices regarding meeting planning in other international organisations during the pandemic, including international organisations involved in fisheries.
- 7.17 The Commission requested that Heads of Delegation meetings be conducted early and as necessary during the course of next year to discuss virtual meetings, should these be necessary.

#### Other business

Implementation of objectives of the Convention

8.1 Chile made the following statement:

'When Members negotiated conducting a virtual meeting, it was on the understanding that, beyond any time constraints, the principles of the Convention would always be observed. Today, however, we see that as discussions are becoming more complex, we have concerns about the difficulty of reaching agreements and carrying out our work as Members of the Commission. Fortunately, we also notice that the majority of Members are committed to strengthening the role of the Convention as an integral part of the Antarctic Treaty System. The most important thing is to keep in mind the values we have committed to.

One of Chile's concerns with the Commission is the need to maintain the fragile balance established in Article II between the conservation of marine Antarctic ecosystems and the rational use of marine living resources. It is for this reason that we have encouraged the Members of the Commission to reflect on the evolution and the future of the organisation, and we have proposed to maintain a dialogue about CCAMLR strategic priorities. It is what we did at the Valdivia Symposium in 2006 with Australia and again at the Santiago Symposium in 2015, in collaboration with Australia and the USA. These efforts should gain further momentum when we hold our 40th Meeting.

Today, more than ever, there are serious threats to the protection of Antarctica, which we cannot ignore. In this scenario, it is the duty of the Commission to take into account the rapid climatic evolution in the Convention Area and its effects on ecosystems and Antarctic fishing. To that effect, it is essential to recall the role of the Scientific Committee and how important it is to this Commission to use the best available science in its decision-making.

Therefore, we would like to reiterate the urgent need to have a document of strategic guidelines that will allow us to have a clear vision of what our priorities are and so avoid discussion of matters that are not the role of the Commission. With this purpose in mind, we propose the creation of an e-group aimed at reinforcing the treatment of these matters, thus paving the way to our 40th meeting, where we hope to be able to send a clear signal of unity as we face the expectations that we have been asked to fulfill regarding the protection of marine living resources and associated ecosystems.'

## 8.2 The United Kingdom made the following statement:

'CCAMLR is an intrinsic part of the Antarctic Treaty System. Its objective is conservation, where this also includes rational use. The Convention also commits all CCAMLR Members to not engage in any activities in the Antarctic Treaty area, contrary to the principles and purposes of that Treaty, which include freedom of scientific investigations and cooperation.

Cooperation on science is fundamental to the effective functioning of the Antarctic Treaty System. Too often, however, in the Scientific Committee of CCAMLR, the focus is shifting from consultation and co-operation concerning the collection, study and exchange of information, as envisaged in Article XV of our Convention, towards legal and procedural matters – moving from the substance to the process. This means that we are increasingly seeing participation in the Scientific Committee by those without appropriate scientific credentials and advice to the Commission littered with national statements, often introducing non-scientific considerations. This year has been particularly frustrating, as the Scientific Committee has actually been prevented from delivering its functions.

The key challenges we have before us to deliver our Convention objectives need to be addressed on the basis of the best available science, and on a precautionary basis. Our focus must be on conservation, yet increasingly we are seeing Members unwilling to fully engage in enhancing conservation measures – such as in relation to MPAs or the protection of marine areas newly exposed by ice shelf or collapse or glacial retreat – and focusing only on how much fish they can catch, whilst actually contributing very little science. The range of challenges before CCAMLR include climate change, where there are currently more unknowns than known and where a failure of CCAMLR to take precautionary steps and effective management of activities in the Convention Area could be catastrophic for the protection of the Antarctic environment.

This has obviously been a year of significant challenge for CCAMLR and consequently discussions have been necessarily curtailed and limited. However, CCAMLR has also come together and is conducting a series of very well administered virtual meetings. No one knows what next year will bring. CCAMLR cannot postpone the implementation of its objective any further because of procedural, technical or process reasons. Through truly embracing the spirit of cooperation envisaged under the Antarctic Treaty System, CCAMLR should be able to reinvigorate its work through the forthcoming intersessional period and plan for a full suite of meetings – physical or virtual – next year. There are a number of issues that must be addressed next year, including assessments, krill catch distribution and an expected report of SCAR on the Antarctic Environment and Climate Change. We hope these discussions will be informed by detailed scientific substance advice and encourage all Members to engage constructively this year.'

# 8.3 Belgium made the following statement:

'This year marks 40 years since the CAMLR Convention was signed. While we are of course looking forward to celebrations next year, we believe it is also an appropriate moment to reflect on where we stand today. Even more so in these unprecedented times where COVID-19 has obliged us to re-evaluate our priorities and to do things differently.

We have noticed that discussions tend to become more and more polarised every year while we all have the important and joint responsibility to conserve and safeguard Antarctica and Antarctic marine living resources for the generations after us. Therefore, we want to call on all Members to truly and genuinely adhere to the spirit of peace and collaboration of the Antarctic Treaty System and to step up our engagement and ability to cooperate and to reach consensus.

Five years ago, when I became the Belgian Commissioner for CCAMLR, the organisation was lauded for its cooperation and its ability to make difficult decisions and to reconcile different interests. Nowadays, I hear more and more whispers doubting this capability. Let me be very clear Mr Chair, colleagues, and reconfirm Belgium's strong commitment to the objective of the Convention, to maintaining CCAMLR's high standards, and to uphold the integrity of this organisation. The importance of respecting the Convention and the Rules of Procedure cannot be overestimated. In this regard we would like to reiterate that the proceedings of this year's meetings should be considered as exceptional and that they do not constitute any precedent for the future.

We would also like to emphasise the importance of the precautionary principle as well as the importance of the conservation of Antarctic biodiversity and ecosystems. Any sustainable use of marine living resources relies on these two principles. Therefore, adhering to Article II of the CAMLR Convention is essential for us. While we acknowledge that conservation includes rational use, we want to reiterate both go hand in hand and that the latter cannot be an end on itself.

As a Commission, we depend on the Scientific Committee to provide us with sound and robust advice based on the best available science to support our decision-making. We all agree that the Scientific Committee is an essential pillar of this organisation. For this to continue to be the case we need to provide the Scientific Committee with the necessary tools, time and independence to conduct its business as it sees fit and according to its own Rules of Procedure.

We must take measures to ensure that the Scientific Committee will be able to perform its task in the next intersessional period. Currently it is difficult to say how long COVID-19 restrictions will continue to be in place and to what extent. As such, we hope that we can agree on an approach that will allow the Scientific Committee to provide formal advice to the Commission regardless of any travel restrictions that may or may not be in place. While using an online platform may have its limitations, we note it provides an opportunity for much broader participation of scientists from a variety of Members. Extended use of online platforms may therefore enable more engagement of smaller delegations as well as provide a tool to reduce the need for international travel and associated emissions.

As we haven't done so before, we would like to use this opportunity to thank the Scientific Committee and its Chair for their hard work and efforts during the past intersessional period to advance the Committee's work and especially on the priority matters that were identified.'

# 8.4 New Zealand made the following statement:

'It is important that we mark and celebrate the occasion of the 40th anniversary of the adoption of the Convention (May 1980). We should celebrate that we have organised and held the regular meeting of CCAMLR in these extraordinary circumstances and celebrate that CCAMLR is a highly effective and intrinsic part of the Antarctic Treaty System, but we must not rest on our laurels. We have a responsibility to work proactively, and at pace, to continue to give effect to the objective of the Convention. This will require: (i) collaboration to ensure that we have a coherent and proactive approach to addressing the implications of climate change for the Antarctic marine environment; (ii) attending to our shared commitment to designate a representative network of MPAs; (iii) providing whatever support our Scientific Committee needs to do its work in the way that it sees fit, and to work collaboratively as scientific experts; (iv) we need to hold ourselves and each other to account, to implement our objective and uphold conservation measures; and (v) we must be prepared to continue to adapt to the new global situation where we cannot necessarily expect to meet in person, and continue the pace of our progress regardless.'

# 8.5 Australia made the following statement:

'The integrity of CCAMLR as a functional and effective part of the Antarctic Treaty System is of critical importance. This year the world has faced an unprecedented set of circumstances. We have had to pivot and change the way we do everything. In every aspect of our lives. We have all done things and achieved things in ways previously considered difficult or impossible. And as a Commission, we have proven that we have the tools to meet virtually and to conduct our business. It is how we utilise those tools that is important.

I would like to bring the Commission's attention to the 2019 Prague Declaration on the Occasion of the 60th Anniversary of the Antarctic Treaty. Almost every Member of this Commission signed onto that declaration as a Consultative Party to the Antarctic Treaty. Some components of that declaration that I would like to reflect on are as follows: the importance of ensuring the continuance of international harmony in Antarctica; the ability of the Antarctic Treaty System to evolve and adapt to addressing current and future challenges; the importance of drawing on the best scientific and technical advice available; the commitment to limit adverse impacts on the Antarctic environment and dependent and associated ecosystems; and the importance of CCAMLR as part of the Antarctic Treaty System.

Moving forward it is critical that as a Commission we continue to develop, promote and support measures that fulfil CCAMLR's conservation objective, and make management decisions (including adopting conservation measures and undertake activities) based on the rules adopted by CCAMLR, and consistent with CCAMLR's practice and obligations under Article IX of the Convention to use the best available science.

The future is uncertain. But what we know is that this Commission has an obligation to ensure the conservation of Antarctic marine living resources. We have a range of critical issues that we must address next year. These issues cannot wait. For that reason, we urge all Members to act in good faith to ensure that no matter what next year brings, that we engage constructively in the intersessional period and we resume our normal schedule of meetings. CCAMLR's ability to make important decisions that conserve Antarctic marine living resources while allowing rational use will be a testament to its strength in these challenging times.'

#### 8.6 Russia made the following statement:

'We would like to support the objectives and the tasks of the Commission and we would like to emphasise the importance that the Commission has as part of the Antarctic Treaty System. It is important for us to continue every effort to tackle those important strategic issues facing the Commission. We think that the idea of using our existing possibilities or tools including the intersessional work to the maximum should be used. We also would like to stress, as we did before on a number of occasions, our readiness and our interest in a substantive and progressive discussion.

Based on the norms of the Convention and the Antarctic Treaty and matters relating to the creation, the functioning and cessation of the so-called MPAs, we support and we consider it of principal importance, which is provided by Article II of the Convention, to have a balance between the conservation of the living marine resources and their rational use in Antarctic. We consider that one of the utmost conditions to ensure such a balance is, or would be, the efforts by the Commission and the Member States to get the best available science on the status or the conditions of the ecosystem in the Antarctic.

We share the concerns of those delegations that noted or remarked on the importance of stepping up and optimising all the efforts, including as part of the work of the Scientific Committee on obtaining such data. We think that international cooperation as part of the Antarctic Treaty and as part of the Commission is of principal importance and an important condition, a precondition for the implementation of the Convention's objectives.

Very briefly, we'd like to comment on the climate change issues. We think that the Commission must work in relation to this issue. Firstly, in strict accordance with its mandate as established by Article II of the Convention. It is important that the Commission in its practical work pays very serious attention to the matter of how such changes impact the state of the marine ecosystem in Antarctica. It is important to consider subitems A, B and C of the Convention. At the same time, we think it is important to draw your attention to the fact that such matters directly concern the mandate of the consultative meeting of the Antarctic Treaty and the Committee for Environmental Protection (CEP).

We would like to stress that as part of the dialogue which is held on systematic challenges to the Antarctic Treaty, Russia is chair of the informal working group which has been set up intersessionally. Climate change is one of the most serious challenges that we face. Following from that, we think it's important to establish close cooperation of the Commission with the ATCM as part of its mandate and with the CEP and with SCAR. It is indeed on the basis of the data and the documents of those meetings the Commission would have a reliable basis for assessing the situation as part of its mandate.'

# 8.7 China made the following statement:

'China attaches great importance to the objective of the Convention which is enshrined in Article II. We have three points to make. First, our work on conservation of marine resources should be aligned with the Agenda for Sustainable Development. We recognise that conservation of marine resources provides basic guarantees and stronger impetus for implementation of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), including poverty reduction, job creation, food security, the enhancement of health and et cetera. The realisation of SDGs also contributes to improve and enhance the effectiveness of the conservation of marine resources.

Second, we should uphold freedom of scientific research and investigation in the Antarctic and to further consolidate the scientific foundation for its protection and utilisation. We need to focus our efforts on making better plans for scientific research and building stronger capacity of investigation and learning. Our priority should be basing our policy making on sound scientific research and its finding.

Third, we should stress equal-footed consultation and mutual benefit and stick to the spirit of cooperation of Antarctic. We should cherish our tradition of cooperation.'

# 8.8 Argentina made the following statement:

'We yearn for the possibility of a frank face-to-face conversation in Hobart that can allow us to advance issues which are the very essence and objectives of this Commission and of our presence and functions within it.

For moments this delegation truly feels that we tend to lose our way. When at a meeting we cannot reach agreement with respect to the scientific advice it requires; or the ways in which it should be elaborated and provided by the Scientific Committee so that we may adopt measures that allow us to preserve the ecosystem; or the way in which its Standing Committees should session. When we are unable to reach consensus regarding how to undertake scientific research in newly exposed sites after thousands of years of being covered by ice-shelves. When we are unable to agree on identifying Member non-compliance of conservation measures. When we cannot move forward on central concerning issues like spatial management and the definition or establishment of MPAs or on how to address the impacts of climate change.

The pandemic has put us before unprecedented challenges regarding the need to conduct our business in a virtual manner. That challenge, that due to technological complications and time differences would limit the time available for our agenda, was faced with some attitudes that do not align with the spirit of cooperation enshrined in the Antarctic Treaty, which should drive us all. We cannot fail in this task as this will affect this organisation's reputation.

Having seen that even with its shortcomings, the virtual systems used have allowed us some kind of dialogue and exchanges, and in view of the uncertainties which still lurk over what may happen next year or how we may need to conduct our business, we suggest and hope that we may agree to a further use of these technologies to advance the intersessional work and agenda of the Scientific Committee and its working groups, or even of our Commission. It's probable we will need clearer rules for its operation. Let us start work early on towards that goal. But let's not misuse this moment, which ultimately is also an opportunity to improve the way we work, particularly by facilitating participation of delegations that are not always able to do so.

Finally, we hope that the situation in which we find ourselves this year will allow us to seriously reflect during the intersessional period as to the type of organisation we want to be and allow us to have more clarity as to the subject of this very agenda item "Objectives of the Convention", that is, what are the true objectives of our Convention and the functions of this Commission. We hope that while enabling us to reach new points of understanding, the 40th Commission Meeting in 2021 will allow us to be more satisfied with our work, by achieving concrete progress on the main topics on our agenda.'

# 8.9 Ecuador made the following statement:

'Ecuador thanks and recognises all the Member countries of this organisation for their effort to have the fisheries in the Convention Area with sustainable exploitation, through the information that is reviewed in the meetings of the Scientific Committee and management measures in plenary meetings. Ecuador began a research fishing activity in a public—private partnership in jurisdictional waters in June 2017 in order to establish

the distribution, abundance, and biological aspects of Patagonian toothfish (Dissostichus eleginoides) in Ecuadorian waters, with successful results by the fishing vessel Belle (TRN = 39). In 2020, it has started its second phase with the vessel Daichi Maru No. 25 (TRN = 134) in island waters of the Galapagos. This research project will run until 2022 and the possibility of opening the fishery will be determined, under parameters of sustainability, precautionary principle and ecosystem approach. Since the acceptance of Ecuador under the status of Cooperating Non-Contracting Party with CCAMLR in October 2018, we received the visit of two CCAMLR technicians, specialists in the Dissostichus spp. Catch Certification System (e-CDS), to carry out in February 2019, a capacity building workshop for the public and private sectors, which included the Ecuadorian scientific, customs, maritime and fisheries administrations, to highlight the importance of having an inclusive resource traceability protocol as a deterrent to combat IUU fishing. Likewise, in the month of August 2019, we had the visit of the Executive Secretary, Dr David Agnew, who explained the protocols at the Commission level for accessing and ratifying the Convention upon acceptance as a Member of CCAMLR. It is allowed to inform that the internal legal procedures have been initiated in Ecuador, for the adhesion to the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources, which advances according to the national guidelines for the ratification of international instruments, in order to become a full Member of CCAMLR.'

8.10 The Commission agreed to establish an e-group aimed at facilitating discussions on reinforcing the objective of the Convention, to pave the way for the Commission's 40th meeting, where the Commission may wish to send a clear signal of unity and cooperation to fulfil its obligations for the conservation of Antarctic marine living resources.

# 8.11 ASOC made the following statement:

'ASOC is again disappointed to see a lack of progress towards conservation at this year's CCAMLR meeting. We commend Members for holding a meeting in difficult circumstances, but regret that not all Members were willing to use this opportunity to advance the objective of the Convention. CCAMLR Members must adopt meaningful conservation measures that strengthen ecosystem resilience in the Southern Ocean.

MPAs are a nature-based solution in response to climate change and the biodiversity crisis. The proposed system of MPAs will safeguard Antarctic species and habitats by reducing anthropogenic pressure and providing space for nature to adapt to the accelerating effects of climate change. CCAMLR should make progress on this by adopting the East Antarctic, Weddell Sea and Domain 1 MPAs.

With new research highlighting the impact of the concentrated krill fishery on penguins in the Antarctic Peninsula, it is imperative the Scientific Committee is able to do its work to complete the krill fisheries management work plan.

The way CCAMLR manages fisheries needs to change in order to take better account of climate change information to ensure CCAMLR's conservation principles continue to be met.

ASOC calls on CCAMLR Members to use the intersessional period to engage and prepare at the appropriate levels to ensure CCAMLR 40 can contribute to the extraordinary historic legacy of Antarctic multilateralism and global cooperation.

Together we have the solutions and the commitment to conserve the Southern Ocean and its iconic wildlife. As leaders have done before when they established the Antarctic Treaty System, you can and must choose to collaborate in good faith, and to uphold CCAMLR's leadership for the long-term benefit of people and nature.'

# Spatial management

8.12 The Commission noted the discussion by the Scientific Committee (SC-CAMLR-39, paragraphs 3.11 to 3.15) regarding the proposal to designate the newly exposed marine area adjacent to Pine Island Glacier (Subarea 88.3) as a Stage 2 Special Area for Scientific Study (SASS). The Commission could not reach agreement on this proposal, nor on the suggestion to extend the period of the Stage 1 designation for an additional year. The Commission noted that the Stage 1 SASS expires 31 May 2021 and encouraged proponents to submit a proposal for redesignation of a Stage 1 SASS.

### 8.13 The UK made the following statement:

'CM 24-04 provides a two-stage approach for the establishment of time-limited Special Areas for Scientific Study in newly exposed marine areas following ice-shelf retreat or collapse. Stage 1, lasting two years, automatically occurs following notification of a newly exposed marine area. Stage 2, lasting 10 years, occurs after review of the necessary detailed information on the extent and characteristics of the Special Area.

In the case of the Pine Island Glacier, the Secretariat was notified about the dramatic retreat on 1 June 2019, and CCAMLR-38/20 was submitted to CCAMLR, outlining the extent and rate of retreat as required under CM 24-04. Last year, the Scientific Committee agreed this was an area of significant scientific value. However, in response to requests by two Members, further information – above and beyond what was required under CM 24-04 – was provided to WG-EMM and the Scientific Committee in SC-CAMLR-39/02.

The purpose of CM 24-04 is to enable scientific research in areas that are likely to reveal new and important scientific information about a range of ecological processes. Moving to Stage 2 for the Pine Island Glacier marine area should be a straightforward process, yet the reasons put forward are that there is insufficient evidence. To this, and other delegations, this is somewhat ironic.

Scientific interest in these areas is high, as demonstrated by the three major cruises which set out to study the marine area exposed near the Larsen C ice-shelf in 2018, and the planned German cruise to Pine Island Bay in 2024. In the case of Pine Island, there is therefore already established scientific interest. Further, there is also a multi-national multi-year study of the neighbouring Thwaites Glacier, which is also experiencing retreat.

We could have agreed to extend the Stage 1 designation for another year, but it seems even that will be tricky to achieve here. No counter scientific evidence has been tabled or demonstrated that would justify a conclusion that this marine area is not of high scientific importance. If indeed there is no consensus, the designation of this highly important and significant marine area will expire before the Commission meets again,

leaving the area without any special recognition of its scientific importance. This is extremely disappointing and will send another signal from CCAMLR to the Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting that it is not able to prioritise science or conservation.'

# 8.14 Sweden made the following statement:

'Sweden would like to thank the UK for its hard work providing additional information on the proposed designation of Pine Island Glacier as a Stage 2 Special Area for Scientific Study, in line with the comments and requests at last year's meeting.

The Scientific Committee agreed that the area is of significant scientific value, for example to understand changes in the benthic communities after exposure when ice shelves are lost and should therefore be protected from other activities than scientific studies. Several projects have already been planned, however, there is an urgent need to ensure long-term protection of the area to enable, facilitate and encourage long-term research activities to be undertaken in the region. Since such research activities are large scale and resource demanding, they will often require several years of studies before results can be expected.

We consider that the area meets the criteria for designation of a Stage 2 Special Area set out in paragraph 2 of CM 24-04, and we fully support the adoption of the proposal by the Commission.'

8.15 Many Members supported the statements by the UK and Sweden, noting the purpose of CM 24-04 is to enable scientific research in areas likely to reveal new and important scientific information, and that Pine Island is an area of high scientific interest with many Antarctic programs intending to conduct research there in the near future.

General issues related to spatial management

8.16 The EU, its member States and the UK, Argentina, Australia, Chile, New Zealand, Norway, Uruguay, and the USA made the following statement:

'The Southern Ocean supports unique ecosystems and sustains marine biodiversity. MPAs, such as the large-scale MPAs under consideration by CCAMLR, conserve marine biodiversity, maintain ecosystems and build ocean resilience. They also play an important role in sustaining the key life-history stages of harvested species and protecting vulnerable areas from adverse impacts of human activities.

MPAs are a critical component of the CCAMLR conservation and management system in furthering the objective of the Convention. In 2009, CCAMLR committed itself to establishing a representative system of MPAs in the Convention Area by 2012. Eight years after this deadline has passed, while CCAMLR still has not delivered on this commitment, we have adopted two MPAs to date. We note that there are currently three proposals for new MPAs under consideration by CCAMLR, notably in East Antarctica, in the Weddell Sea and in the Western Antarctic Peninsula and South Scotia Arc. We have a strong scientific foundation to underpin these.

Due to the exceptional and unprecedented circumstances brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic, CCAMLR-39 is taking place in a virtual format and with a reduced agenda. In a spirit of compromise, proposals to establish new MPAs will be exceptionally discussed under the agenda item "Other business" rather than as a self-standing agenda item, as has been CCAMLR's practice to date.

These arrangements do not reflect the importance CCAMLR attaches to MPAs and should not be considered a precedent for future discussions. Rather, we note that the format of this year's meeting is not conducive to building consensus on such an important and complex issue. We believe that MPAs should remain at the centre of CCAMLR's work and deliberations going forward.

We therefore remain committed to progressing work on the MPA proposals with the objective of making substantial progress towards their adoption at CCAMLR-40. It would be a fitting way to celebrate the 40th meeting of the Commission. We stress the need for continued momentum and constructive engagement in the intersessional period in a spirit of openness and compromise so that we can deliver on our shared responsibility and commitment to protect the Southern Ocean for present and future generations.'

### 8.17 Spain made the following statement:

'Spain wishes to express its support for the joint statement by the EU and its member States regarding the issue of Antarctic MPAs.

Before delving into that matter, though, I would like to bring the focus to the global agenda of our times, which requires harmonised action for those matters that concern us all. Spain is all for bold multilateral action and supports joint and cooperative action to tackle shared endeavours.

Spain wishes to thank and congratulate the authors of the MPA proposals for East Antarctica, Weddell Sea and Domain 1 for their effort and relentless work towards submitting the required information for those areas to be adopted and integrated in the network of such areas envisioned in the Convention for the Conservation of the Antarctic Marine Living Resources.

The creation of those Antarctic MPAs is the best example of our countries' international diplomacy, science and effort to preserve biodiversity and to cooperate towards the mitigation of the effects of climate change.

Approximately 10% of Spanish domestic waters are nationally established MPAs, and in this spirit, Spain has supported the creation of the above-mentioned MPAs from the outset. We are aware of the need to protect Antarctic marine living resources.

Also, Spain, like so many other countries, has committed to protect 30% of its land and sea ecosystems by 2030. Working together in the Antarctic region is the duty of our generation. For this reason: (i) first, Spain encourages the authors of the proposals to continue with their work. We feel a strong commitment to that work, so they can all count on our active and constructive cooperation. We would like to express our complete willingness to cooperate with the authors by means of making available to them our

scientific, technical and diplomatic capabilities wherever they may be considered useful and whenever they are deemed required – all with the aim to achieve the objectives stated in the Convention; (ii) also, Spain aspires to drive the achievement of our shared objectives by curating spaces for holding negotiations intersessionally.

2021 will be a special year in which we will commemorate both the 40th anniversary of the Convention for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources and the 30th anniversary of the Madrid Protocol for the environmental protection of Antarctica. Spain wishes to contribute with mobilising initiatives to a growing understanding that allows us to take decisive steps towards the protection of Antarctica.'

### 8.18 The USA made the following statement:

'The USA was pleased to join the statement on MPAs read out by the EU. We had very much hoped that this year we could make significant progress on CCAMLR MPAs. It wasn't just the pandemic that got in way of that, but a continuing lack of full support for the effort. We hope that during the coming year we can revive our mutual efforts intersessionally. We continue to emphasise the importance of implementing the existing CCAMLR MPAs, including, in particular, undertaking science within the MPAs. In the USA, we've been supporting substantial and important research relevant to MPAs, including research initiated after the existing CCAMLR MPAs entered into force (e.g. SC-CAMLR-39/BG/17). We hope that all Members can find the will to agree on the RSRMPA Research and Monitoring Plan (RMP), which fully meets the criteria of CM 91-04 and was already endorsed by the Scientific Committee. In our view, there is no reason to delay agreement on the RMP; in any event, science in the MPAs continues, and we appreciate the work being done by many Members in that respect. Finally, I want to encourage the proponents of the current MPA proposals to continue their efforts. That is hard to do, in particular when the pandemic prevents important meetings, but we fully support the efforts of scientists and others to advance their work, and trust that there will be new MPAs to celebrate in the near future.'

### Review of proposals for new MPAs

- 8.19 The Commission noted proposals to establish MPAs in Domain 1 (CCAMLR-39/08 Rev. 1), the East Antarctic (CCAMLR-39/07 Rev. 1) and in the Weddell Sea region (CCAMLR-39/06 Rev. 1). Many Members thanked the proponents for their work and revised and updated proposals.
- 8.20 Argentina presented a revised proposal for a conservation measure establishing a Marine Protected Area in Domain 1:

'Jointly with our colleagues from Chile, we have submitted a revised version of the MPA proposal for Domain 1 already submitted in 2019. The proposal revolves around three main themes deserving attention.

First, the model submitted with the 2019 proposal is a simplified model. Those changes are related to the outstanding points mentioned at the 37th meeting (2018) of the Scientific Committee and to the evolution of the strategy for managing the fisheries in Subareas 48.1 and 48.2. In this respect, the proponents deem it essential to point out that

both the fisheries management strategy and the marine protected areas are a priority for CCAMLR and that one should not move forward in disregard of the other.

The MPA proposal for Domain 1 protects important areas of the ecosystem – with important areas for the life cycle of predators throughout the year and important sites for the life cycle of Antarctic krill as outstanding features – thus guaranteeing the observation of Article II of the Convention. Parallel to that, the proposal allows for the redistribution of fishing (catch allocation) and aims to minimise the higher concentration of krill fishing in time and space. It is also a fact acknowledged by all that the largest impact of climate change in Antarctica is being recorded in the very region of the Antarctic Peninsula. It is a region very much impacted by the melting of ice and glacial retreat and those effects are already having a very direct impact on the size and distribution of krill populations.

The Delegations of Argentina and Chile reaffirm their commitment to elaborate MPA proposals in an open, transparent and cooperative manner, a process attested to by the workshops organised, the creation of the expert panel and the incorporation of Members' comments. The MPAs in the Convention Area are the result of work carried out collectively and their implementation will ultimately be the responsibility of all of us.'

- 8.21 The EU and its member States, Norway, Australia and Uruguay presented a revised proposal for the Weddell Sea MPA (WSMPA) Phase 1 for consideration, noting Uruguay and Australia have joined as co-proponents of the proposal in the previous intersessional period. They noted that the proposal presented at CCAMLR-38 regarding a two-phased approach is based on the best available science, and that data compiled and analysed for Phase 1 has been made available to the scientific community. Intersessionally, the proponents led by Norway and in close cooperation with other CCAMLR Members have been progressing on the identification and collation of additional environmental and ecological data for the planning area of Phase 2. The development of the WSMPA Phase 2 proposal is ongoing and its progress will continue to ensure that the areas to be protected, the objectives, management measures and the research and monitoring requirements will be complementary, coherent and seamlessly integrate with those in the WSMPA Phase 1 proposal. The WSMPA proposal has been developed taking into consideration potential climate change impacts on Antarctic marine living resources across Planning Domains 3 and 4.
- 8.22 The EU and its Members states, Australia, Uruguay and Norway presented a proposal to establish an East Antarctic Marine Protected Area, noting Uruguay and Norway have joined as co-proponents of the proposal in the previous intersessional period. They noted that this proposal was first presented to the Commission in 2012, and that the proposal had incorporated feedback from other Members, was based on the best available science and had benefitted from continued data collection by Members. They further noted that the EAMPA proposal has been developed taking into consideration potential climate change impacts on Antarctic marine living resources across the East Antarctic Planning Domain. The co-proponents recommend the East Antarctic MPA proposal for adoption.

### 8.23 Sweden made the following statement:

'Sweden supports the joint statement by the EU and its member States, MPA-proponents and others. We think that it is important to create MPAs to reduce stresses from human activities that have an impact on the ecosystem, so that species and ecosystems can

increase resilience to climate change and continue to deliver the ecosystem services that we depend on in the long term. Sweden considers that MPAs are key for the conservation of biodiversity and ecosystems, including their functions and ecosystem services which is the prerequisite for any rational use. We also consider MPAs to be an essential area-based management tool that together with other effective area-based conservation measures and fisheries regulations constitute a good toolbox for an effective and integrated ecosystem-based management of the Southern Ocean. With that said, we hope to have good progress on the three MPA proposals in the coming year.'

### 8.24 Uruguay made the following statement:

'Please, allow me first to extend congratulations from my Delegation for the leadership shown in conducting this 39th meeting of the Commission. MPAs are one of the most important conservation measures promoted under the purview of the Commission. Uruguay has, for some years now, stated its support for their development. Thus, bearing in mind the opportunity represented by the EU proposals for the establishment of MPAs in East Antarctica and in the Weddell Sea (phase 1), we wish to state our appreciation for the great work done by the EU and thank them for it. Therefore, we support and co-sponsor both proposals.'

# 8.25 Germany made the following statement:

'Germany would like to highlight the importance of MPAs. The issue of MPAs is not only important for the German government but also for the German Parliament "German Bundestag" – which has recently adopted a political decision on MPAs. On the Weddell Sea MPA proposal of the EU and its member States, which was again submitted this year, no changes of substance have been made in comparison to the proposal which was submitted to CCAMLR-38 last year. Germany is grateful to other CCAMLR Members who have joined the proposal – Norway last year, Australia and Uruguay this year. This shows the importance of MPAs. The Weddell Sea MPA proposal is based on best available science and therefore fully in line with the requirements of CM 91-04. Nevertheless, the scientific work on Phase 1 is continuing, being led by scientists of the German Alfred Wegener Institute. On Phase 2 Norway is progressing its scientific work in close cooperation with our scientists. Supporting the overall statement on MPAs expressed by the EU, we hope to make good and substantial progress during the upcoming months towards the adoption of MPA proposals in general and the Weddell Sea MPA proposal during CCAMLR-40 next year. The proposals are ready for adoption!'

### 8.26 Poland made the following statement:

'Poland fully supports the joined statement made by the EU and its member States and co-proponents, which joined this year. We would like to underline the importance of the establishing MPAs, one of the most important topics on the agenda of CCAMLR every year. MPAs are the main pillar for protecting marine living resources in the CAMLR Convention Area to preserve biological diversity and protect species living in the Antarctic area. The Antarctic MPAs are examples for creating similar protected areas around the world. It also shows huge cooperation between scientists from different countries, which Poland really appreciates. CCAMLR has succeeded in many matters regarding protection of marine living resources, achieving a consensus. But after many

years of negotiations, the three proposals based on the best available science are still on the table, waiting for adoption. Poland hopes that during this intersessional time, working together on achieving this goal, next year, in the anniversary session, the MPA will be established.'

# 8.27 France made the following statement:

'We fully support the statement by the EU. MPAs are essential for the protection of the unique and fragile ecosystems of the Southern Ocean, and they maintain the capacity of those ecosystems to adapt to the impacts of climate change. There is an urgent need for CCAMLR to establish a representative network of MPAs following its commitment to do so in 2008. We wish to reiterate CCAMLR's authority in the matter.

This Delegation is particularly involved in the Eastern Antarctica MPA project. This is the eighth consecutive year that the project has been submitted to the Commission for adoption. It is fully in line with the conservation objectives set out in Article II of the Convention, moreover, the Scientific Committee considered in 2011 that this MPA proposal was based on the best available science, which it reaffirmed in 2013.

Three robust MPA proposals are available today and we hope that Members of the Convention will continue the discussions during the intersessional period, to progress towards reaching our common goals, and that we can extend the network of MPAs in the Southern Ocean in the near future.'

### 8.28 Ukraine made the following statement:

'Ukraine notes the hard work done by Members who have initiated proposals for the establishment of new MPAs. CCAMLR has already demonstrated its ability to achieve outstanding results in this field of endeavour, in particular, by coming to agreement on the creation of the large MPA in the Ross Sea. We express our support for the continuation of the Commission's work in this direction in order to achieve the objectives of the Convention. Ukraine confirms the full support it expressed earlier for the implementation of the draft East Antarctic MPA proposal, and we express our willingness to cooperate towards the expeditious harmonisation of parties' positions in a constructive and transparent manner in order to implement the Weddell Sea and Domain 1 MPA proposals in the next few years. We would also like to note that Ukraine intends to complete in the near future preparatory work on a draft ASPA proposal, which includes a marine component, in the Argentine Islands Archipelago. We plan to present a research and monitoring plan for this ASPA at the CCAMLR meeting in 2021.'

# 8.29 Russia made the following statement

'Russia noted that the designation of a representative system of MPAs is one of the most important and urgent parts of CCAMLR activity. Russia, in a spirit of cooperation, actively participates in the development of scientifically based measures aimed at conservation of marine biological resources and unique ecosystems in Antarctica. Over the past five years, the Russian Delegation has submitted at CCAMLR sessions a number of papers reflecting its position and proposals on designation of MPAs in the CCAMLR area.

We consider it of principal importance that the designation of MPAs should be consistent with spatial management on the basis of balance between conservation and rational use of the living marine resources in the Antarctic.

We have carefully reviewed the proposals to establish MPAs in Domain 1 (CCAMLR-39/08 Rev. 1), the East Antarctic (CCAMLR-39/07 Rev. 1) and in the Weddell Sea region (CCAMLR-39/06 Rev. 1) and note that these proposals have not undergone any significant changes since last year. There are still a number of unresolved scientific issues regarding the baseline data for the scientific justification and planning of MPAs (including goals, objectives, boundaries, monitoring and research plan, indicators and measures for monitoring and effectiveness of MPAs). We especially note the lack of justification regarding the necessity and urgency of establishing MPAs, including the mechanism and space—time scales of existing or potential threats to living resources and ecosystems. Our comments regarding the proposals for the establishment of the above mentioned MPAs remain outside the field of vision of the proponents.

Taking into account the above we do not support the proposals for establishing MPAs in Domain 1 (CCAMLR-39/08 Rev. 1), the East Antarctic (CCAMLR-39/07 Rev. 1) and in the Weddell Sea region (CCAMLR-39/06 Rev. 1) in the existing versions.

In our opinion, the procedural aspects of the designation of MPAs and a regulated and unified process to assist in developing the rationale for the establishment of any MPA are necessary. We recalled that there is currently no agreed international definition of an MPA as a key element for establishing the legal basis for the Commission's activities with regard to the designation of such areas in the CCAMLR area. Neither the Convention, nor CM 91-04, contains such a definition. Russia noted that CM 91-04 is brief and does not contain enough procedural and implementation measures to manage a unified process for designating MPAs. The results of repeated discussions on spatial management issues in the Convention Area showed the absence of a solid and transparent basis for the establishment of MPAs.

Russia provided proposals for a regulated and unified process for developing the establishment of any effective MPA in the CCAMLR area (CCAMLR-38/30). The Scientific Committee and Commission to endorse for mandatory implementation an MPA checklist based on one previously proposed by Japan (CCAMLR-XXXIV/19) as a basis for determining a unified approach and criteria for designating MPAs in the Convention Area. This MPA checklist could be approved as Annex 1 to CM 91-04. We propose to add the following paragraph to CM 91-04: "MPAs may be designated on the basis of the best available data, which must be sufficient to provide a scientific rationale for designating an MPA in a specific area."

Russia proposes to develop an agreed definition of the term "MPA", which may be designated in the CAMLR Convention Area, without prejudice to the provisions of the UN Convention on the Law of the Sea 1982.

Last year, Russia made an attempt to create a platform for discussion and development of a document regulating unified requirements for the establishment of MPAs. Unfortunately, these initiatives were not supported. We are ready to continue the dialogue and take part in joint activity with the Member States to establish a

representative system of MPAs in the Convention Area on the basis of a previously developed document regulating uniform requirements for the establishment of MPAs.'

### 8.30 Belgium made the following statement:

'Belgium fully aligns with the intervention made by the EU on behalf of the coproponents of the different MPA proposals. We also fully support the intervention made by Sweden and other Members highlighting the importance of marine biodiversity and ecosystems, not only for Antarctica but for our blue planet and for all of us.

Belgium would like to point out the overall importance of Agenda 2030 and the SDGs, and more specifically SDG14. This is why Belgium is a proud supporter of the 30x30 Initiative.

Belgium would like to express its support for the designation of the newly exposed marine area adjacent to Pine Island Glacier (Subarea 88.3) as a Stage 2 SASS. Assigning a Stage 2 status will ensure that highly relevant research on benthic ecology and evolution and past climate can take place in this region. This requires a multidisciplinary approach including physical processes as outlined in CM 24-04. We would like to underline that the goal of the assignment of Stage 2 is to ensure that the necessary research can be developed and conducted in areas that are newly available for research. We encourage all Members to designate the Stage 2 status and to work together on this and to continue development of plans for study in these regions.'

### 8.31 China made the following statement:

'I would like to thank the proponents of MPA proposals for their continuous endeavours in the conservation of marine living resources.

At the 38th meeting of the Commission last year, Members have discussed proposals, but since then, no significant progress has been made. We express our concerns and made some proposals regarding different MPAs proposals in previous meetings. Those concerns are still there.

In general, we are supportive to establish MPAs in accordance with international law and on the basis of sound scientific evidence, while balancing the conservation and reasonable use of Antarctic marine living resources. MPAs are one type of conservation measures to give effect to both the objective and the principles of the Convention, rather than an objective per se.

In the past 10 years, we have made great progress by establishing the first and the biggest MPAs on the high seas while leaving a series of issues behind us. For example, critical issues in the designation and consideration of MPA proposals, RMPs and etc.

In the past two years, the Scientific Committee has considered the technical aspects of RMPs and the baseline data constructively and agreed on opportunities for further discussion on this issue to enhance mutual understanding. This, in our view, sets a very good start for our future work in this regard. China will continue to participate in future discussion actively and constructively, and move in the same direction with our colleagues and jointly demonstrating to the international community our determination for marine conservation.'

# 8.32 The UK made the following statement:

'The UK would like the record to show that we also support the statement read out by the EU. The UK is obviously in support of the East Antarctica and Weddell Sea MPA proposals as we have stated over many previous years. We will also continue to support work on the Domain 1 MPA proposal.'

### 8.33 Brazil made the following statement:

'I would just like to register that Brazil has been invited by the EU to participate as cosponsor on both MPA submissions. The necessary internal consultations were made, and the Ministry of External Relations had positive reactions, but unfortunately not in time for Brazil to reply favourably to the European part. In any case, I would like to express my country's full support to the initiatives. We appreciate the efforts made by all parties involved in these proposals.'

# 8.34 Korea made the following statement:

'Korea expressed its support for proposals to establish the WSMPA and EAMPA noting that given the lasting discussion the Members had on this issue, it is now appropriate for the Commission to adopt them.'

8.35 The Delegations of New Zealand and the USA also expressed their support for the three MPA proposals presented to CCAMLR-39 and thanked the proponents for their work.

Impacts of climate change on the conservation of Antarctic marine living resources

8.36 The Commission noted the discussion by the Scientific Committee (SC-CAMLR-39, paragraph 3.18) on climate change, and welcomed the intent to develop new terms of reference for the climate change e-group in order to further development of mechanisms to ensure the latest climate change research is integrated into the work of the Scientific Committee and considered in the development of management advice for the Commission.

### 8.37 The UK made the following statement:

'Over the past decades, global warming has led to widespread changes in both the physical and biological environment, including within that region of our planet managed under this Convention. This year saw the highest ever temperature of 18.3°C (64.9°F) recorded on the Antarctica Peninsula, clear evidence of change and the fact that management must be responsive if CCAMLR is to fulfil its objective and obligations.

As such the Scientific Committee has recognised the importance of integrating relevant climate change research into its work in order that it can provide advice that ensures management is responsive to the effects of climate change on Antarctic marine living resources. The Commission has also recognised the urgency of appropriate management responses to climate change.

The basis of good management is object evidence – science. This is in keeping with the principles and objectives of the Antarctic Treaty System, which are indeed science and

scientific cooperation. The ever-increasing mountain of peer-reviewed scientific evidence available from the IPCC, SCAR, SOOS and from work undertaken by CCAMLR Members is now incontrovertible. The Antarctic marine ecosystem and therefore marine living resources are now facing unprecedented challenges. At present the future is not clear, but what is clear, is that CCAMLR must respond to this challenge – now.

There is an ever-increasing spotlight on the climate change implications on Antarctica and the warming of the Southern Ocean – this spotlight will burn even brighter next year as CCAMLR will meet just prior to the Parties to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change in Glasgow. It's vital that the Antarctic Treaty System demonstrates that it is seized of, and dealing with, the implications of climate change on the conservation and protection of Antarctica.

On many occasions, this Delegation, along with many others, has pressed the Commission to address this challenge with serious action, as it remains amongst the most important now facing the Antarctic. Future generations will look back with horror if we do not take action on this issue. Again, at this meeting, we ask Members to work together in the spirit of cooperation in order to address climate change.

We must empower our scientists to provide us with advice. We must listen to them, including through the SCAR lecture next year, and we must respond with a concrete plan of action.'

## 8.38 Norway made the following statement:

'The impacts of climate change represent some of the gravest management challenges facing CCAMLR. According to the special report from the IPCC on the Ocean and the Cryosphere in a Changing Climate, the Southern Ocean ecosystem is likely to be increasingly affected by climate change and ocean acidification.

CCAMLR will find it challenging to implement an effective, adaptive, ecosystem-based approach to management without taking into consideration global warming and its effect on the distribution and abundance of krill, other harvested species, and those species that depend on them. Rapid changes in the ecosystem conditions will affect fisheries strategies and CCAMLR must show capacity to adapt to changes in factors such as species composition, distribution and abundance.

Effective responses require management regimes that can develop and utilise scientific knowledge, adopt regulations that maintain fishing activities to sustainable levels, and enforce its regulations. This emphasises the importance of establishing a dynamic management system using the establishment of a combined FBM system and network of MPAs as tools for developing a sustainable fishery that neither impacts negatively on the fishery resource stock or other levels of the food chain.

CCAMLR and its Member States should acknowledge this, and actively work to integrate the scientific information on climate change and its impacts on Antarctic marine living resources.

In CCAMLR, we base conservation measures on the best available scientific information. Therefore, discussions on the implications of climate change should not be

limited to the Scientific Committee, with just routine reporting to the plenary. It needs to be mainstreamed fully into the work of the Commission so that it is reflected in future conservation measures.

Regretfully, the COVID-19 pandemic and the format of this year's meetings has not allowed for SCAR to report to us on the state of knowledge pertaining to climate change and its implications for the Southern Ocean as agreed in CCAMLR-38. Norway strongly recommends that we give priority to this issue next year. At that time, the forthcoming decadal update to the original ACCE report will also provide information on advances in understanding of climate change across Antarctica and the Southern Ocean, and its impacts.

This year, Norway would like to draw your attention to two reports presented to the Scientific Committee this year, namely SC-CAMLR-39/BG/12 on the findings of the IPCC-SROCC, what they mean for CCAMLR and SC-CAMLR-39/BG/03 presenting recommendations on how relevant scientific outputs on climate change should be identified and integrated into the work of the Scientific Committee and its working groups.

Norway encourages the Scientific Committee to continue these efforts and supports its recommendations to reinstate the climate change e-group, and the further development of mechanisms to facilitate appropriate management advice.

Norway strongly recommends all delegations to consider these two reports from the Scientific Committee, engage actively in intersessional work on climate change, and meet well prepared for discussions next year that moves us forward in integrating and understanding climate change in the context of CCAMLR work.'

### 8.39 The EU and its member States made the following statement:

'The EU and its member States would like to reiterate their firm commitment to addressing the global challenges that we are all facing due to climate change as well as their deep concern regarding the extreme urgency of strengthening the global response to climate change. Climate change, biodiversity loss and ocean degradation and depletion are strongly interconnected. That is why we are working towards climate neutrality by 2050. We are grateful that several other Members around this virtual table share this ambition.

The arrangements agreed for CCAMLR-39 to exceptionally discuss this important issue under the agenda item "Other business" should in no way constitute a precedent for future discussions.

The Southern Ocean is the thermal regulator of the planet thanks to its circumpolar current and, as such, plays a major role in the global climate system. The IPBES Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services identified climate change as one of the major drivers for the loss of biodiversity. The impacts of climate change are already visible, not only in the Convention Area, but across the globe. Indeed, the changes occurring in the Antarctic Peninsula, where record temperatures above 20°C were recorded during the last austral summer, show that these impacts are real and that they are accelerating.

In this regard, the Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change highlighted that large-scale MPAs, such as those under consideration by CCAMLR, conserve marine biodiversity, maintain ecosystems and build ocean resilience against the impacts of climate change.

We consider it of utmost importance that climate change considerations are integrated into the work of the Scientific Committee and that they are taken into account in the development of management advice. We therefore fully support the decision of the Scientific Committee to establish an e-group for enhanced consideration of climate change impacts within CCAMLR and we look forward to receiving the advice from this group next year.

Finally, we recall the decision of the Commission at CCAMLR-38 to invite SCAR to present the substantive decadal review of the Antarctic Climate Change and the Environment (ACCE) Report next year. It will be important to set aside sufficient time for this at CCAMLR-40. We hope that the review will form the basis for future discussions on concrete and practical ways to progress climate change-related work within the Commission and to include climate change considerations in its deliberations. The EU and its member States stand ready to engage constructively in these future discussions.'

# 8.40 China made the following statement:

'Given its unique geographical location and ecological environment, Antarctica has high importance for global climate change, human survival and development. Also, Antarctica is especially vulnerable to external impacts. China appreciates the fruitful discussion and hard work of the Scientific Committee in this difficult time and we support the Scientific Committee to conduct and strengthen its research on the impact of climate change. We believe that the impact of climate change on the Antarctic environment and biodiversity should be evaluated in an objective manner. The evaluation should be strengthened. Corresponding measures should be taken on the basis of solid scientific evidence. Considering that it is a very complex and cross-cutting issue, we recommend that the Members include their experts on climate change into the Scientific Committee to carry out in-depth study on the impact of climate change.'

### 8.41 Korea made the following statement:

'Korea highlighted the vulnerability of the Southern Ocean from the impacts of the climate change and the needs for the Commission to pay close attention and cooperate to address the impacts while expressing its appreciation to SCAR for its work on the issue.'

### 8.42 SCAR made the following statement:

'SCAR would like to draw the attention of the Commission to SC-CAMLR-39/BG/22, which presents an update on climate change research relevant to the work of CCAMLR, highlighting key publications on changes to the Antarctic physical and biological environments, as well as work on the development of new management approaches incorporating considerations of climate change. To give just a few examples, these publications report record warming at the South Pole, reductions in summer sea-ice in the Weddell Sea, shifts in krill habitat, and the projected near extinction of some

emperor penguin colonies. Further, a recent and unprecedented circumpolar assessment of Areas of Ecological Significance derived from a 20-year analysis of tracking data for 17 species of birds and mammals (Hindell et al., 2020, Nature) has highlighted the influence of changing climate scenarios on the predicted locations of these areas in the future (see SC-CAMLR-39/BG/23). All of these studies highlight the critical importance of including considerations of climate change research in management decision-making. SCAR is committed to continuing to contribute relevant scientific expertise to assist with this process, and we would welcome opportunities to engage further with Members in this regard. The next major update of the SCAR Antarctic Climate Change and the Environment Report will be published in 2021. Together with recent IPCC reports on climate change, particularly in the oceans and cryosphere, we note that there is a large amount of highly relevant scientific evidence now available, and we encourage the Commission to recognise and take account of this. As discussed during the Scientific Committee meeting last week, SCAR would be pleased to deliver a lecture summarising the ACCE report to the Commission during its meeting next year, since it has not been possible to do so this year as originally planned.'

### 8.43 Oceanites made the following statement:

'In SC-CAMLR-39/BG/46 Rev. 1, Oceanites reports progress ensuring that the best available scientific data regarding penguin populations are available to assist the analyses of climate change impacts in Antarctica. To this end, Oceanites reports a successful, 26th consecutive field season of the Antarctic Site Inventory, data from which flows - along with data from other researchers - into the continent-wide MAPPPD penguin database that Oceanites maintains. The MAPPPD database is then utilised to produce Oceanites' annual State of Antarctic Penguins reports, the fourth, 2020 edition of which is now available (https://oceanites.org/soap2020). This year's penguin report notes a total of 5.77 million breeding pairs of Antarctica's five species, a decline from the 6.1 million pairs reported one year ago. More particularly, the report notes a decline in Adélie penguin populations across the continent, and a notable, 10.71% decline of chinstrap penguins in the vastly warmed Antarctic Peninsula. Gentoo penguins continue to increase in the Peninsula region. The MAPPPD database now contains 4 010 records from 130 data sources, reflecting a 7% and 12% increase respectively from one year ago. Oceanites greatly appreciates the growing use of MAPPPD by colleagues and encourages those who have not yet contributed to do so. Lastly, the State of Antarctic Penguins 2020 report notes data gaps that need to be filled and the suite of factors being examined regarding the interactive effects of climate change vis-à-vis human activities and other synergies that might explain penguin population changes. These factors include: a potentially shifting or shrinking krill stock; the amount of krill fishing and penguins' exposure to fishing during the breeding season; competition for krill among penguins, whales, and seals; penguins' winter foraging ranges and other non-breeding season impacts; and rising temperatures and retreating sea-ice due to global warming.'

### 8.44 IUCN made the following statement:

'IUCN would like to make a brief intervention today. As this is the first time we are taking the floor, we would like to thank all Members and the Secretariat for the work accomplished in the intersessional period and for organising this 39th virtual Meetings of the Scientific Committee and the Commission in these trying times.

The fact that it is held virtually certainly adds some constraints but, as some delegations stated, this new way of working also brings notable advantages. IUCN believes that we should try to learn together and from each other, fix the different technical and organisational issues, in order that CCAMLR can pursue its objective and successfully conduct its important work in the future when situations such as the COVID-19 pandemic arise preventing Members to meet face-to-face.

Why is it so important to ensure the continuity of the work of CCAMLR? Because there is an urgency. As one delegation stated during the Scientific Committee: climate change cannot be postponed. And climate change has already impacted Antarctic ecosystems as stated in many scientific reports and publications.

Antarctica plays a unique role in the global climate system regulation involving two aspects: its physics and its biology. In maintaining the contribution of the second one, CCAMLR has a major role to play. IUCN believes that identifying and integrating relevant scientific research outputs on climate change into the work of the Scientific Committee and its working groups is essential. That is the only way that the management of Antarctic marine living resources is responsive to the effects of climate change.

IUCN is convinced that a representative network of MPAs is the way forward to ensure the effective conservation of Antarctic marine ecosystem and the sustainability of its living resources in the context of climate change. In this regard, on the previous agenda item, we would like to support the joint statement on MPAs from the Delegations of the EU and its member States, Argentina, Australia, Chile, New Zealand, Norway, Uruguay and the USA.

IUCN stands ready to support the work of the Commission and the Scientific Committee in coming years.'

### Cooperation with the Antarctic Treaty System and international organisations

Cooperation with the Antarctic Treaty System

8.45 The Commission noted that ATCM XLIII scheduled for 2020 had been cancelled due to the pandemic.

### Cooperation with international organisations

8.46 COLTO thanked INTERPOL for its work in the Southern Oceans and, as a sign of appreciation, has provided INTERPOL with €10 000 for equipment to support investigations on stateless vessels and digital forensics. The Secretariat will announce the winners of the 2019/20 COLTO toothfish tag-return lottery via a Scientific Committee circular.

8.47 The Commission noted with gratitude a number of background papers submitted by observers (CCAMLR-39/BG/06, CCAMLR-39/BG/08, CCAMLR-39/BG/09, CCAMLR-39/BG/10, SC-CAMLR-39/BG/14, SC-CAMLR-39/BG/18, SC-CAMLR-39/BG/21, SC-CAMLR-39/BG/22, SC-CAMLR-39/BG/46 Rev. 1 and SC-CAMLR-39/BG/47).

- 8.48 The Commission noted with gratitude reports from CCAMLR representatives at meetings of international organisations in the previous intersessional period (CCAMLR-39/BG/12, CCAMLR-39/BG/13, CCAMLR-39/BG/19 and CCAMLR-39/BG/20).
- 8.49 The Chair welcomed nominations to observe upcoming meetings of other organisations on behalf of the Commission (Table 1).

# **Report of the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission**

9.1 The report of the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission was adopted.

### Close of the meeting

- 10.1 The Chair reflected that it had been a privilege to chair the Commission in these unprecedented times and thanked the Commission for its patience, professionalism and expertise. He also thanked observers, the Executive Secretary and the Secretariat, interpreters, CongressRental and other support staff for their contribution to a successful virtual meeting of the Commission at CCAMLR-39.
- 10.2 The EU and Argentina congratulated Mr Curcio Ruigómez on his inspirational leadership, his patience, energy and hard work in very difficult circumstances this year. They also extended their thanks to the Secretariat and support staff for ensuring a successful virtual meeting.
- 10.3 Argentina, as Vice-Chair, welcomed Sweden to the role of Chair for the next two years.
- 10.4 The Executive Secretary thanked Mr Curcio Ruigómez for his friendship and guidance of the Secretariat over the last two years, and, as is traditional, presented him with a gavel made from Tasmanian native timber.
- 10.5 The Chair declared CCAMLR-39 closed.

Table 1: List of 2020/21 meetings of organisation or arrangement with nominated observers for the Commission.

Entity	Dates (where available)	Observer
The Agreement for the Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels (ACAP) MoP	2022	Australia
The Antarctic Treaty Consultative Meeting (ATCM)	June 2021	Executive Secretary
The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) COFI		Executive Secretary
The Commission for the Conservation of Southern Bluefin Tuna (CCSBT)	October 2021	New Zealand
The Inter-American Tropical Tuna Commission (IATTC)	2021	Republic of Korea
The International Commission for the Conservation of Atlantic Tunas (ICCAT)	2021	USA
The Indian Ocean Tuna Commission (IOTC)	2 to 6 November 2020	Australia
The World Conservation Union (IUCN)	2021	
The International Whaling Commission (IWC)	September 2021	Japan
The Northwest Atlantic Fisheries Organization (NAFO)	2021	EU
The North East Atlantic Fisheries Commission (NEAFC)	10 to 13 November 2020	Norway
The South East Atlantic Fisheries Organisation (SEAFO)	25 and 26 November 2020	Norway
The Southern Indian Ocean Fisheries Agreement (SIOFA)	2020 and 2021	EU
The South Pacific Regional Fisheries Management Organisation (SPRFMO)	January 2021	New Zealand
The United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP)	22 to 26 February 2021	Argentina
The Western and Central Pacific Fisheries Commission (WCPFC)	8 to 15 December 2020	USA

**List of Registered Participants** 

# **List of Registered Participants**

Chair Mr Fernando Curcio Ruigómez

Ambassador of Spain in New Zealand

fernando.curcio@maec.es

Chair, Scientific Dr Dirk Welsford

Committee Australian Antarctic Division, Department of the

> **Environment and Energy** dirk.welsford@aad.gov.au

Chair, Standing Committee on Ms Jung-re Kim

Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries **Implementation and Compliance** 

rileykim1126@gmail.com

Acting Chair, Standing Committee on

**Administration and Finance** 

Ms Stephanie Langerock

FPS Health, DG Environment, Multilateral &

Strategic Affairs

stephanie.langerock@health.fgov.be

**Argentina** Head of Delegation: Mr Máximo Gowland

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, International Trade

and Worship

gme@cancilleria.gob.ar

Alternate Representatives: Dr Dolores Deregibus

Instituto Antártico Argentino/CONICET

dolidd@yahoo.com

Dr Enrique Marschoff Instituto Antártico Argentino

marschoff@dna.gov.ar

Ms Cynthia Mulville

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores, Comercio

Internacional y Culto cyl@cancilleria.gob.ar

Dr María Mercedes Santos Instituto Antártico Argentino

msantos@apn.gob.ar

Advisers: Mr Gregorio Acerbi Hernandez

> Argentine Ministry of Foreign Affairs, International Trade and Worship

hzg@cancilleria.gob.ar

Mr Juan Antonio Barreto Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Worship bat@cancilleria.gob.ar

Ambassador Hugo Javier Gobbi Argentine Ministry of Foreign Affairs, International Trade and Worship hjg@cancilleria.gob.ar

Ms Marcela Mónica Libertelli Instituto Antártico Argentino mlibertelli5@yahoo.com.ar

Dr Eugenia Moreira Instituto Antártico Argentino / CONICET eugeniamoreira@yahoo.com.ar

Mr Manuel Novillo CONICET (Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas) jmanuelnovillo@gmail.com

Ms Andrea Pesaresi
National Directorate for Antarctic Foreign
Policy - Argentine Ministry of Foreign
Affairs
zyp@cancilleria.gob.ar

Mr Dario Polski Argentine Ministry of Foreign Affairs, International Trade and Worship dzw@cancilleria.gob.ar

Dr Emilce Florencia Rombolá Instituto Antártico Argentino rombola\_emilce@hotmail.com

Mr Facundo Santiago
National Directorate for Antarctic Foreign
Policy - Argentine Ministry of Foreign
Affairs
wsf@cancilleria.gob.ar

**Australia** Head of Delegation:

Ms Gillian Slocum
Australian Antarctic Division, Department of
Agriculture, Water and the Environment
gillian.slocum@aad.gov.au

Alternate Representatives: Ms Channelle Fitzgerald

Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade

channelle.fitzgerald@dfat.gov.au

Ms Kerrie Robertson Department of Agriculture kerrie.robertson@awe.gov.au

Ms Lihini Weragoda

Australian Antarctic Division, Department of Agriculture, Water and Environment

lihini.weragoda@awe.gov.au

Dr Philippe Ziegler

Australian Antarctic Division, Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment

philippe.ziegler@awe.gov.au

Advisers: Ms Eloise Carr

WWF Australia ecarr@wwf.org.au

Ms Jane Chimungeni-Brassington

Australian Fisheries Management Authority jane.chimungeni-brassington@afma.gov.au

Ms Lyn Goldsworthy

Academic

lyn.goldsworthy@ozemail.com.au

Dr So Kawaguchi

Australian Antarctic Division, Department of the Environment and Energy

so.kawaguchi@awe.gov.au

Ms Sarah Kirkcaldie

**AFMA** 

sarah.kirkcaldie@afma.gov.au

Mr Brodie Macdonald

Australian Fisheries Management Authority

brodie.macdonald@afma.gov.au

Ms Stephanie Martin

Australian Fisheries Management Authority

stephanie.martin@afma.gov.au

Mr Dale Maschette
Australian Antarctic Division, Department of the
Environment and Energy
dale.maschette@awe.gov.au

Mr Malcolm McNeill Australian Longline Pty Ltd mm@australianlongline.com.au

Ms Nish Perera Attorney-General's Department nish.perera@ag.gov.au

Mr Luke Robertson Department of Agriculture luke.robertson@awe.gov.au

Ms Kerry Smith Australian Fisheries Management Authority kerry.smith@afma.gov.au

Mr Josh van Limbeek Australian Antarctic Division, Department of Agriculture, Water and the Environment joshua.vanlimbeek@aad.gov.au

Dr Dirk Welsford
Australian Antarctic Division, Department of the
Environment and Energy
dirk.welsford@aad.gov.au

Ms Anna Willock
Australian Fisheries Management Authority
anna.willock@afma.gov.au

**Belgium** Head of Delegation: Ms Stephanie Langerock

FPS Health, DG Environment, Multilateral &

Strategic Affairs

stephanie.langerock@health.fgov.be

Alternate Representative: Dr Anton Van de Putte

Royal Belgian Institute for Natural Sciences

antonarctica@gmail.com

**Brazil** Head of Delegation: Mr Thomaz Guedes

Office for Ocean, Antarctic and Outer Space

**Affairs** 

thomaz.guedes@itamaraty.gov.br

Alternate Representatives: Dr Elisa Seyboth

Universidade Federal do Rio Grande

elisaseyboth@gmail.com

Mr Carlos Hugo Suarez Sampaio Ministry of the Environment of Brazil

hugo.suarez@mma.gov.br

Advisers: Ambassador Sergio Eduardo Moreira Lima

Embassy of Brazil in Australia sergio.lima@itamaraty.gov.br

Mrs Letícia Piancastelli Siqueira Brina

Ministry of the Environment leticia.brina@mma.gov.br

Ms Inez Varoto Correa Ministry of the Environment inez.correa@mma.gov.br

Chile Head of Delegation: Mr Rodrigo Waghorn

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores

rwaghorn@minrel.gob.cl

Alternate Representatives: Dr César Cárdenas

Instituto Antártico Chileno (INACH)

ccardenas@inach.cl

Mrs Karin Mundnich

Subsecretaría de Pesca y Acuicultura

kmundnich@subpesca.cl

Advisers: Ms Paola Natividad Arroyo Mora

Dirección General del Territorio Maritimo

parroyom@dgtm.cl

Mr Francisco Miguel Fernández Urzua Servicio Nacional de Pesca y Acuicultura

ffernandezu@sernapesca.cl

Dr Lucas Krüger

Instituto Antártico Chileno (INACH)

lkruger@inach.cl

Mr Rodrigo Lepe

Dirección General del Territorio Maritimo

rlepe@directemar.cl

Ms Macarena Quezada Embassy of Chile in Australia mquezada@minrel.gob.cl

Mr Francisco Santa Cruz

Instituto Antartico Chileno (INACH)

fsantacruz@inach.cl

Mr Marcos Troncoso Valenzuela Subsecretaría de Pesca y Acuicultura

mtroncoso@subpesca.cl

China, People's Republic of Head of Delegation: Mr Yong Zhou

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of China

zhou\_yong@mfa.gov.cn

Alternate Representatives: Dr Le Li

MARA of China 271605498@qq.com

Dr Jianye Tang

Shanghai Ocean University

jytang@shou.edu.cn

Mr Lei Yang

Chinese Arctic and Antarctic Administration

yanglei@caa.mnr.gov.cn

Dr Xianyong Zhao

Yellow Sea Fisheries Research Institute, Chinese

Academy of Fishery Science

zhaoxy@ysfri.ac.cn

Advisers: Mr Haifeng Hua

Jiangsu Sunline Deep Sea Fishery Co., Ltd

haifeng.hua@cmigroup.com.cn

Ms Yingni Huang

Ministry of Foreign Affairs huang\_yingni@mfa.gov.cn

Mr Hongliang Huang

East China Sea Fisheries Research Institute, Chinese Academy of Fishery Science

ecshhl@163.com

Mr Mingxiu Jia China National Fisheries Corporation jiamingxiu@cnfc.com.cn

Mr Kin Ming Lai
Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation
Department
mickey\_km\_lai@afcd.gov.hk

Ms Lai Fun Virginia Lee Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation Department virginia lf lee@afcd.gov.hk

Mr Jun Rong Luo Fujian Zhengguan Fishery Development Co., Ltd. zgfishery@163.com

Dr Chi Ming SO
Agriculture, Fisheries and Conservation
Department
chi ming so@afcd.gov.hk

Mr Yuhao Tang Ministry of Foreign Affairs tang yuhao@mfa.gov.cn

Dr Xinliang Wang Yellow Sea Fisheries Research Institute, Chinese Academy of Fishery Science wangxl@ysfri.ac.cn

Ms Heyun Xu Ministry of Natural Resource heyunxu@sina.com

Mr Yucheng Xu Liaoning Pelagic Fisheries Co., Ltd xuyc66@163.com

Dr Yi-Ping Ying Yellow Sea Fisheries Research Institute yingyp@ysfri.ac.cn

Ms Xinwei Yu Ministry of Natural Resources yuxinwei08@126.com

Dr Yunxia Zhao

Yellow Sea Fisheries Research Institute

zhaoyx@ysfri.ac.cn

Mr Jiancheng Zhu

Yellow Sea Fisheries Research Institute, Chinese

Academy of Fishery Science

zhujc@ysfri.ac.cn

Professor Guoping Zhu Shanghai Ocean University

gpzhu@shou.edu.cn

European Union

Head of Delegation: Mr Luis Molledo

European Union

luis.molledo@ec.europa.eu

Alternate Representative: Ms Fiona Harford

European Union

fiona.harford@ec.europa.eu

Advisers: Mr Ignacio Granell

European Union

ignacio.granell@ec.europa.eu

Dr Sebastian Rodriguez

European Union

sebastian chano@hotmail.com

France Head of Delegation: Mr Didier Ortolland

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

didier.ortolland@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Alternate Representative: Mr Julien Le Lan

Ministry for Europe and Foreign Affairs

julien.le-lan@diplomatie.gouv.fr

Advisers: Mr Guillaume Cottarel

Terres Australes et Antarctiques Françaises

guillaume.cottarel@taaf.fr

Dr Marc Eléaume

Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle

marc.eleaume@mnhn.fr

Ms Maude Jolly

Ministère de la Transition Ecologique

maude.jolly@developpement-durable.gouv.fr

Mr Matthieu Piron

French Ministry for Agriculture and Food matthieu.piron@agriculture.gouv.fr

Germany Head of Delegation: Mr Bernd Söntgerath

Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture

bernd.soentgerath@bmel.bund.de

Alternate Representatives: Dr Stefan Hain

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine

Research

stefan.hain@awi.de

Ms Ilka Wagner Ilka Wagner

Ilka.Wagner@bmu.bund.de

Advisers: Professor Thomas Brey

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine

Research

thomas.brey@awi.de

Ms Patricia Brtnik

German Oceanographic Museum patricia.brtnik@meeresmuseum.de

Dr Jilda Caccavo

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine

Research

ergo@jildacaccavo.com

Dr Heike Herata

German Environment Agency

heike.herata@uba.de

Mr Alexander Liebschner

Federal Agency for Nature Conservation

alexander.liebschner@bfn.de

Professor Bettina Meyer

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine

Research

bettina.meyer@awi.de

Ms Anne Ochsendorf

Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature

Conservation and Nuclear Safety anne.ochsendorf@bmu.bund.de

Ms Melanie Seibert

Federal Ministry of Food and Agriculture

melanie.seibert@bmel.bund.de

Dr Katharina Teschke

Alfred Wegener Institute for Polar and Marine

Research

katharina.teschke@awi.de

Mr Julian Wilckens

Project Management Juelich - German Federal

Ministry of Education and Research

j.wilckens@fz-juelich.de

India Head of Delegation: Dr Ramana Murthy M V

Centre for Marine Living Resources and

Ecology, Ministry of Earth Sciences

mvramana.m@cmlre.gov.in

Alternate Representatives: Dr GVM Gupta

Ministry of Earth Sciences Govt. of India

gvmgupta@cmlre.gov.in

Mr Saravanane Narayanane

Centre for Marine Living Resources and

Ecology

saravanane@cmlre.gov.in

Italy Head of Delegation: Mr Pier Francesco Zazo

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and International

Cooperation

pierfrancesco.zazo@esteri.it

Alternate Representatives: Dr Maurizio Azzaro

Institute of Polar Sciences maurizio.azzaro@cnr.it

Dr Anna Maria Fioretti

Italian Ministry of Foreign Affairs

anna.fioretti@igg.cnr.it

Dr Carla Ubaldi

ENEA - Antarctic Technical Unit

carla.ubaldi@enea.it

Dr Marino Vacchi

IAS - CNR

marino.vacchi@ias.cnr.it

Advisers: Dr Gemma Andreone

CNR Italian National Research Council

gemma.andreone@cnr.it

Dr Edoardo Calizza University Rome

edoardo.calizza@uniroma1.it

Dr Laura Ghigliotti

National Research Council (CNR) of Italy

laura.ghigliotti@gmail.com

Japan Head of Delegation: Professor Joji Morishita

Special Adviser to the Minister of Agriculture,

Forestry and Fisheries jmoris0@kaiyodai.ac.jp

Alternate Representatives: Dr Taro Ichii

National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries

ichii@affrc.go.jp

Ms Mako Iioka

Fisheries Agency of Japan mako\_iioka540@maff.go.jp

Mr Yuki Morita

Fisheries Agency, Government of Japan

yuki morita470@maff.go.jp

Mr Hideki Moronuki Fisheries Agency of Japan

hideki moronuki600@maff.go.jp

Advisers: Mr Naohiko Akimoto

Japanese Overseas Fishing Association

nittoro@jdsta.or.jp

Mr Sachio Hagiya TAIYO A&F CO., LTD

s-hagiya@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Mr Riki Kishimoto

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Japan

riki.kishimoto@mofa.go.jp

Mr Yasuyuki Minagawa Taiyo A & F Co. Ltd

y-minagawa@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Mr Naohisa Miyagawa Taiyo A & F Co. Ltd.

n-miyagawa@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Mr Toshiharu Muraoka TAIYO A&F CO., LTD

t-muraoka@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Dr Takehiro Okuda

National Research Institute of Far Seas Fisheries

okudy@affrc.go.jp

Mr Takeshi Shibata Taiyo A & F Co. Ltd.

t-shibata@maruha-nichiro.co.jp

Ms Mina Watanabe

Ministry of Foreign Affairs mina.watanabe-2@mofa.go.jp

Korea, Republic of Head of Delegation: Mr Dong-sik Woo

Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries

dwoo0047@korea.kr

Alternate Representatives: Dr Seok-Gwan Choi

National Institute of Fisheries Science (NIFS)

sgchoi@korea.kr

Ms Minju Jang

Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries of Korea

minju122122@korea.kr

Ms Jung-re Riley Kim

Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries

rileykim1126@gmail.com

Advisers: Mr Yoonhyung Kim

Dongwon Industries i3242@dongwon.com

Mr Tae-hoon Won

Korea Overseas Fisheries Cooperation Center

4indamorning@kofci.org

Mr Gap-Joo Bae Hong Jin Corporation gjbae1966@hotmail.com

Mr Yang-Sik Cho Sunwoo Corporation f253jrc@gmail.com

Mr DongHwan Choe Korea Overseas Fisheries Association dhchoe@kosfa.org

Dr Sangdeok Chung National Institute of Fisheries Science (NIFS) sdchung@korea.kr

Ms Juhee Han Ministry of Foreign Affairs juheehan@mofa.go.kr

Mr Kunwoong Ji Jeong Il Corporation jkw@jeongilway.com

Dr Eunhee Kim Citizens' Institute for Environmental Studies ekim@kfem.or.kr

Ms Suyeon Kim Fishery Monitoring Center shararak87@gmail.com

Mr Yongki Lee Korea Federation for Environmental Movements yklee@kfem.or.kr

Mr Hae Jun Lee Hongjin Company vitamin1223@naver.com

Ms SUNHWA PARK
Environmental Justice Foundation
sunhwa.park@ejfoundation.org

Mr Doohyun Park WWF Korea dpark@wwfkorea.or.kr

Mr Min Jae Park
NQFS, Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries of
Korea
acepark0070@gmail.com

Mr Yoo Seek

Fisheries Monitoring Center (FMC) of the Ministry of Oceans and Fisheries of Korea

fmc2014@korea.kr

Dr Won Sang Seo

Korea Polar Research Institute

seows@kopri.re.kr

Mr Sang Gyu Shin

National Institute of Fisheries Science (NIFS)

gyuyades82@gmail.com

Mr Jung-gyoo Yang

National Fishery Products Quality Management

Service

spring0606@korea.kr

Netherlands, Kingdom of the Head of Delegation: Mr Martijn Peijs

Department of Nature and Biodiversity

m.w.f.peijs@minez.nl

Adviser: Dr Fokje Schaafsma

Wageningen Marine Research

fokje.schaafsma@wur.nl

New Zealand Head of Delegation: Ms Jana Newman

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

jana.newman@mfat.govt.nz

Alternate Representatives: Ms Megan Addis

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade

megan.addis@mfat.govt.nz

Mr Nathan Walker

Ministry for Primary Industries nathan.walker@mpi.govt.nz

Advisers: Mr Matthew Baird

Ministry for Primary Industries matthew.baird@mpi.govt.nz

Ms Alexandra Macdonald
Department of Conservation
almacdonald@doc.govt.nz

Ms Monique Messina Ministry for Primary Industries monique.messina@mpi.govt.nz

Dr Steve Parker National Institute of Water and Atmospheric Research (NIWA) steve.parker@niwa.co.nz

Mr Darryn Shaw Sanford Ltd dshaw@sanford.co.nz

Mr Andy Smith
Talley's Group Ltd
andy.smith@talleys.co.nz

Mr Timothy Vaughan-Sanders Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade tim.vaughan-sanders@mfat.govt.nz

Mr Barry Weeber ECO Aotearoa baz.weeber@gmail.com

Mr Andrew Wright Ministry for Primary Industries andrew.wright@mpi.govt.nz

Head of Delegation: Ms Mette Strengehagen

Ministry of Foreign Affairs mette.strengehagen@mfa.no

Alternate Representatives: Mrs Ane Elise Jørem

Norway

Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs

ane.elise.jorem@mfa.no

Mr Kristoffer Krohg Bjørklund

Norwegian Ministry of Trade, Industry &

Fisheries

kristoffer-krohg.bjorklund@nfd.dep.no

Mr Fredrik Juell Theisen

Norwegian Ministry of Climate and

Environment

fredrik-juell.theisen@kld.dep.no

Ms Hanne Østgård

The Directorate of Fisheries hanne.ostgard@fiskeridir.no

Advisers: Ms Astrid Charlotte Høgestøl

Norwegian Polar Institute astrid.hogestol@npolar.no

Dr Tor Knutsen

Institute of Marine Research

tor.knutsen@imr.no

Dr Bjørn Krafft

Institute of Marine Research

bjorn.krafft@imr.no

Dr Andrew Lowther Norwegian Polar Institute andrew.lowther@npolar.no

Dr Sebastian Menze

Institute of Marine Research sebastian.menze@hi.no

Ms Birgit Njåstad

Norwegian Polar Institute birgit.njastad@gmail.com

Dr Cecilie von Quillfeldt Norwegian Polar Institute quillfeldt@npolar.no

**Poland** Head of Delegation: Mrs Renata Wieczorek

Ministry of Infrastructure renata.wieczorek@mi.gov.pl

Russian Federation Head of Delegation: Dr Vasiliy Sokolov

Federal Agency for Fisheries

umc@fishcom.ru

Alternate Representatives: Mr Alexey Dronov

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the Russian

Federation adronov@yandex.ru

Dr Svetlana Kasatkina

AtlantNIRO ks@atlantniro.ru

Mr Dmitry Kremenyuk Federal Agency for Fisheries d.kremenyuk@fishcom.ru

Mr Konstantin Timokhin Ministry of Foreign Affairs konstantinvt@yandex.ru

Adviser: Dr Andrey Petrov

Federal Agency for Fisheries

petrov af@fishcom.ru

**South Africa** Head of Delegation: Mr Lisolomzi Fikizolo

Department of Environmental Affairs

lfikizolo@environment.gov.za

Advisers: Dr Azwianewi Makhado

Department of Environmental Affairs amakhado@environment.gov.za

Mr Sobahle Somhlaba

Department of Agriculture, Forestry and

Fisheries

sobahles@daff.gov.za

**Spain** Head of Delegation: Mr Antonio Lizcano Palomares

Secretaría General de Pesca

alizcano@mapa.es

Alternate Representatives: Ms Cristina Gallach

**MAEC** 

cristina.gallach@maec.es

Ms Teresa Molina Schmid Secretaría General de Pesca

tmolina@mapa.es

Mr Roberto Sarralde Vizuete Instituto Español de Oceanografía

roberto.sarralde@ieo.es

Mr Pedro Sepúlveda Angulo

Acuerdos y Organizaciones Regionales de Pesca

Secretaria General de Pesca

psepulve@mapa.es

Advisers:

Mr Francisco Aguilera Aranda Ministerio de Asuntos Exteriores, Unión Europea y Cooperación francisco.aguilera@maec.es

Ms Gema de Frutos Romo Secretaría General de Pesca gdefrutos@mapa.es

Mr Jose Luis Del Rio Iglesias Instituto Español de Oceanografía joseluis.delrio@ieo.es

Mr Victor Andrés Escobar Paredes MITECO vaescobar@miteco.es

Mr Victor Franco Embajada de España en Camberra victor.francog@maec.es

Ms Cristina Gomariz Pamblanco MAEC cristina.gomariz@maec.es

Mr Borja Heredia
Ministry of Ecological Transition and
Demographic Challenge
bheredia@miteco.es

Mr Guillermo Marín Gorbea MAEC guillermo.marin@maec.es

Ms Isidora Pérez Rodríguez MAEC isidora.perez@maec.es

Mr Joost Pompert Pesquerias Georgia, S.L joostpompert@georgiaseafoods.com

Mr Antonio Quesada Comité Polar Español antonio.quesada@uam.es

Ms Sonia Ramos Comité Polar Español sonia.ramos@ciencia.gob.es

Mr James Wallace Georgia Seafoods Ltd

jameswallace@fortunalimited.com

Sweden Head of Delegation: Dr Pia Norling

Swedish Agency for Marine and Water

Management

pia.norling@havochvatten.se

Alternate Representatives: Mr Staffan Danielsson

> Ministry of the Environment Staffan.Danielsson@gov.se

Dr Jakob Granit

Swedish Agency for Marine and Water

Management

jakob.granit@havochvatten.se

Ms Pernilla Nilsson

Ministry for Foreign Affairs pernilla.nilsson@gov.se

Advisers: Ambassador Marie Jacobsson

> Ministry for Foreign Affairs marie.jacobsson@gov.se

Ms Annika Nilsson

Ministry of the Environment

annika.nilsson@regeringskansliet.se

Ukraine Head of Delegation: Dr Kostiantyn Demianenko

> Institute of Fisheries and Marine Ecology (IFME) of the State Agency of Fisheries of

Ukraine

s.erinaco@gmail.com

Alternate Representatives: Dr Gennadii Milinevskyi

Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv,

National Antarctic Scientific Center

genmilinevsky@gmail.com

Dr Leonid Pshenichnov Institute of Fisheries and Marine Ecology (IFME) of the State Agency of Fisheries of Ukraine

lkpbikentnet@gmail.com

Mr Illia Slypko
Institute of Fisheries and Marine Ecology
(IFME) of the State Agency of Fisheries of
Ukraine
i.v.slypko@ukr.net

Advisers: Mr Viktor Dzhelali

"IKF" LLC

dzhelali@irf.com.ua

Mr Andrii Fedchuk National Antarctic Scientific Center of Ukraine andriyf@gmail.com

Mrs Iryna Kozeretska National Antarctic Scientific Center of Ukraine iryna.kozeretska@gmail.com

Mr Dmitry Marichev LLC Fishing Company NEPTUNO dmarichev76@gmail.com

Mr Kyryl Merkulov "IKF" LLC merkulov@irf.com.ua

Ms Karina Vyshniakova National Antarctic Scientific Center of Ukraine (NANC) karinavishnyakova@gmail.com

Mr Oleksandr Yasynetskyi Constellation Southern Crown LLC marigolds001@gmail.com

**United** Head of Delegation: **Kingdom** 

Ms Jane Rumble
Foreign, Commonwealth and Development
Office
jane.rumble@fcdo.gov.uk

Alternate Representatives: Ms Kylie Bamford

Foreign, Commonwealth and Development

Office

kylie.bamford@fcdo.gov.uk

Dr Chris Darby

Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science (Cefas)

chris.darby@cefas.co.uk

Mrs Margaret Purdasy

Foreign, Commonwealth and Development

Office

margaret.purdasy@fcdo.gov.uk

Dr Phil Trathan

**British Antarctic Survey** 

pnt@bas.ac.uk

Advisers: Dr Mark Belchier

British Antarctic Survey

markb@bas.ac.uk

Dr Martin Collins

British Antarctic Survey

macol@bas.ac.uk

Dr David Goddard

Foreign, Commonwealth and Development

Office

david.goddard@fcdo.gov.uk

Mr Patrick Halling

Foreign, Commonwealth and Development

Office

patrick.halling@fcdo.gov.uk

Mrs Rhona Kent

WWF UK

rkent@wwf.org.uk

Mr John Alex Reid

Polar Ltd

alex.reid@live.com

Ms Georgia Robson Centre for Environment, Fisheries and Aquaculture Science (Cefas) georgia.robson@cefas.co.uk

Mr Peter Thomson Argos Froyanes

peter.thomson@argonaut.co.uk

**United States** of America

Head of Delegation: Mr Evan T. Bloom

Office of Ocean and Polar Affairs, US

Department of State bloomet@state.gov

Alternate Representatives: Ms Meggan Engelke-Ros

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) meggan.engelke-ros@noaa.gov

Ms Mi Ae Kim

National Oceanographic and Atmospheric

Administration (NOAA)

mi.ae.kim@noaa.gov

Dr Polly A. Penhale

National Science Foundation, Division of Polar

Programs ppenhale@nsf.gov

Dr George Watters

National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest

Fisheries Science Center george.watters@noaa.gov

Advisers: Mr Everett Baxter

NOAA National Marine Fisheries Service,

Office of Law Enforcement

everett.baxter@noaa.gov

Ms Alexa Cole

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA)

alexa.cole@noaa.gov

Ms Kimberly Dawson

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, Fisheries

kim.dawson@noaa.gov

Dr Lauren Fields
National Oceanographic and Atmospheric
Administration (NOAA)
lauren.fields@noaa.gov

Ms Kellie Foster-Taylor NOAA Fisheries kellie.foster-taylor@noaa.gov

Mr Keith Hagg
National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration (NOAA)
keith.hagg@noaa.gov

Ms Siri Hakala NOAA Fisheries Office of Law Enforcement siri.hakala@noaa.gov

Dr Jefferson Hinke National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest Fisheries Science Center jefferson.hinke@noaa.gov

Dr Christopher Jones
National Oceanographic and Atmospheric
Administration (NOAA)
chris.d.jones@noaa.gov

Mr Theodore Kill U.S. Department of State killtp@state.gov

Mr David Pearl NOAA Fisheries Office of International Affairs david.pearl@noaa.gov

Ms Elizabeth Phelps Department of State phelpse@state.gov

Dr Christian Reiss
National Marine Fisheries Service, Southwest
Fisheries Science Center
christian.reiss@noaa.gov

Ms Katy Sater US Trade Representative mary.c.sater@ustr.eop.gov

Head of Delegation: Ambassador Lilián Zulma Silveira Faraco Uruguay

> Ministry of Foreign Affairs antartida@mrree.gub.uy

Alternate Representative: Professor Oscar Pin

Direccion Nacional de Recursos Acuaticos

(DINARA) opin@mgap.gub.uy

Adviser: Mr Alberto Tabaré Lozano Junca

Ministry of Foreign Affairs

cruma@mrree.gub.uy

## **Observers – Acceding States**

**Finland** Head of Delegation: Ambassador Satu Mattila-Budich

> Embassy of Finland in Canberra satu.mattila-budich@formin.fi

Adviser: Ms Jenny Haukka

Ministry for Foreign Affairs of Finland/Unit for

Northern Europe jenny.haukka@formin.fi

Mauritius Head of Delegation: Mr Hirikeshing Unnuth

> Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Regional Integration and International Trade

hunnuth@govmu.org

Alternate Representative: Mr Ritesh Soobhug

Ministry of Blue Economy, Marine Resources,

Fisheries and Shipping ritesh.soobhug@gmail.com

Peru Dr Elizabeth Silvestre Head of Delegation:

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores del Perú

esilvestre@rree.gob.pe

Alternate Representatives: Mrs Cinthya Bello

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores del Perú

cbello@rree.gob.pe

Mr Pablo Londoñe

Ministerio de Relaciones Exteriores del Perú

rlondoneb@rree.gob.pe

## **Observers - Non-Contracting Parties**

**Ecuador** Head of Delegation: Mr Jose Isidro Andrade Vera

Ministry of Production, Foreign Trade,

Investments and Fisheries jandrade@produccion.gob.ec

Alternate Representative: Mr Jorge Costain

TRANSMARINA S.A. jcostain@transmarina.com

Advisers: Mr Marco Herrera Cabrera

Instituto Nacional de Pesca mherrera@institutopesca.gob.ec

Ambassador Mauricio Montalvo

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Human Mobility

(MREMH)

mmontalvo@cancilleria.gob.ec

Mr Juan Rodrigo Salazar Sancisi

TRANSMARINA S.A. juanrsalazars@yahoo.com

**Luxembourg** Head of Delegation: Dr Pierre Gallego

Ministry of Environment pierre.gallego@gmail.com

**Singapore** Head of Delegation: Mr Kihua Teh

Agri-Food & Veterinary Authority

teh kihua@sfa.gov.sg

Advisers: Ms Felicia Loh

Singapore Food Agency felicia\_loh@sfa.gov.sg

Mr Ivan Tan

Singapore Food Agency ivan\_tan@sfa.gov.sg

Mrs Lai Kim Tan-Low Singapore Food Agency tan-low lai kim@sfa.gov.sg

Mr Wee Chi Toh

Singapore Food Agency toh wee chi@sfa.gov.sg **Thailand** Head of Delegation: Mr Pholphisin Suvanachai

Department of Fisheries, Thailand

pholphisin@gmail.com

Alternate Representative: Ms Jaruwan Songphatkaew

Fish Quarantine and Fishing Vessels Inspection

Division

conyakkee@gmail.com

Advisers: Ms Passarapa Kaaewnern

Fish Inspection and Quality Control Division

passarapa.k@dof.mail.go.th

Ms Chanisara Phothirat

Fisheries Foreign Affairs Division

chaniskathy@gmail.com

Ms Pattaranit Ruangwuttiwit

Fish Quarantine and Fishing Vessels Inspection

Division

pattaranit.r@gmail.com

Ms Thiwarat Sinanun

Fisheries Foreign Affairs Division

thiwaratsi@gmail.com

Mr Tanakorn Tungjareunaree Fisheries Foreign Affairs Division

tanakorn54102@gmail.com

Trinidad and Tobago

Head of Delegation:

Ms Elizabeth Mohammed

Ministry of Agriculture, Land and Fisheries,

Fisheries Division

emohammed.2fdtt@gmail.com

Alternate Representative: Ms Louanna Martin

Fisheries Division, Ministry of Agriculture,

Land and Fisheries

lmartin@gov.tt

#### **Observers – International Organisations**

**ACAP** Head of Delegation: Dr Christine Bogle

Secretariat of the Agreement on the

Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels

christine.bogle@acap.aq

Alternate Representative: Dr Wiesława Misiak

Secretariat of the Agreement on the

Conservation of Albatrosses and Petrels

wieslawa.misiak@acap.aq

INTERPOL Head of Delegation: Mr Mario Alcaide

INTERPOL General Secretariat

m.alcaide@interpol.int

**IUCN** Head of Delegation: Ms Minna Epps

Global Marine & Polar Programme, IUCN

minna.epps@iucn.org

Alternate Representative: Dr Aurélie Spadone

Global Marine and Polar Programme, IUCN

aurelie.spadone@iucn.org

Advisers: Dr Susan Gallon

MedPAN

susan.gallon@medpan.org

Dr Seth Sykora-Bodie Duke University

seth.sykora.bodie@duke.edu

SCAR Head of Delegation: Dr Susie Grant

**British Antarctic Survey** 

suan@bas.ac.uk

Alternate Representative: Professor Mary-Anne Lea

Institute for Marine and Antarctic Studies

(IMAS)

maryanne.lea@utas.edu.au

Advisers: Professor Cassandra Brooks

University of Colorado Boulder cassandrabrooks222@gmail.com

Dr Steven Chown

Monash University, School of Biological

Sciences

steven.chown@monash.edu

Dr Chandrika Nath

Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research

chandrika@scar.org

**SIOFA** Alternate Representative: Mr Pierre Peries

**SIOFA** 

pierre.peries@siofa.org

Adviser: Mr Thierry Clot

SIOFA/APSOI

thierry.clot@siofa.org

### **Observers – Non-Governmental Organisations**

**ARK** Head of Delegation: Dr Javier Arata

Association of Responsible Krill harvesting

companies (ARK) Inc. javier.arata@gmail.com

Alternate Representative: Mr Pål Einar Skogrand

Aker BioMarine

pal.skogrand@akerbiomarine.com

Advisers: Mrs Valeria Carvajal

Federación Industrias Pesqueras del Sur Austral

(FIPES)

valeria.carvajal@fipes.cl

Dr Stig Grafsrønningen

Aker BioMarine

stig.grafsronningen@akerbiomarine.com

Mr Frank Grebstad Aker BioMarine

frank.grebstad@akerbiomarine.com

Mr Enrique Gutierrez

Pesca Chile

enrique.gutierrez@pescachile.cl

Mrs Runa Haug Khoury

Aker BioMarine

runa.khoury@akerbiomarine.com

Mr Sang-Yong Lee Jeong-Il Corporation wing7412@gmail.com

Ms Genevieve Tanner

**ARK Secretariat** 

genevieve.tanner@ark-krill.org

**ASOC** Head of Delegation: Ms Claire Christian

Antarctic and Southern Ocean Coalition

claire.christian@asoc.org

Alternate Representative: Ms Andrea Kavanagh

The Pew Charitable Trusts akavanagh@pewtrusts.org

Advisers: Professor Mariano Aguas

Fundación Vida Sivestre Argentina

marianoaguas@gmail.com

Ms Olive Andrews

Conservation International whaleology@gmail.com

Ms Frida Bengtsson

Greenpeace

frida.bengtsson@su.se

Ms Nicole Bransome The Pew Charitable Trusts nbransome@pewtrusts.org

Mr Jiliang Chen Greenovation Hub

julian@antarcticocean.org

Ms Anne Christianson Pew Charitable Trusts

achristianson@pewtrusts.org

Ms Barbara Cvrkel The Pew Charitable Trusts

bcvrkel@pewtrusts.org

Mr Emil Dediu

The Pew Charitable Trusts edediu@pewtrusts.org

Mr Ryan Dolan

The Pew Charitable Trusts ryantdolan@gmail.com

Mr Randal Helten

Friends of the Earth Japan (FoE Japan)

helten@foejapan.org

Ms Sophie Hulme Sophie Hulme sophie@communicationsinc.co.uk

Mr Chris Johnson WWF-Australia cjohnson@wwf.org.au

Mr Will McCallum Greenpeace will.mccallum@greenpeace.org

Mr Rory Moore Blue Marine Foundation rory@bluemarinefoundation.com

Dr Ricardo Roura Antarctic and Southern Ocean Coalition ricardo.roura@asoc.org

Dr Ralf Sonntag Self-employed ralfsonntag@web.de

Dr Masha Vorontsova ASOC masha.vorontsova@protonmail.com

Mr Mike Walker Antarctic and Southern Ocean Coalition mike@antarcticocean.org

Dr Rodolfo Werner The Pew Charitable Trusts rodolfo.antarctica@gmail.com

Dr Masha Vorontsova ASOC masha.vorontsova@protonmail.com

Ms Lena Zharkova Antarctic and Southern Ocean Coalition. lenapzharkova@gmail.com

**COLTO** Head of Delegation:

Mr Richard Ball SA Patagonian Toothfish Industry Association rball@iafrica.com Alternate Representative: Mr Rhys Arangio

COLTO

contact@colto.org

Advisers: Mr Jason Bryan

Archipelago

jasonb@archipelago.ca

Ms Delphine Ciolek

Syndicat des armements réunionnais de palangriers congélateurs (SARPC)

dciolek@sarpc.fr

Ms Armelle Denoize

**SAPMER** 

adenoize@sapmer.com

Mr Javier Diaz Lopez

Argenova S.A

javierdiaz@nuevapescanova.com

Mr Martijn Johnson Australian Longline PL

mj@australianlongline.com.au

Mr Jérôme Jourdain

Union des Armateurs à la Pêche de France (UAPF)

jj@uapf.org

Mr TaeBin Jung

Sunwoo Corporation

tbjung@swfishery.com

Mr Andrew Newman

Argos Froyanes Ltd

and rew. newman@argos froy an es. com

Ms Brodie Plum

Talley's Ltd

brodie.plum@talleys.co.nz

Mrs Emilie Richard

Comata-Scapêche

emilie.richard@mousquetaires.com

Mr David Troncoso Nueva Pescanova Group

dtroncoso@nuevapescanova.com

Mr Laurent Virapoullé Pêche Avenir S. A

pecheavenir@wanadoo.fr

**IAATO** Head of Delegation: Ms Amanda Lynnes

International Association of Antarctica Tour

Operators

alynnes@iaato.org

Alternate Representative: Ms Gina Greer

International Association of Antarctica Tour

Operators ggreer@iaato.org

Oceanites Head of Delegation: Mr Ron Naveen

Oceanites, Inc.

oceanites@icloud.com

Advisers: Dr Grant Humphries

Black Bawks Data Science

grwhumphries@blackbawks.net

Dr Alex Robbins

Black Bawks Data Science amcr.humphries@gmail.com

#### Secretariat

**Executive Secretary** Dr David Agnew

Science

Science Manager Dr Keith Reid
Fisheries and Observer Reporting Coordinator Isaac Forster
Research and Monitoring Coordinator Emily Grilly

Fisheries and Ecosystems Analyst Dr Stephane Thanassekos

Science Data Officer Daphnis de Pooter

**Fisheries Monitoring and Compliance** 

Fisheries Monitoring and Compliance Manager

Compliance Officer

Fisheries Monitoring and Compliance Data Officer

Data Administration Officer

Todd Dubois

Eldene O'Shea

Henrique Anatole

Alison Potter

Finance, Human Resources and Administration

Finance, Human Resources and Administration Manager
Finance Officer
Christina Macha
General Office Administrator
Maree Cowen
Human Resources Officer
Angie McMahon

**Communications** 

Communications Manager Doro Forck **Publications Officer** Belinda Blackburn Web Project Officer Dane Cavanagh French Translator/Team Coordinator Floride Pavlovic French Translator Gabriel Kinzler Russian Translator/Team Coordinator Blair Denholm Russian Translator Olga Kozyrevitch Spanish Translator/Team Coordinator Jesús Martínez Spanish Translator Imma Hilly

**Data and Information Systems** 

Data and Information Systems Manager
Systems Analyst
Ian Meredith
Data Systems Analyst
Gary Dewhurst

Data Steward/Database Administrator Duy Le

# **Interpreters (ONCALL Conference Interpreters)**

Ms Cecilia Alal

Ms Patricia Avila

Ms Karine Bachelier

Ms Elena Cook

Mr Vadim Doubine

Ms Claire Garteiser

Prof. Sandra Hale

Ms Silvia Martinez

Dr Marc Orlando

Assoc. Prof. Ludmila Stern

Mr Philippe Tanguy

Ms Irene Ulman

## **Congress Rental – Technical support**

Liam Ennis

Puneeth Gopal

Patrick Spears

Jordan Stevens

Julian Wan

## **CaptionsLive – Closed captions**

Kerrie Cooke

Carmel Downes

Tina Fallows

**List of Documents** 

#### **List of Documents**

Report on the General Capacity Building Fund (GCBF) CCAMLR-39/01 Rev. 1 Secretariat **CCAMLR-39/02** Proposal to amend CM 26-01 Delegation of the European Union Examination of the audited financial statements for 2019 CCAMLR-39/03 Rev. 1 **Executive Secretary** CCAMLR-39/04 Rev. 1 Review of the 2020 Budget, Draft 2021 Budget and Forecast Budget for 2022 **Executive Secretary CCAMLR-39/05** Executive Secretary's Report, 2020, including Second Year Implementation Report for the Secretariat's Strategic Plan (2019-2022)**Executive Secretary** CCAMLR-39/06 Rev. 1 Proposal to establish a Marine Protected Area across the Weddell Sea region (Phase 1) Delegations of the European Union and its member states, Norway, Uruguay and Australia CCAMLR-39/07 Rev. 1 Proposal to establish an East Antarctic Marine Protected Area Delegations of Australia, the European Union and its member States, Uruguay and Norway CCAMLR-39/08 Rev. 1 Revised proposal for a conservation measure establishing a Marine Protected Area in Domain 1 (Western Antarctic Peninsula and South Scotia Arc) Delegations of Argentina and Chile **CCAMLR-39/09** Re-emphasising the importance of the D1MPA proposal for the conservation of the Antarctic marine ecosystem under scenarios of environmental and management uncertainties Delegations of Argentina and Chile CCAMLR-39/10 Rev. 2 CCAMLR Compliance Evaluation Procedure (CCEP) Summary Report and analysis Secretariat

IUU fishing activity and trends in 2019/20 and IUU Vessel CCAMLR-39/11 Rev. 1 Lists Secretariat CCAMLR-39/12 Proposal for the deployment of scientific observers on fishing vessels during the COVID-19 pandemic Delegation of the USA CCAMLR-39/13 Rev. 2 Activities of the General Capacity Building Fund (GCBF) GCBF Panel CCAMLR-39/14 Report of the Thirty-ninth meeting of the Scientific Committee (Hobart, Australia, 26 October 2020) \*\*\*\*\* CCAMLR-39/BG/01 Potential amendments to CMs 21-01, 21-02 and 23/05 Delegation of the European Union CCAMLR-39/BG/02 Domain 1 MPA Proposal CM 91-XX: Rationale of the changes for the Proposal for the Establishment of a Marine Protected Area in the Western Antarctic Peninsula-South Scotia Arc Delegations of Argentina and Chile CCAMLR-39/BG/03 **Dormant Special Funds** Secretariat CCAMLR-39/BG/04 Working Capital Fund (WCF) Report Secretariat CCAMLR-39/BG/05 Fishery notifications 2020/21 Secretariat CCAMLR-39/BG/06 Rising to the challenge: maintaining CCAMLR's focus on marine protected areas Submitted by ASOC CCAMLR-39/BG/07 2017/18 pre-season vessel activity in Subarea 88.1 – Member reviews requested by SCIC-19 Delegation of the Russian Federation CCAMLR-39/BG/08 ASOC report to CCAMLR Submitted by ASOC CCAMLR-39/BG/09 Enhancing CCAMLR's compliance regime Submitted by ASOC

CCAMLR-39/BG/10 2020 Report to SC-CAMLR-39 and CCAMLR-39 by the

Association of Responsible Krill harvesting companies

(ARK)

Submitted by ARK

CCAMLR-39/BG/11 Support to CCAMLR to identify and deter illegal,

unreported and unregulated (IUU) fishing activities that undermine the objective of the CAMLR Convention –

Interim Report 2020

INTERPOL and CCAMLR Secretariat

CCAMLR-39/BG/12 Report from the CCAMLR Observer (USA) on the 16th

Regular Session of the Western and Central Pacific

Fisheries Commission (WCPFC)

(Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea, 5 to 11 December

2019)

CCAMLR Observer (USA)

CCAMLR-39/BG/13 Report from the CCAMLR Observer (European Union) on

the 42nd annual meeting Northwest Atlantic Fisheries

Organization (NAFO)

(Virtual meetings, 21 to 25 September 2020) CCAMLR Observer (European Union)

CCAMLR-39/BG/14 Information submitted to CCAMLR-39 from Ecuador

Delegation of Ecuador

CCAMLR-39/BG/15 Rev. 1 Chair's Report of the Informal Virtual Meeting of the

Standing Committee on Implementation and Compliance

(SCIC)

(Hobart, Australia, 12 to 21 October 2020) Chair of SCIC (J. Kim, Republic of Korea)

CCAMLR-39/BG/16 Report of the Acting Chair of SCAF of the Informal Virtual

Meeting of the Standing Committee on Administration and

Finance (SCAF)

(Hobart, Australia, 12 to 22 October 2020) Acting Chair of SCAF (S. Langerock, Belgium)

CCAMLR-39/BG/17 Vacant

CCAMLR-39/BG/18 Chair's Guide to the agenda and summary of papers

Chair of the Commission

CCAMLR-39/BG/19 Report from the CCAMLR Observer (Norway) on the 16th

Meeting of the South East Atlantic Fisheries Organization

(SEAFO)

(Swakopmund, Namibia, 26 to 30 November 2019)

CCAMLR Observer (Norway)

CCAMLR-39/BG/20 Report from the CCAMLR Observer (Norway) on the 38th

Annual Meeting of the North-East Atlantic Fisheries

Commission (NEAFC)

(London, UK, 12 to 14 November 2019)

CCAMLR Observer (Norway)

\*\*\*\*\*

Other Documents

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/18 Recommendations for CCAMLR to take a proactive role

addressing climate change in the Southern Ocean

Submitted by ASOC

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/21 The Scientific Committee on Antarctic Research Annual

Report 2019/20 Submitted by SCAR

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/22 Climate change and CCAMLR – update on recent research

Submitted by SCAR

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/46 Rev. 1 2020 Report to CCAMLR by Oceanites, Inc. — Antarctic Site

Inventory / MAPPPD and Related Projects / State of Antarctic Penguins 2020 Report and Penguin Population Changes / Climate Analyses / Recent, Notable Scientific Papers Relating

to MAPPPD

Submitted by Oceanites, Inc.

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/47 Progress toward ecosystem-based management of the

Antarctic krill fishery Submitted by ASOC

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/56 Feasibility of establishing limits on use of continuous fishing

system for the krill fishery in the Area 48

Delegation of Ukraine

SC-CAMLR-39/BG/57 A summary of catches of target species in the Convention

Area in 2018/19 and 2019/20

Secretariat

Agenda for the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission

## Agenda for the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources

- 1. Opening of meeting
- 2. Organisation of meeting
  - 2.1 Adoption of agenda
- 3. Implementation and compliance
  - 3.1 Advice from SCIC
  - 3.2 CCAMLR Compliance Report
  - 3.3 Illegal, unreported and unregulated (IUU) fishing in the Convention Area
- 4. Administration and Finance
  - 4.1 Advice from SCAF
  - 4.2 Review of the 2020 budget, 2021 budget and forecast budget for 2022
- 5. Management of marine resources
  - 5.1 Advice from the Scientific Committee
  - 5.2 Notifications
    - 5.2.1 Notifications for exploratory and krill fisheries
    - 5.2.2 Research fishing notifications under CM 24-01, paragraph 3
  - 5.3 Harvested species
    - 5.3.1 Krill resources
    - 5.3.2 Fish resources
  - 5.4 Non-target species
    - 5.4.1 Fish and invertebrates
    - 5.4.2 Seabirds and mammals
    - 5.4.3 Bottom fishing and vulnerable marine ecosystems
- 6. Conservation measures
  - 6.1 Review of existing measures
  - 6.2 Impacts of COVID-19 on the 2020/21 fishing season
- 7. Administrative matters
  - 7.1 Election of officers
  - 7.2 Appointment of the Executive Secretary
  - 7.3 Invitation of observers
  - 7.4 Next meeting

- 8. Other business
  - 8.1 Implementation of Objectives of the Convention
  - 8.2 Spatial management
    - 8.2.1 General issues related to spatial management
    - 8.2.2 Review of existing marine protected areas (MPAs)
    - 8.2.3 Review of proposals for new MPAs
  - 8.3 Impacts of climate change on the conservation of Antarctic marine living resources
  - 8.4 Cooperation with the Antarctic Treaty System and international organisations
    - 8.4.1 Cooperation with the Antarctic Treaty System
    - 8.4.2 Cooperation with international organisations
  - 8.5 Other items
- 9. Report of the Thirty-ninth Meeting of the Commission
- 10. Close of the meeting.

	Annex 4
Guidelines for the Administration of the General Capacity Building Fu	nd

## Guidelines for the Administration of the General Capacity Building Fund<sup>1</sup>

(as provided by Regulation 6.2 of the Financial Regulations)

## **Objectives**

- 1. The overall objectives of the Fund are to:
  - (i) support all Contracting Parties, with priority given to all those Contracting Parties that are least effective in the implementation of their obligations under the Convention. This priority shall be afforded on the basis of evidence-based need in accordance with these guidelines
  - (ii) create confidence and ability for Members to achieve the objectives of the Convention
  - (iii) improve Members' ability to contribute to the work of the Commission, and the Scientific Committee, their subsidiary bodies and the Secretariat
  - (iv) improve the overall system of operation of CCAMLR
  - (v) support the needs of individual Members
  - (vi) increase knowledge sharing and expertise between CCAMLR Members emphasising the value of cooperation.

#### **Provisions**

- 2. The Fund will be operated according to the following provisions:
  - (i) The Fund shall be used for specific projects, activities or travel support, or to address special needs of Members if the Commission so decides, aimed at enhancing Members' capacity to better achieve the objective of the CAMLR Convention. The Fund may also be used for assisting the Secretariat or Members to provide capacity building activities/opportunities to other Members.
  - (ii) The Fund shall be used primarily for projects or specific activities identified and proposed to be conducted by Members. Initiatives that build partnerships between Members or between Members and the Secretariat are encouraged.
  - (iii) The Fund shall also be accessible to Acceding States and non-Contracting Parties cooperating with the Catch Documentation Scheme for *Dissostichus* spp. (CDS) where the project, activity or travel support aligns with the objectives of the Fund and has the support of one or more Members.

Guidelines for the Administration of the General Capacity Building Fund (hereafter the 'Fund').

- (iv) The Fund shall not be used for routine Member or Secretariat activities, unless it is aimed to increase the diversity and effectiveness of meetings, through attendance, participation and chairing meetings.
- (v) Where there are more than one application from a Member, the Member will be asked to rank the applications in their preferred order. The Panel will consider applications in this order.
- (vi) The Fund will support projects/activities that address the needs identified by the Capacity Building Workshop and included at Attachment 1 except if these activities could be supported by another Special Fund maintained by the Commission. The types of projects/activities that the Fund will support include:
  - (a) educative activities such as ensuring that many different interest groups involved in CCAMLR (such as scientists, fishers, fishing industry and supply chain companies, policy makers, etc.) understand the conservation measures and individual obligations
  - (b) mentoring and partnership programs (where partnerships are developed on the basis of geographic operation or other consideration) which can be between Members, the Secretariat or other stakeholders as determined by the Panel and approved by the Commission from time to time
  - (c) the development of organisational capacity through training courses and work programs and secondments or internships
  - (d) projects, activities and meeting support to increase the diversity and effectiveness of meetings, through attendance, participation and chairing meetings
  - (e) other activities, as shall be decided by the Panel and approved by the Commission.
- 3. The Financial Regulations of the Commission shall apply to the Fund. The use of the Fund shall be underpinned by the principles of transparency and accountability.

#### Resourcing

4. The Fund will be open to voluntary contributions and to specific allocations made from dormant special funds following the mechanism agreed by CCAMLR in 2018 (SCAF-2018, paragraph 53) or from the surplus of the General Fund, as decided by the Commission.

# Procedures for applications for specific projects or activities seeking support from the Fund

- 5. The following procedures will apply:
  - (i) Proposals for specific projects or activities may be made by Members, by the Commission or the Scientific Committee and their subsidiary bodies, or by the Secretariat.
  - (ii) Proposals being submitted shall, as a minimum, include:
    - (a) a description of the project and/or scope of the project/activity
    - (b) a statement of the anticipated benefit to the Member(s) and CCAMLR
    - (c) an outline of how the project addresses a capacity building need as identified in Attachment 1 and modified from time to time by the Commission
    - (d) details of the project timeline, budget and when the outcomes will be reported to CCAMLR
    - (e) explanation of reasons why applicant cannot undertake project without the assistance of the Fund (for example, lack of funding, expertise or staffing).
  - (iii) Applications by those eligible to access the Fund shall be submitted to the Executive Secretary in the form contained in Schedule A for general applications, no later than 15 July each year. The Executive Secretary shall promptly circulate any such applications to the Panel established to review the proposals.

#### **Provision of funds**

- 6. Projects will be funded 30% of the approved budget upon the signing of the Deed of Funding by all relevant parties.
- 7. Interim payments will be released as outlined in the Deed of Funding, typically upon the reaching of milestones or the acceptance of interim reports.
- 8. The last payment will be made when the final report is accepted by the Panel and the Commission meeting of that year.

#### **Assessment of Applications**

9. The Commission will designate no less than six Members to serve on a Panel, each of which shall serve for a term of two years and may serve no more than two consecutive terms, to review proposals and to make recommendations to the Commission on whether to fund proposals.

- 10. The Commission will select the Members of the Panel. In order to achieve this, the Commission will call for nominations.
- 11. The Panel should seek to be comprised of representatives with a range of suitable expertise who are capable of assessing proposals that span science-related work; compliance and management; institutional affairs; and developing data and information systems to support decision-making. Where necessary, Panel members may seek expert advice on specific proposals.
- 12. The Panel will receive applications by 1 August each year and will meet virtually prior to the Commission meeting. The Panel will meet during the first week of the Commission's annual meeting and shall make a recommendation for funding to the Standing Committee on Administration and Finance (SCAF). To avoid conflict of interest, a Panel member will be excluded from the discussion of applications from which their country would directly benefit.
- 13. When reviewing specific projects or activities, the Panel shall apply the selection and evaluation criteria contained in Schedule B for assessing applications for capacity building. In doing so, the Panel shall consider how closely aligned to the capacity building needs, as identified in Attachment 1, the project is, the availability of funds, whether the project is value for money, the number of Members benefiting from the project and the geographic spread of benefit.
- 14. Components of applications that are eligible for funding from another CCAMLR fund will be ineligible for funding from the General Capacity Building Fund (the Fund).
- 15. The Panel shall report its recommendations on new applications to the Commission. SCAF shall consider the recommendations of the Panel and decide on appropriate projects and funding as a standing agenda item at its annual meeting and make a recommendation to the Commission.
- 16. A blended model of funding using the Fund and other suitable, operational CCAMLR funds, can be considered by the Panel. In order to facilitate this, the Chair of the Panel and the Secretariat will make inquiries of the decision-making bodies of those funds.
- 17. The proposed management of the funding is a transfer from the relevant other CCAMLR fund to the Fund with the Panel acting as coordinator of the grant funding and ensure all reporting and budget criteria are met. The Secretariat will assist with the coordination as required.

#### Procedure for travel assistance to a meeting/workshop

18. The Commission shall, each year, define an amount of money from the Fund that the Panel may allocate to supporting travel applications. The Panel shall have the authority to grant applications for travel assistance, up to this limit, according to the priority indicated by the selection and evaluation criteria contained in Schedule D.

- 19. In assessing applications for travel assistance to a meeting, the Panel shall apply the criteria for selection and evaluation as contained in Schedule D and be guided by the purpose of the Fund, the provisions of the Convention, the financial needs of the applicant and the availability of the Fund.
- 20. The Fund will only fund applications for travel to attend CCAMLR-related meetings.
- 21. The closing date(s) for application for travel assistance to a meeting will be defined by the Panel as appropriate. The Panel may define more than one closing date each year.
- 22. The applicants will receive confirmation of the level of support granted, according to the outcomes of the matrix in Schedule D, as soon as possible.
- 23. The following conditions shall apply to the travel support granted:
  - (i) maximum limits for airfare and hotel accommodation shall apply, being economy class airfare and the relevant United Nations per diem rate
  - (ii) the Head of Delegation, or, alternatively, the applicants themselves, shall be required to sign a statement disclosing details of additional funding, if any, obtained or sought for this travel
  - (iii) the applicants shall make travel arrangements according to the type and level of support granted
  - (iv) the applicants shall provide adequate supporting documents to the Secretariat to prove the travel costs declared within two months of the end of the meeting, such as invoices, hotel booking/receipts, air tickets and air flight boarding cards in the context of the checks or audits for the Secretariat's accounting records.

#### Reporting

- 24. Where a Member(s) project is being funded according to paragraph 5, with the exception of paragraph 22 below, that Member(s) shall provide an annual report on the progress of the project, including details of the expenditure on the project. The report shall be submitted to the Secretariat no later than 15 July. When the project is completed, that Member shall provide a final statement of account certified as appropriate and approved by SCAF.
- 25. Where the funding is provided solely in relation to travel for attendance at meetings, a simplified report shall be appropriate detailing the staff involved and meetings attended.
- 26. The Secretariat shall report to the annual meeting of the Commission on the activities of the Fund, including its income and expenditure. Annexed to the report shall be reports on the progress of each project being funded by the Fund, including details of the expenditure on each project, and a summary of travel grants issued. The report will be circulated to Members in advance of the annual meeting.
- 27. Ongoing and final project reports will be circulated to Panel members on, or before, 1 August for consideration. The Panel will meet (virtually if necessary) to review these reports and to formulate recommendations on all ongoing projects for the upcoming Commission meeting.

- 28. The Panel may consider a recommendation to cancel an ongoing project. Such a recommendation shall be exceptional and shall consider progress made to date and likely progress in the future. Such consideration will be communicated to the project coordinator who will have an opportunity to present a case for continuation of funding to the Panel.
- 29. A working paper will be presented annually to the Commission and will present recommendations on the following:
  - (i) new applicant projects and recommendations regarding their funding
  - (ii) a report on all the applications for travel assistance that it has approved and granted through the year
  - (iii) report to the Commission annually on the operation of the Fund procedures
  - (iv) report of the activities for all ongoing grants and note those that have been completed.
- 30. The Commission shall review the Panel's report of all ongoing projects at its annual meeting as a standing agenda item and reserves the right, after notice, to cancel a project at any time should it decide that it is necessary.
- 31. The Commission may modify these provisions at any time.

#### Accounting

32. Appropriate records and accounts shall be maintained for the Fund, and the Executive Secretary shall report the status of the Fund, the amount used to provide assistance for the development of capacity building and details of such assistance, together with the level of available funds, during the annual meeting of the Commission.

# Relationship between the objective of the capacity building program and the needs that will be addressed by the program

Objective	Focus area	Needs			
Article II of the Convention	Research and science	<ul> <li>Research plan quality</li> <li>Data reporting quality</li> <li>Observer skills</li> <li>Scientific skills</li> <li>Marine protected area science</li> </ul>			
	Compliance and management (conservation measures)	<ul> <li>Catch Documentation Scheme for <i>Dissostichus</i> spp. implementation</li> <li>Inspections/reporting</li> <li>Understanding Member and vessel obligations</li> <li>Combatting illegal, unreported and unregulated fishing</li> </ul>			
	Cooperation, engagement and administration	<ul> <li>Attendance at meetings and workshops</li> <li>Early career researchers and gender diversity</li> <li>Acceding States/non-Contracting Parties/regional fisheries management organisations and others as identified from time to time by the Commission</li> </ul>			

#### Application form for assistance from the General Capacity Building Fund<sup>1</sup>

#### 1. Project Summary (250 words maximum)

A Project Summary shall be submitted with the application. This will detail, at a minimum, the following:

- (i) CCAMLR Member, Acceding State<sup>2</sup> or Party cooperating with the Catch Documentation Scheme for *Dissostichus* spp. (CDS)
- (ii) activity proposed (guidelines, paragraph 2.iii)
- (iii) needs addressed (guidelines, Attachment 1)
- (iv) budget requested
- (v) project start date and duration
- (vi) anticipated outcome
- (vii) reason/s why applicant cannot undertake project without assistance from the Fund.

#### 2. Proposal narrative (six pages maximum)

#### (i) Introduction

- (a) Situation, need and previous efforts gaps in knowledge or capabilities, why the proposed project should be performed, review significant related work and how the project is relevant to the purpose of the Fund, and specific need addressed by project as identified in Attachment 1.
- (b) Objective(s) the anticipated outcome(s).
- (c) Applications, benefits, and importance how the anticipated results relate to the purpose/objectives of the Convention and the expected benefits including an outline of how the project addresses a capacity building need(s) as identified in Attachment 1 and how the project will improve the capacity of the beneficiary to assist in fulfilling its obligations under the Convention, and participate effectively in the work of the organisation.
- (d) Will the project benefit more than just the beneficiary? Does the capacity building activities target a number of Members?

#### (ii) Method and approach

(a) Description of major activities and tasks – describe the tasks that must be performed to accomplish the objective(s) (as listed in the guidelines paragraph 2(v)(a)–(e)). For applications for supported meeting attendance (guidelines, paragraph 2(v)d), list the meetings.

An Acceding State or non-Contracting Party (NCP) cooperating with the CDS may apply to the Fund where an application has the support of a Member.

- (b) Follow-up action identify follow-up action after completion of the project, including when and how the outcomes will be reported to CCAMLR.
- (c) Describe which existing organisations, either at a regional or national level, could assist with coordination or capacity building and have these been approached for this assistance?

#### (iii) Project management

- (a) Administration the administrative responsibilities and authority of those involved in the execution of the proposal particularly those of the overall project manager (including full contact details).
- (b) Roles/assignments and participation time the team composition, estimate of the duration of the project and project timeline.

#### (iv) Literature cited

(a) References used in the proposal narrative.

#### (v) Budget and audit

- (a) General information when did the applicant last receive assistance from the Fund.
- (b) A fully itemised budget including co-financing and funding in-kind a detailed budget identifying all sources of funding and items of anticipated expenditure shall be provided.
- (c) Applications must be made in Australian dollars.
- (d) Audit applicants should note that an audit will be mandatory for any funding over A\$200 000 and may be required by the Panel for funding less than A\$200 000.

#### (vi) Biographies and qualifications

- (a) A brief biography for each team member that highlights education, experience and publications related to the proposed project shall be provided.
- (vii) All applications must be accompanied by a letter of support from one or more Members.

## Selection and evaluation criteria to be used by the Commission for assessing applications for capacity building

#### 1. Needs

- (i) A Member that is two or more years in arrears shall be ineligible for funding.
- (ii) Applications that are eligible for funding from another CCAMLR fund will be ineligible for funding from the General Capacity Building Fund<sup>1</sup>.
- (iii) Does the project address a **need** that is identified in the guidelines, Attachment 1?
- (iv) Does the proposal make it clear that the Member has this specific need?
- (v) Will the project adequately address the need, and improve the capacity of the beneficiary to assist in fulfilling its obligations under the Convention, and participate effectively in the work of the organisation?
- (vi) Assessment of applications will also consider positively whether the Member has a low existing engagement in CCAMLR's work, measured, for instance and where relevant, by the following:
  - (a) low number of papers submitted per year
  - (b) low infrastructure, including bases a Member has in Antarctica
  - (c) small size of delegation at each CCAMLR meeting.
- (vii) Has the applicant articulated the reason(s) the project will not proceed without assistance from the Fund?
- (viii) Is a letter of support from Member(s) attached?
- 2. Projects/activities and objectives
  - (i) Are the approach, methods, outcomes and objectives clearly set out?
  - (ii) Does the project address the wider objectives of the Fund (guidelines, paragraph 1) to:
    - (a) create confidence and ability for Members to achieve the objectives of the Convention
    - (b) improve Members' ability to contribute to the work of the Commission and the Scientific Committee, their subsidiary bodies and the Secretariat
    - (c) improve the overall system of operation of CCAMLR
    - (d) support the needs of individual Members

- (e) increase knowledge sharing and expertise between CCAMLR Members emphasising the value of cooperation?
- (iii) Does the application seek to apply one of the identified projects/activities (guidelines, paragraph 2(v)(a)–(e))? If not, is this new project/activity justified in terms of addressing the identified need?
- (iv) Will the project benefit more than just the beneficiary? Does capacity building target a number of Members across a wide geographical area (guidelines, paragraph 13)?
- (v) Is maximum use made of other existing organisations, either at regional or national level, to coordinate and assist with capacity development?

### 3. Costs and capacity

- (i) Is the project value for money; are the proposed costs of the activity reasonable and in proportion to the likely benefits?
- (ii) Has the applicant received prior support from the Fund? If so, was the activity successful?
- (iii) Does the applicant have the demonstrated capacity to benefit fully from the project and ensure the outputs are fully utilised?

#### 4. Outcomes

- (i) How will the success of the intervention be measured?
- (ii) Is there provision for disseminating information on the project's activities and results to CCAMLR and an appropriate range of stakeholders?

The table below shows how the above criteria will be applied by the Panel:

Member <sup>3</sup> :			
Project title:			
Funding sought:			
Evaluation criteria	Yes/No	Weight	Score <sup>4</sup> (between 1 and 5, or scores in between)
Is the application from a Member which is two years or more in arrears in their contribution?			If 'yes' the application is ineligible for funding
If 'yes' the Member is ineligible for funding from the Fund <sup>1</sup> .  Can the application be funded through another CCAMLR fund?			If 'yes', the application should be transferred to the relevant fund for consideration
Is the applicant unable to carry out the project without assistance from the Fund?		3	
Does the Member have a low existing engagement in CCAMLR (e.g. low number of papers produced per year, limited infrastructure (research platforms, fishing vessels, bases in Antarctica), small size of delegation to CCAMLR)?		2	
Does the project address a need that is identified in guidelines, Attachment 1? Does the proposal make it clear that the Member has this specific need?		3	
Will the project adequately address the need, and improve the capacity of the beneficiary to assist in fulfilling its obligations under the Convention, and participate effectively in the work of the organisation?		2	
Does the project address the wider objectives of the Fund (guidelines, paragraph 1)?		3	
Are the approach, methods outcomes and objectives clearly set out?		2	
Does the application seek to apply one of the identified projects/activities (guidelines, paragraph 2v)? If not, is this new project/activity justified in terms of addressing the identified need?		2	
Will the project benefit more than just the beneficiary? Does capacity building target a number of Members across a wide geographical area (guidelines, paragraph 9)		1	
Is the project value for money; are the proposed costs of the activity reasonable and in proportion to the likely benefits?		3	
Is maximum use made of other existing organisations, either at regional or national level, to coordinate and assist with capacity development?		1	
Needs evaluation score <sup>5</sup>			

Includes Acceding States or non-Contracting Parties cooperating with the Catch Documentation Scheme for *Dissostichus* spp., where an application has the support of a Member.
 Where 1 = Poor, 2 = Fair, 3 = Good, 4 = Very Good, 5 = Excellent.

An application must score over 60% of the total possible score in order to be considered.

### Application form for travel support to attend a meeting/workshop

1. Applicant basic details:
Full name:
Position:
Organisation:
Email:
Delegation <sup>6</sup> :
2. Type of support (please select one or more options):
☐ Travel (only available for CCAMLR-related meetings)
Meeting:
Dates:
Economy flight expenditure A\$
□ Per diem
Dates required:
Number of days required <sup>7</sup> :
Other details:
Per diem total amount will be completed by the Secretariat.
3. Has the applicant previously participated in Commission, Scientific Committee or working group meetings and/or workshops?
□ Yes
□ No

An Acceding State or non-Contracting Party cooperating with the Catch Documentation Scheme for *Dissostichus* spp. may apply to the Fund where an application has the support of a Member. The per diem funding will be provided for the day/s of the meeting and two days travel – to the meeting and

return.

4.	Will the applicant play a significant role during the meeting?
	Yes (please elaborate)
	No
5.	Will the applicant receive other financial assistance to attend this meeting?
	Yes
De	etails:
	No
6. thi	Please explain why funding from the General Capacity Building Fund is required for is travel?

## Selection and evaluation criteria to be used by the Panel for assessing applications for travel support

- 1. A Member that is two or more years in arrears shall be ineligible for funding.
- 2. Is the application for support to travel to a CCAMLR-related meeting?
- 3. Is the applicant from a Member<sup>8</sup> with a clear **need** for assistance to deliver the Objectives of the Fund<sup>1</sup> (guidelines, paragraph 1)?
- 4. Is a letter of support from a Member attached?
- 5. Reason/s why funding is not provided by the Member or applicant's organisation?
- 6. The annual total claims to the travel portion are limited to 20% of the balance of the Fund provided that this is limited to a maximum A\$40 000 per year.
- 7. Is the applicant the only representative of a Member at the meeting, or part of a small delegation where the size of the delegation restricts the ability of the Member to fully engage and deliver the objectives of CCAMLR?
- 8. Will the applicant play a significant role during the meeting such as Chair/Vice-Chair, Head of Delegation (HoD) of the meeting?
- 9. Does the applicant represent a Member who does not have any outstanding financial contribution to the Commission?
- 10. Has the applicant previously participated in CCAMLR meetings/workshops?
- 11. Will the applicant receive other financial support for attending the meetings/workshops?

115

Includes Acceding State or non-Contracting Party cooperating with the Catch Documentation Scheme for *Dissostichus* spp., where an application has the support of a Member.

The table below shows how the above criteria will be applied by the Panel:

Meeting/workshop:		
Name:		
Delegation:		
Evaluation criteria	Yes/No	Score <sup>9</sup> (between 1 and 5 or scores in between)
Is the application from a Member which is two years or more in arrears in their contribution?		
If 'yes' the Member is ineligible for funding from the Fund <sup>1</sup> .		
Is the application for a CCAMLR-related meeting?		
Can the application be funded from another CCAMLR fund?		
Is the applicant from a Member with a clear <b>need</b> for assistance to deliver the objectives?		
Is the applicant the only representative of a Member at the meeting, or part of a small delegation where the size of the delegation restricts the ability of the Member to fully engage and deliver the objectives?		
Will the applicant play a significant role during the meeting such as Chair/Vice-Chair, HoD during the meeting?		
Has the applicant previously participated in CCAMLR meetings/workshops?		
Will the applicant receive other financial support for attending the meeting/workshop?		
Score		

<sup>9</sup> Where 1 = Poor, 2 = Fair, 3 = Good, 4 = Very Good, 5 = Excellent.

#### Terms of reference for the General Capacity Building Fund<sup>1</sup> Panel

The following draft terms of reference shall apply to the Panel:

#### 1. Composition of Panel

- (i) The Commission will designate no less than six members to serve on a Panel to review proposals and to make recommendations to the Commission on whether to fund proposals. Members of the Panel shall serve for a term of two years and may serve no more than two consecutive terms.
- (ii) Members of the Panel may nominate individuals with particular expertise that covers different disciplines. The different disciplines are defined in term of reference 3(i).
- (iii) The panel should reflect the diversity of Members of the Commission. Diversity includes language, geographic spread and gender.

#### 2. Co-option of members

(i) It is recommended that a process be developed so that the Panel, through its Chair, can co-opt members through Commissioners.

#### 3. Expertise

(i) The Panel should seek to include representatives spanning the Commission, Scientific Committee, Standing Committee on Implementation and Compliance and Standing Committee on Administration and Finance. The Panel should seek to be comprised of representatives with a range of suitable expertise who are capable of assessing proposals that span science-related work; fisheries compliance and management; institutional affairs; and developing data and information systems to support decision-making.

#### 4. Functions

- (i) The Panel shall approve the method of application.
- (ii) The Panel shall consider the applications submitted and make recommendations to the Commission.

#### 5. Regularity of meetings and reporting

- (i) The Panel shall convene virtually in September and will meet in person during the first week of the Commission meeting.
- (ii) The Panel Chair may call an extraordinary meeting. The conditions for calling an extraordinary meeting shall be agreed by the Panel.

#### 6. Vacancy management

(i) The Panel will decide a replacement considering the rules for the composition of the Panel and the remaining Panel member composition.

#### 7. Decisions

(i) Decisions will be made according to the rules of the Commission.

#### 8. Chairing

(i) Members of the Panel will nominate the Chair.

#### 9. Convening of meetings

- (i) The Chair will convene the meetings of the Panel. Assistance will be provided by the Secretariat as required.
- (ii) A quorum of one half + 1 of the Panel's membership must be in attendance in order for the meeting to proceed.

#### 10. Term of office

(i) The term of office is a period of two years. The Commission will consider staggering expiration of terms.

#### 11. Code of conduct

(i) Will be in line with the Rules of Procedure of the Commission.

#### 12. Declaration of interests

(i) To avoid conflict of interest, a Panel member will be excluded from the discussion of applications from which their country would directly benefit.

Deed of Funding
(Approved travel will be documented using CCAMLR's standard travel permission document)

### CCAMLR General Capacity Building Fund<sup>1</sup>

Rese	earchei	/organisation name:
Prin	nary po	oint of contact:
		aborators:
Gran	nt purp	ose:
Gran	nt amo	unt A\$:
		line:
and F	inance	project was approved by the Panel and the Standing Committee on Administration e and this decision was endorsed by the subsequent meeting of the Commission R-XX, paragraphs xx to xx>>.
The c	onditio	ons of this agreement are set forth below:
1.	The	purpose of the project
	1.1	The objectives and purpose of the project are detailed in the attached project proposal (Attachment A).
2.	Func	ling and grant duration
	2.1	CCAMLR will provide A\$ to << name of organisation>> to carry out the activities as described in the approved project proposal (Attachment A). Funds granted are to be expended as shown in the project budget (contained within Attachment A).
	2.2	The project's timeline is to (see Attachment B for detailed timeline).
3.	Payr	nent of Funds
	3.1	Funds will be paid in the following manner:% at the commencement of the Project and after the signing of this agreement; a subsequent payment at the completion of(#) milestone, and the last payment after the final report has been submitted and accepted by the Commission. Such acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld.
	3.2	The financial and reporting requirements for the project are outlined in paragraphs 5, 6 and 7.

#### 4. Use of Funds

4.1 The funds provided for this project must be used only for the purpose agreed in the project proposal and budget.

#### 5. Financial record keeping

- 5.1 All financial reports and statements are to be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
- 5.2 A copy of all receipts, invoices and financial records substantiating grant expenditures must be submitted with the financial report.
- 5.3 All expenditure statements must be verified by relevant invoices and signed by appropriately senior officials within the funded organisation.

#### 6. Financial reporting requirements

- 6.1 The financial report will include project budget line items and reporting of expenditures against budget items. The financial report is to be certified as true and correct by the Head of Finance (or similar) for the <<name of organisation being funded>>.
- 6.2 The financial report will be submitted within 60 days of the submission of the final report at the completion of the project.

#### 7. Project reporting requirements

- 7.1 Annual progressive implementation reports, and a final report, will be submitted to the Commission. These will be submitted to the Secretariat in time for a summary report to be distributed as a working paper.
- 7.2 The final 20% of the project funds will not be released until the Commission has been informed of project outcomes and the financial report has been submitted and accepted by CCAMLR. Such acceptance shall not be unreasonably withheld.

#### 8. Requirements and variations

- 8.1 <<name of organisation and contact>> agrees to expend the funds in accordance with the approved budget and project proposal. Any modifications to the agreed budget or to the agreed project proposal must have written authorisation from the Panel. In some circumstances such changes may need to be referred to the Commission.
- 8.2 Any funds disbursed but not expended will be returned to CCAMLR at the time the financial report is submitted to CCAMLR.

#### 9. Termination

- 9.1 CCAMLR may terminate this Agreement by giving the <<name of organisation>> 10 days' notice in writing if it is determined that the Terms and Conditions of this agreement are not being followed. <<name of organisation>> may terminate this agreement by giving CCAMLR 10 days' notice in writing.
- 9.2 In the event of such termination, the <<name of organisation>> shall be entitled to funding for the part of the work performed in accordance with this agreement up to the date of termination.
- 9.3 In the event of termination, CCAMLR reserves the right to take such action as may be necessary to recover any unauthorised expenditures. Such recovery shall only take place under this agreement and not extend to recovery from any other agreement in place between CCAMLR and <<name of organisation>>. Funds recovered shall in no event exceed the funding actually granted to <<name of organisation>> under this agreement.

#### 10. Intellectual property

- 10.1 Any arising intellectual property rights shall reside with the collaborator generating the same. Each collaborator shall grant to the other collaborators and to CCAMLR an irrevocable, royalty-free right to use its arising intellectual property for academic research purposes, including in research projects that are sponsored by third parties provided that the use of the intellectual property in those projects does not involve the disclosure of any confidential information to the third Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, background intellectual property shall continue to be owned by the party introducing the same.
- 10.2 <<name of organisation>> and the other collaborators reserve the right to publish results in accordance with normal practice. Publication shall only include CCAMLR data with the prior agreement of CCAMLR under the Rules for Access and Use of CCAMLR Data.

#### 11. Confidentiality

- 11.1 The confidentiality arrangements detailed in this section 11 shall apply and shall also be adhered to in respect of the Rules for Access and Use of CCAMLR Data. For the purpose of section 11, 'Confidential information' shall mean any information that is by its nature confidential and a party knows or ought to know is confidential or is agreed between the Parties as constituting confidential information for the purposes of this Agreement.
- 11.2 Both Parties will use all reasonable endeavours not to disclose to any third Party any confidential information nor use for any purpose except as expressly permitted by this agreement, any of the other Party's confidential information.
- 11.3 The provisions of clause 11.2 shall not apply for disclosure or use of confidential information, if and in so far as:

- 11.3.1 the confidential information became publicly available by means other than a breach of the recipient's confidentiality obligations
- 11.3.2 the disclosing Party has informed the recipient that the confidential information is no longer confidential
- 11.3.3 the confidential information is communicated to the recipient without any obligation of confidence by a third Party who is in lawful possession thereof and under no obligation of confidence to the disclosing party
- 11.3.4 the confidential information, at any time, was developed by the recipient completely independently of any such disclosure by the disclosing party
- 11.3.5 the confidential information was already known to the recipient prior to disclosure as proven by the recipient's pre-existing documentation.

#### 12. Liability

12.1 The liability of the << name of organisation>> howsoever arising in respect of, or attributable to, any breach, non-observance or non-performance of the agreement or any error or omission shall be limited to the funding granted to the << name of organisation>> under this agreement, except in the case of death or personal injury, attributable to the negligence of the << name of organisation>> or its employees.

#### 13. Attachments

- 13.1 All attachments to the grant agreement are incorporated into the agreement.
  - Attachment A Project Proposal including Project Budget
  - Attachment B Project Timeline.

Signed this	day of	
Signed for CCAMLR:		
Name:		
Position:		
Signature of Witness:	Name:	

	-
Nama	

**Updated 2020, 2021 and 2022 Budgets** 

### **Updated 2020, 2021 and 2022 Budgets**

	2017 Final audit figures	2018 Final audit figures	2019 Final audit figures	2020 Budget	2020 Revised budget	2021 Forecast	2022 Forecast	Notes
General Fund								
Income		2 2 40 700		2 452 425	2 540 222	2 1 006	2 (2 ) ( =	
Core Members' Contribution	3 272 000	3 349 500	3 433 238	3 453 435	3 518 332	3 571 096		2020: As requested by the Commission in 2005 (CCAMLR-XXIV, paragraph 3.24) the current Members' contributions, including unpaid, are shown in Appendix 4. 2020: Members' contributions are calculated on the basis of a 2.5% increase. 2021 and 2022 are calculated on the basis of a 1.5% increase. This takes into account the Commission's zero real growth policy.
Members' Special Contributions								
Interest	157 447	166 135	161 712	180 000	150 000	150 000		Interest rates remain low and predicted to remain so during 2020, 2021 and 2022. Interest is dependent on actual rates, timing of receipts of Members' contributions, number of fishery notifications received. There is considerable uncertainty associated with each of these items
Staff Assessment Levy (SAL)	517 836	489 639	550 663	470 000	500 000	550 000	550 000	The SAL represents income deducted from staff salaries in respect of tax. The actual SAL will not be known until the completion of the tax year and the staff members' tax returns have been assessed by the Australian Taxation Office.
Fund transfers – Forfeited Fishery Deposits	220 000	240 730	135 000	150 000	150 000			In line with the Strategic Plan 2019–2022, the deposit system has ceased with last forfeited deposits being transferred to the General Fund in 2020.
Fund transfers – other	40.155	21 220	643 920	25.000	25.000	25.000	25.000	
Sales (Tagging)	48 175	21 239	50 094	35 000	35 000	35 000	35 000	
Miscellaneous income –	385 800	414 000	427 200	732 872	600 000	700 000	700 000	
Fishery Notifications Miscellaneous income – Rent Contributions	390 561	399 087	407 250	415 375	415 375	425 800		Contributions from the Australian and Tasmanian governments are matched against the rent expenditure and are budgeted to increase 2.5% each year through to 2022.
Miscellaneous income – Grants			327 405					
Miscellaneous income – Other	69 105	54 419	933 509	40 000	40 000	50 000	50 000	
Total income	5 060 924	5 134 749	7 069 991	5 476 682	5 408 707	5 481 896	5 546 067	

		2018 Final audit		2020 Budget	2020 Revised	2021 Forecast	2022 Forecast	Notes
	figures	figures	figures		budget			
Expenditure Salaries	3 456 291	3 292 728	3 706 486	3 891 304	3 822 047	3 870 836		The final Salaries and Allowances expenditure will depend on the amount of overtime payable, particularly during annual meeting time, and payments required to the Staff Termination Fund. 2021 and 2022: Are budgeted based on the Strategic Plan 2019–2022 and include incremental and CPI increases.
Equipment (including depreciation)	150 096	178 066	238 956	243 735	243 735	248 610	253 582	on the Strategie Fran 2017 2022 and metade incremental and CFF increases.
Insurance and Maintenance	229 777	222 072	259 884	265 082	265 082	252 000		The provisions across the forward estimates takes account of anticipated CPI increases.
Training	13 070	20 580	46 075	60 000	60 000	60 000		The training budget is projected to increase in line with the recommendation of the Strategic Plan 2019–2022 as an important tool to ensure staff remain up to date with the increasing complexity of Secretariat activities.
Meeting Facilities	301 648	372 919	343 820	370 000	200 000	375 000	378 000	As a result of COVID-19, the 2020 budget has been decreased to reflect the decision to not hold a meeting in Hobart. This budget item is forecast to have small increases annually. Final amounts of overtime associated with interpretation during the annual meeting will impact the final totals.
Travel	153 230	153 838	177 374	190 000	50 000	170 000		Due to COVID-19 restrictions, the travel budget for 2020 has been decreased.
Printing	12 266	14 889	14 934	18 000	18 000	18 000	18 000	•
Communications	31 446	29 749	21 907	47 000	47 000	30 000		The budget for 2021 and 2022 has been decreased to reflect the actual, ongoing expense in this area.
Sundry (incl. audit)	91 940	206 808	597 757	95 000	95 000	95 000	95 000	
Rent/COGS Website Redevelopment 40th Anniversary exp.	435 900	419 169	488 819	450 375 25 000 20 000	450 375 25 000	460 800 25 000	471 400	Rent expenditure is predicted to increase by 2.5% annually.
Transfer to WCF			1 321 851	-97 023	2 791	-76 001		In 2019 the WCF is established with a transfer from the General Fund. In subsequent years, the transfers ensure that the WCF remains at a balance equivalent to 3 months' budgeted expenditure.
Transfer to General						-150 000		As recommended by the SCAF e-Group
Capacity Building Fund Transfer to General Science Capacity Fund				200 000	200 000			
Total expenditure	4 875 664	4 910 818	7 217 863	5 675 496	5 276 239	5 580 246	5 797 106	
Surplus/-Deficit	185 260	223 931	-147 872	-198 814	132 468	-98 350	-251 039	
General Fund balance at 01 Jan	1 991 209	2 176 469	2 400 400	2 252 528	2 252 528	2 387 788	2 063 437	
General Fund balance at 31 Dec	2 176 469	2 400 400	2 252 528	2 156 692	2 387 788	2 063 437		As forecast in the Strategic Plan 2019–22, the General Fund balance slowly declines towards the approved year-end balance of approximately A\$100 000.

Revised budget for the year ended 31 December 2020, draft budget for year ending 31 December 2021 and forward estimate for year ending 31 December 2022

- Equity and Special Funds

# Revised budget for the year ended 31 December 2020, draft budget for year ending 31 December 2021 and forward estimate for year ending 31 December 2022 – Equity and Special Funds

Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources

Revised Budget for the Year Ended 31 December 2020 – Equity and Special Funds

		ICCVIS	ed Budget	ioi the i cai	Ended 31 De	cember 2020 E	quity and 5	peciai i an	ius					
		Equity Funds					Special Funds							
	Asset Replace- ment	Working Capital Fund	Staff Replace- ment	Korea Contribu- tion Fund	China Contribu- tion Fund	General Capacity Building Fund	Observer	VMS	CDS	Com- pliance	MPA	Enforce- ment	General Science Capacity	CEMP
	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$
Income Members' Special Contributions Interest Fund transfers – other Miscellaneous income – Grants Miscellaneous income – Other	25 000		40 000			28 100 4 325	2 136		23 525	498	41 100 1 881		2 377 200 000	10 504
Total income	25 000		40 000			32 425	2 136		23 525	498	42 981		202 377	10 504
Expenditure Salaries Equipment (including depreciation) Insurance and Maintenance Training Meeting Facilities Travel Sundry (incl. audit) Transfer to WCF Transfer to General Capacity Building Fund Transfer to General Science Capacity Fund	4 444 0 40 000	2 791	90 000	125 000		171 457		17 889	20 000			15 149		40 000
Total expenditure	44 444	2 791	90 000	125 000		171 457		17 889	20 000			15 149		40 000
Surplus/-Deficit	-19 444	2 791	-50 000	-125 000		-139 032	2 136	-17 889	3 525	498	42 981	-15 149	202 377	-29 496
Balance at 1 January 2020	225 160	1 321 851	206 931	361 055	323 224	288 304	142 379	17 889	1 568 352	33 212	125 424	15 149	158 441	719 492
Balance at 31 December 2020	205 716	1 319 060	156 931	236 055	323 224	149 272	144 515	0	1 571 877	33 710	168 405	0	360 818	690 284

#### Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources

#### Draft Budget for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

	Equity Funds					Special Funds								
	Asset Replace- ment	Working Capital Fund	Staff Replace- ment	Korean Contribu- tion Fund	China Contribu- tion Fund	General Capacity Building Fund	Observer	VMS	CDS	Com- pliance	MPA	Enforce- ment	General Science Capacity	CEMP
	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$
Income Members' Special Contributions Interest Fund transfers – other Miscellaneous income – Grants Miscellaneous income – Other	-40 000 25 000	76 001	40 000	185 700		123 800 4 746 150 000	2 168		22 078	506	1 910		1 212	10 504
Total income	-15 000	76 001	40 000	185 700		278 546	2 168		22 078	506	1 910		1 212	10 504
Expenditure Salaries Equipment (including depreciation) Insurance and Maintenance Training Meeting Facilities Travel Sundry (incl. audit) Transfer to WCF Transfer to General Capacity Building Fund Transfer to General Science Capacity Fund			90 000	174 846	50 000	150 000			200 000				120 000	40 000
Total expenditure			90 000	174 846	50 000	150 000			200 000				120 000	40 000
Surplus/-Deficit	-15 000	76 001	-50 000	10 854	-50 000	128 546	2 168		-177 922	506	1 910		-118 788	-29 496
Balance at 1 January 2021	205 716	1 319 060	156 931	236 055	323 224	149 272	144 515		1 571 877	33 710	167 305		360 818	690 284
Balance at 31 December 2021	190 716	1 395 061	106 931	246 909	273 224	277 818	146 682		1 393 955	34 216	169 215		242 030	660 789

#### Commission for the Conservation of Antarctic Marine Living Resources

#### Forecast Budget for the Year Ended 31 December 2022

	Equity Funds				Special Funds							
	Asset Replace- ment	Working Capital Fund	Staff Replace- ment	Korean Contribu- tion Fund	China Contribu- tion Fund	General Capacity Building Fund	Observer	CDS	Com- pliance	MPA	General Science Capacity	CEMP
	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$	A\$
Income Members' Special Contributions Interest Fund transfers – other Miscellaneous income – Grants Miscellaneous income – Other	25 000	54 216	80 000	185 700		123 800 4 425	2 200	20 909	513	1 938	3 630	10 062
Total income	25 000	54 216	80 000	185 700		128 225	2 200	20 909	513	1 938	3 630	10 062
Expenditure Salaries Equipment (including depreciation) Insurance and Maintenance Training Meeting Facilities Travel Sundry (incl. audit)	80 000		60 000	125 000	50 000	150 000		200 000			80 000	40 000
Transfer to WCF Transfer to General Capacity Building Fund Transfer to General Science Capacity Fund												
Total expenditure	80 000		60 000	125 000	50 000	150 000		200 000			80 000	40 000
Surplus/-Deficit	-55 000	54 216	20 000	60 700	-50 000	-21 775	2 200	-179 091	513	1 938	-76 370	-29 938
Balance at 1 January 2022	190 716	1 395 061	106 931	246 909	273 224	277 818	146 682	1 393 955	34 216	169 215	242 030	660 789
Balance at 31 December 2022	135 716	1 449 277	126 931	307 609	223 224	255 786	148 883	1 214 865	34 729	171 753	165 660	630 700

Members' Contributions 2020, 2021, 2022

Members' Contributions 2020, 2021, 2022 General Fund Contributions – Payable by 31 May (all amounts in Australian dollars)

Member	Contributions 2020	Balance Outstanding 28 October 2020	Draft Contributions 2021	Forecast Contributions 2022
Argentina	125 326	123 970	128 901	129 918
Australia	139 548		146 273	147 557
Belgium	125 326		128 901	129 918
Brazil	125 326	255 120	128 901	129 918
Chile	129 206	129 206	135 844	140 243
China	148 098		149 150	152 023
European Union	125 326		128 901	129 918
France	152 542		158 029	159 176
Germany	125 326		128 901	129 918
India	125 326	125 326	128 901	129 918
Italy	125 326		128 901	129 918
Japan	126 561		130 273	131 098
Korea, Republic of	143 967		150 630	152 695
Namibia	125 326		128 901	129 918
Netherlands	127 922		128 901	129 918
New Zealand	130 665		133 780	134 671
Norway	203 214		224 420	241 618
Poland	125 326		128 901	129 918
Russia	127 866		130 888	131 851
South Africa	126 922		130 338	131 517
Spain	127 057		130 745	131 915
Sweden	125 326	125 515	128 901	129 918
Ukraine	131 866		136 692	140 758
UK	132 447		136 395	138 454
USA	125 326		128 901	129 918
Uruguay	126 968	106 968	130 827	132 077
Total	3 453 435	866 105	3 571 096	3 624 667